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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
EASTERN DIVISION

IN RE: COMMERCIAL MONEY :
CENTER, INC., EQUIPMENT ) Case No. 1:02CV16000 (All cases)

LEASE LITIGATION : (MDL Docket No. 1490)
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. : JUDGE O'MALLEY
(SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO BANK :
ONE, NA), ) CaseNo. 1:02CV16014
Plaintiff, : MEMORANDUM OF OPINION
AND ORDER
_VS_

SAFECO INSURANCE COMPANY OF
AMERICA,

Defendant.

On December 6 and 7, 2010, this Court cotetlibench trial proceedings in one of the
actions in this multidistrict litigation proceedj (“MDL”) involving Bank One, N.A., n/k/a J.P.
Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“Bank One”) asaiptiff, and Safeco Insurance Company of
America (“Safeco”) as defendant. Followisgibmission of proposed findings of fact and
conclusions of law, closing arguments weeaitd on February 15, 2011. The trial was limited to
the threshold, and potentially determinative, issieho the parties intendeto be the original
obligee on certain &se bonds (“Lease Bonds”) issudny Safeco. Throughout these
proceedings, this issue has been referred to déydnties and the Court #s “obligee issue.”
Resolution of this issue dictates the scope effthud defenses, if any, that Safeco may assert
against Bank One’s claims.

For the reasons explained below, upon camduakideration of the evidence presented by
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the parties, the Court finds that (1) CMC was thtended original oblge on all of the Safeco
Lease Bonds in the transacticatsissue; and (2) the Guardi&ntities and their secured lender,
Bank One, succeeded to the rights of CMC by subsequent assignment. As a result, Safeco may

assert defenses based upon fraud in the inducement by CMC.

INTRODUCTION

The Court previously considered the oblige®ie in a bench trimlonducted by consent
of the parties in nine other cases in this MRnd memorialized its findings in a Memorandum
of Opinion and Order issued May 2810 (“Bench Trial Opinion,” Doc. 2459).This case was
not included in the prior bench trial proceedingecause, unlike the parties in the other nine
cases, Bank One contended that the obligee isasenot appropriate faCourt determination,
and did not agree to waive any applicable juig rights as to the obligee issue.

Given Bank One’s objections, the Court ordetiee parties to brief the question of the
proper arbiter of the obligee issue. Subsequently, in a Memorandum of Opinion and Order
issued June 14, 2010 (02-16000, Doc. 2462; 02-1dD&d, 57), the Court concluded that the
obligee issue is a purely equitable one, subjecdetermination by the Court. Following
issuance of the June 14, 2010 Order, the Galmtduled these bench trial proceedings.

This action involves Lease Bonds issubg Safeco relating tcequipment leases
originated by Commercial Money Center, IN€CHMC”). CMC was engaged in leasing vehicles
and equipment to subprime lessees. CMC then assembled the leases into pools and sold the
pools, or their associated inconséreams, to investors. Imsters in the CMC transactions

purchased the lease pools or theome streams at prices discaohto reflect each investor’s

! Familiarity with the Bench Trial Opinion is assumed. Where not defined herein, capitalized terms used in this
Opinion have the meanings ascribed to them in the Bench Trial Opinion.



negotiated rate of returnin order to make the lease pools mateactive to potential investors,
CMC obtained lease bonds from various Suretedyding Safeco, to gurantee certain portions
of the transactions.

Determination of the obligee issue in thisecasquires the Court to analyze the structure
of two CMC transactions involving Safecoease Bonds, and determine precisely what
obligations the parties intended#e Lease Bonds to guarantee e Tlansactions at issue closed
on December 1, 1999 and February 11, 2000ectsely. The Decemlpel, 1999 transaction
involved a transfer of certainghits from CMC to Guardian @dal Il, LLC (“Guardian 11”),
while the February 11, 2000 transan involved a trasfer of rights from CMC to Guardian
Capital lll, LLC (“Guardian 1ll"). Guardianl and Guardian Ill arecollectively referred to
herein as the “Guardian Entities.” Bank One waander to the relevant Guardian Entity in each
of the transactions at issue and, in each tramsgotias granted a security interest in the assets
purchased from CMC, includirthe Safeco Lease Bonds.

Safeco asserts that the Lease Bonds weeant as a guarantee of the obligations
specified on the face of thosemis—the obligations of the lessdesmake lease payments to
CMC. Bank One argues, however, that theigiegation of CMC as obligee was a “nominal”
designation, and that CMC was not intendedhdwe any actual rights under the Lease Bonds.
Rather, Bank One contends, thetes intended CMC to retain a “co-principal” status with its
lessees. According to Bank One, the ultimate fieoeach transaction was intended to flow to
the relevant Guardian Entity and its assigneaesd, they must, therefore, be deemed the true
“obligees” in each transaction.

As noted above and previously explainedha Bench Trial Opinion, the “obligee issue”

is central to these proceedings several reasons. Most sigo#ntly, as the Court found in its



ruling on the Motions for Judgment on the Plegdi(02-16000, Doc. 1708), and reiterated in the
Bench Trial Opinion (Doc. 2459), Safeco may aesert defenses against Lease Bond obligees
based upon the fraud of a Lease Bond princigatcordingly, if the Guardian Entities and/or
Bank One are found to be the original obligess Safeco’s Lease Bonds, Safeco’s fraud
defenses premised on fraud in the inducement by @Nt{Zor its principals will be unavailable.

The Court now resolves the question preseimtdtis trial and sets forth its findings of
fact and conclusions of lawelating thereto in this Memandum of Opinion and Order
(“Opinion”). In reaching its conclusions, the Court is mindful that Bank One was not party to
the prior bench trial proceedingad, accordingly, is not bound by tBeurt’s findings of fact in
the Bench Trial Opinion. The pas$ to this case, moreover,veato some extent presented
documents and witnesses different from thatdressed in the Bench Trial Opinion. The Court
is sensitive to these differences in evidencel as given them appropriate weight. The legal
principles applied in the Benclrial Opinion, however, are theWaof the case, and apply with
equal force to these proceedings.

To the extent, therefore, that the evidepoaffered in this proceeding by Bank One and
Safeco differs from that presented in the ppiaceedings, the Court has examined that evidence
and has set forth a detailed analysis of it andnifsact on the Court’s conclusions. To the
extent, however, the evidence presented by these parties duplicates, or overlaps, the evidence
introduced in the prior proceedings, the Court has, in some instances, incorporated its prior
analysis as set forth the Bench Trial Opinion.

Where evidence presented by the parties énpitior proceedings ismtertwined with or
inseparable from new evidence presentedhimse proceedings, the Court has analyzed all

evidence relating to certain issues togetherde aovdfashion. In many instances, this novo



analysis of evidence has resulted in duplocatbetween the Bench Trial Opinion and this
Opinion. Such duplication is necessary, howet@nnemorialize the Cotis analysis of the

entiretyof the evidence introduced in these proceedings.

I. BACKGROUND

A. Procedural Background

The early procedural background of this casd eelated actions is set forth in section
I.A. of the Bench Trial Opinion (Doc. 2459). As explained above, subsetjudrg issuance of
the Bench Trial Opinion, the Court issued amveandum of Opinion and Order in this case on
June 14, 2010 (02-16000, Doc. 2462; 02-16014, Ba@g, finding that the obligee issue is a
purely equitable one subject to resolution by the Court. Based upon the Court’'s June 14, 2010
Memorandum of Opinion and Order, the Courhducted the bench trial proceedings in this
case.

On July 27, 2010, the Court also issued adeD(Doc. 2464) on various motions filed in
these cases pursuant@aubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms509 U.S. 579 (1993) and/#&umho
Tire Co. v. Carmichael526 U.S. 137 (1999), challenging thealifications of certain experts
proffered in these actions. With respect te é&xperts proffered by Bank One, the Court denied
Safeco’s motion to exclude the testimony of PRalmer, Charles Kerner, Jerry Hudspeth, and
Michael Larrick, although th€ourt imposed significant limitaths on the testimony of these
experts.

On January 25, 2011 and January 31, 2011, the Court issued an Order and Supplemental
Order, respectively, addressing thaerties’ objections taertain exhibits and testimony proffered

in these proceedings. (02-16014, Docs. 123, 124esdl®Orders incorporated the Court’s prior



rulings on motions filed pursuant Baubert and set forth numerous additional rulings regarding
the proper scope of the record in these prdiogs and the admissibility of certain proffered

evidence. In reaching the Court’'s conclusi@esitained in this Opinion, the Court has not
considered any evidence exahadfrom the record pursuantttte Court’s January 25, 2011 and

January 31, 2011 Orders.

The parties submitted pre-trial briesda November 17, 2010 (02-16014, Docs. 72, 73).
Bench trial proceedings were conductediob® the undersigned on December 6-7, 2010 and,
after submission of proposedfdiings of fact and conclusions of law on January 31, 2011 (02-
16014, Docs. 125, 126-128), again on February 15, 2011.

As noted, this Opinion constitutes this Court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law as
to the issues presented to the Galuring the bench trial proceeding.

B. Factual Background

The general factual background of this caseratated actions is set forth in section I.B.
of the Bench Trial Opinion (Doc. 2459), and familiarity with the general factual background is
assumed.

As earlier noted, the traactions at issue hereaurred on December 1, 1999 and
February 11, 2000, respectively. Each transadtivolved a loan by Bank One to the relevant
Guardian Entity (here, Guardian Il and Guardian IIl), each of which was a special purpose entity
created for the purpose of intieg in a CMC lease pool. Ieach transaction, the relevant
Guardian Entity used the loan proceeds to purchase the income stream from CMC lease pools,
and secured payment of all obligations underdaas by granting Bank @na security interest
in the assets purchased from CMC. The transactions were structured in such a way that the

monthly income stream to Bk One on the lease pools was ¢eedhan the monthly payment



the relevant Guardian Entity was required to make to Bank One. Bank One would remit any
monthly excess to the Guardian Entities, thusniiéing the Guardian Entities to profit from the
transactions.

As set forth in detail in the Bench TIri@pinion, the CMC lease bond program collapsed
in early 2002. This case involva dispute between Bank One &adeco arising from Safeco’s
issuance of Lease Bonds in the Guardian |l Godrdian Il transactions. Bank One has sued
Safeco, seeking payment under tlease Bonds issued by Safaonoboth the Guardian Il and
Guardian Il transactions.

Safeco has denied liability, asserting thavats a victim of a masse fraud orchestrated
by CMC and its principals, surety broker Michael Anthony, and others. Safeco contends that
CMC operated a Ponzi scheme, in which eanlyestors were paid using money generated by
new investors, while a large number of theymwsed equipment leases were nonexistent or
nonperforming. Safeco also claims to have bdefrauded by CMC'’s representations regarding
its financial condition and the condition dfs lease pools. As a result of these
misrepresentations, Safeco asserts, the Lease Bonds werabvinitio, and Bank One cannot
recover on these bonds.

As previously noted, Safeco’s ability to asstenses of fraud in the inducement in this
proceeding depends upon the obligationltbase Bonds were intended to guarantees—who
was the principal obligor and who was the ofdig The bench trial proceedings conducted by
this Court, and the evidence presented to the Court by the parties, focused on precisely this issue.

C. Transaction Documents

Both of the transactions esue in these proceedings involve Bank One as lender, Safeco

as Surety, and a Guardian Entity (Guardian Il or Guardian Ill) as purchaser of the CMC assets.



The transaction documents from both the @igar 1l and Guardian Ill transactions, as
introduced by the parties as trial exhibits, are summarized Below.
1. Leases, Invoices and Supporting Documentation
a. Guardian 1l

The Guardian Il transaction closed on Daber 1, 1999. The parties have introduced
various documents pertaining tleat transaction coltgively as Joint khibit 2001AA. Among
the documents included in Joint ExhiB®01AA are Master Lease Agreement No. 9812085,
certain addenda and amendments to Master Lease Agreement No. 9812085, Supplementary
Schedules Nos. 032-044 to Master Lease &gient No. 9812085, as well as a Certificate of
Acceptance for each Supplementary Schedule, aegofrom BAS International, Inc. for the
underlying leased equipment, and certificatess@irance. Joint Exhibit 2001AA also includes
the Safeco Lease Bonds for thea&lian Il transaction, as well aspies of a Safeco Power of
Attorney and California All-Prypose Acknowledgment for each bond.

Master Lease Agreement No. 9812085 was executed by CMC and by Roy Bresky on
behalf of Shandoro Ventures, Inc. (“Shandyrofh February 19, 1999, and also contains an
effective date of February 19999. Pursuant to the terms tbfat Master Lease Agreement,
Shandoro committed to make lease payments to CMC.

Joint Exhibit 2001AA contains thirteen Supplementary Schedules to Master Lease

Agreement No. 9812085, which itemize the equepimleased under each of the separate

2 This summary references only those documents integamlayzing the “obligee issue.” This summary is not, nor
is it intended to be, an exhaustive summary of allsaation documents in the Guardian Il and Guardian IIl
transactions.

Further, while many of the documeimgroduced into evidende this proceeding aremilar or identical to
those introduced and summarized in the Bench Trial Opinion, this summary of the documents relevant to these
transactionsis included for clarity, and téncorporate into this Opinion the precise provisions and language
considered by the Court in reaching its conclusions.



Shandoro leases. Contained in each ofeth@gpplementary Schedules is a line designated
“Acceptance Date.” Twelve of the thirteenpplementary Schedules are fully completed and
contain an acceptance date of December 3, 1998e remaining Supplementary Schedule is
signed and dated December 3, 1999, but the Acceptance Date has been left blank. The invoice
attached to each Supplementaryn&tule bears a date of December 8, 1998.

Joint Exhibit 2001AA also contains a Cadé#te of Acceptance in connection with each
Supplementary Schedule, each of which contanegepresentation that the items of leased
equipment have been received and installecth Exertificate of Acceptance provides as follows:

The Undersigned Lessee acknowledges tihe last Leased item of

Equipment described above was received by Lessee on [date]

(“Acceptance Date”) and all Equment above was fully installed

and in good working condition and after full inspection thereof

accepts such Equipment as satisfactory for all purposes of the

lease.

Lessee certifies that Lessor) (has fully and satisfactorily

performed all covenants and caiwhs to be performed by and

under the Master Lease with the undersigned, and (i) in

accordance with Lessee’s directions has delivered the Equipment

which was selected solely by the Lessee].]

Lessee acknowledges that Lessor, relying on this Notice, will

promptly pay vendor upon receipt ofiginal invoice or Bill of

Sale in proper form, for the Equipment accepted hereby, and that

Basic Rent as specified in tisaipplementary Schedule shall begin

on the Acceptance Date so stated thereon and above.
Joint Exh. 2001AA. Each Certifate of Acceptance caains a line intended for the “Acceptance
Date” of the equipment listed in the applicablgoflementary Schedule. Of the Certificates of
Acceptance contained in Joint Exhibit 2001AAyese of them bear an Acceptance Date of

December 3, 1999. Five Certificates of Adegee contain no Acceptance Date, although their

% In their Joint Stipulation of Facts, the parties stiprdathat, at the time the Supplementary Schedules for the
Guardian Il and Guardian Il leases were signed by Roy Bresky on behalf of Shandoro, all of those Supplementary
Schedules were undated. Joint Stipulation of Facts (02-16014, Doc. 115), at 1 28, 56.



associated Supplementary Schedules beaddte of December 3, 1999. One Certificate of
Acceptance is undated and attached to a Supptangefichedule in which the Acceptance Date
also is left blank.

b. Guardian 11l

The Guardian Il transaction closed orbReary 11, 2000. The parties have introduced
various documents pertaining tisat transaction a3oint Exhibits 2002FF and 2002GG. Joint
Exhibit 2002FF contains Master Lease Agreement No. 9812084, as well as several associated
forms and addenda to that Master Lease &ment. Among the documents included in Joint
Exhibit 2002GG are Supplementary SchediNes. 001-024 to Master Lease No. 9812084, as
well as a Certificate of Accégnce for each Supplementary Schedule, invoices from BAS
International, Inc. for the underlying leased @quent, and certificatesf insurance. Joint
Exhibit 2002GG also includes the Safeco Leasad3 for the Guardian IIl transaction, as well
as copies of a Safeco Power of Attorneyl &alifornia All-Purpose Acknowledgment for each
bond.

Master Lease Agreement No. 9812084 was executed by CMC and by Roy Bresky on
behalf of Shandoro on Februat®, 1999, and also contains difeetive date of February 19,
1999. Pursuant to the terms of that Masteade Agreement, Shandoro committed to make lease
payments to CMC.

Joint Exhibit 2002GG contains twenty-foBupplementary Schedules to Master Lease
Agreement No. 9812084, which itemize the eguént leased under each of the separate
Shandoro leases. Contained in each ofehggpplementary Schedules is a line designated
“Acceptance Date.” Each Supplementary Skche is fully completed and contains an

acceptance date of February 10, 2000. Twensettof the Certificates of Acceptance also
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contain an Acceptance Date eébruary 10, 2000. The invoice attached to each Supplemental
Schedule bears a date of December 8, 1998.
2. Lease Bonds
The Safeco Lease Bonds from the Guardiand Guardian Il transactions are attached
as part of Joint Exhibits 2001AA and 2002GG, respectiVeBafeco issued Lease Bonds for the
Guardian Il transaction on November 22, 1998e(Joint Exh. 2001AA), and Lease Bonds for
the Guardian Il transaction on January 20, 2000 and February 2,2@J0i0t Exh. 2002GG).
All of the Lease Bonds areadetical, apart from the amouot the bond andlentification
of the specific lease bonded. Each Lease Buwmaumthes the lessee as ‘fmipal,” Safeco as
“surety,” and CMC as “obligee.” Notably, in tli&uardian Il and Guardian Il transactions, the
principal on each Lease Bond is “Shandorontdees, Inc. and Med-Quik Supply, Inc.”
(separately, “Shandoro” and “Med-Quilghd collectively, “Shandoro/Med-Quik”).
The following relevant provisions appear snbstantially similar form in each of the
Lease Bonds:
Know All Men By These Presents:
That we, Shandoro Ventures, Irand Med-Quik Supply, Inc., as
principal, and Safeco Insurance Company of America, . . . as
Surety, are hereby firmly bound en€ommercial Money Center,
Inc., as Obligee. . ..
Joint Exhibit 2001AA, at 8.
The initial paragraph, as well as Paragraplof the Lease Bond reference the specific
lease bonded and provide as follows:
The Obligee accepts the bond and Safeco Insurance Company of

America, as Surety, agreespay to the Obligee any amounts due
and owing by the principal with regards to the lease known as lease

* An exemplar lease bond from tBeiardian |l transaction alsoiiscluded as Joint Exh. 2001Z.
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number 1999-21 Series 3-9812085-033 (Lease), subject to the
following provisions:

1. If all payments required by the Lease are made in
accordance with the Lease provisiotigen this obligation shall be
void; otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect.

Joint Exh. 2001AA, at 8.
Each Lease Bond contains so-calle@dfd waiver” language in Paragraph 2:

The Surety is responsible to Obligee for the individual
underwriting of each lessee and Lease, including, but not limited
to, all related credit matters, igsiof fraud, bankruptcy and the
accurate and timely performance by any sub-servicer designated by
Surety, and Surety shall assertdefenses to any claim under this
Bond as a result of any of the foregoing. This Lease Bond and the
Surety’s obligation constitute an unconditional and absolute
guarantee of payment, not collection.

Joint Exh. 2001AA, at 8.
Paragraph 5 of the Lease Bond definesdbcurrence of “dalilt” as follows:

If the Obligee fails to receive a payment under the Lease from the
Surety, as servicer or from any sub-servicer, on the scheduled due
date, default under the Lease occurs. Upon such default, the
Surety shall have thirty (30) days to cause the default to be
remedied. The Surety shall mgkayment on this Bond to Obligee
upon receipt of written demand fro@bligee, within this 30 day
period.

Joint Exh. 2001AA, at 8.
Finally, Paragraph 7 of each Lease Bond @mstlanguage permitting CMC to assign the
bond to a new obligee:
The Obligee shall notify the Suretyithin thirty (30) days by
registered or certified mail ainy assignment of Obligee’s rights
under this Bond. Any such agseee shall become the Obligee
under this Bond, effective as of the date specified in the notice of

assignment, immediately upon the Surety’s receipt of such notice
of assignment.

Joint Exh. 2001AA, at 8. The Lease Bonds in@uwardian Il transactio contain substantively

12



identical provisions.
3. Purchase and Security Agreements

As explained in detail in the Bench Trial @jon, each of the Guardian Entities involved
in the Safeco transactions re@s an assignment of CMC’s imésts in the Lease Bonds. As
part of the assignment transaction, each Guarity entered into a Purchase and Security
Agreement with CMC. The parties to this pgeding have introduced copies of the relevant
Purchase and Security Agreements into ewdesss Joint Exhibits 20X (Guardian 1l, dated
November 30, 1999) and 2002BB (Guardid, dated February 10, 2000).

The Purchase and Security Agreements aiontertain warranties by CMC as to the
validity of the leases and tHessees’ underlying obligations. The excerpts below are taken
from the Purchase and Security Agrestin the Guardian Il transaction:

5. Representations, Warrantiess and Covenants of the

Seller. The Seller represents andvaats to and covenants with
the Purchaser as follows:

*k%k

(b) Each Lease is a true, valid and existing obligation
enforceable in accordance with tisrms, all signatures, names,
addresses, amounts and otherestants and facts represented
therein are true and correct, and each Lease, and the transaction
underlying each Lease, conforms afl applicable laws, rules,
regulations, ordinances and orders. The Lease is the only one
executed by the Seller with respect to the equipment described in
the Lease. The Seller will complyith all its duties under each
Lease.

(c) At the time of the Closing, each Lease Bond will be a true,
valid and existing obligation ofthe Surety enforceable in
accordance with its terms, aBignatures, names, addresses,
amounts and other statements &mcts represented in each Lease
Bond will be true and correct, and each Lease Bond conforms to
all applicable laws, rules, regtilans, ordinances and orders. At
the time of the Closing, each Lease Bond will be a valid and
enforceable obligation of the Suregnforceable by and in favor of
the Purchaser in accordance with its terms and fully assignable by
Purchaser to its lender, if any.

13



*k%k

() The equipment that is ¢hsubject of each Lease has been,
or will at Closing be delivered tthe lessee set forth in the Lease
and accepted by such lessee asaitisfactory condition. . . .

Joint Exh. 2001X, at 2-3. The Purchase and sgcfigreement in the Guardian Il transaction
contains identical provisions.

In connection with the Purchase and Security Agreement in each transaction, CMC and
the relevant Guardian Entity also execud@dAssignment of Obligations, which states:

1. Assignment Assignor [CMC] hereby #s, assigns, transfers

and sets over unto Assignee [Guardian], its successors and assigns,
all of Assignor’s right, title ad interest in, to, and under the
Leases, including without limitation the right to receive all
payment of the Obligations. . . .

*k%k

3. No Assumption The foregoing does not constitute, nor is it
intended to result in, the creationassumption by Assignee of any
obligation of Assignor or anyperson in connection with the
Leases, or any agreement or instamt relating thereto, including
any obligation to the lessees under the Leases.

Joint Exh. 2001Y (Guardian li¥ee alsaloint Exh. 2002CC (Gardian IlI).
4, Sale and Servicing Agreements

In each transaction, CMC also executefade and Servicing Agreement (“SSA”) with
Safeco and the relevant Guardian Entity. The SSAs for the Guardian Il and Guardian Il
transactions have been proffered as Joint Exhibits 2001HH and 2002PP, respectively.

Apparently, there was often a significadelay between issuancé# the Safeco Lease
Bonds and execution of the associated SSAthénGuardian Il traretion, the delay between
issuance of the Lease Bonds and execuifdhe associated SSA was eight d&8eseJoint Exhs.

2001AA, 2001HH. In the Guardian Itransaction, the delay was 20 dageeJoint Exhs.

14



2002GG, 2002PP.

The SSAs govern various matters, inclgdithe collection of lease payments and
servicing of the lease portfolios. In each SSA, the relevant Guardian Entity is designated as
“Purchaser”; CMC as “Seller”; Safeco ‘@ervicer”; and CMC as “Sub-Servicer”.

The SSA for the Guardian Il transian was executed on December 1, 2000. The SSA
executed in the Guardian Ill transaction is substantively ident=d.Joint Exhs. 2001HH,
2002PP. The SSAs define “Lease Obligations” as follows:

The 11.1577% Lease Obligations, Guardian Capital Il LLC 1999-
21 Series 2, consisginof all amounts payde to the Purchaser
hereunder in amounts sufficient ftite Purchaser to recover the
Monthly Base Distribution Amount on each Payment Date up to
and including the last Collecin Period Payment Date, whether
from Scheduled Payments, realimat upon the security interests
granted hereunder, or other amounts as provided herein.

Joint Exh. 2001HH, at 8.
The SSAs define “Surety Bond” as follows:

Surety Bond With respect to each Lease, a surety bond
underwritten and validly ssued by SAFECO INSURANCE
COMPANY OF AMERICA or its successor, or one of its
affiliates, in each instance reasonably acceptable to the Purchaser,
or any of their successors, in each instance, which CMC or the
Seller has: (i) purchased in orderprotect against losses incurred
due to default by the Lessee, afiigl in which the Purchaser is
named as loss payee, beneficiary, or obligee.

Joint Exh. 2001HH, at 9.
Each SSA provides for the assignment of C¥rights under the leases and Lease Bonds
to the relevant Guardian Entity:
SECTION 2.1Conveyance of Leases and Relate(h) Subject to
the terms and conditions of this kegment, the Seller, pursuant to
the mutually agreed upon termsntained herein, hereby sells,

transfers, assigns, and otherwiseways to the Purchaser, without
recourse (except as provided imsthgreement), as of the Closing

15



Date, all of the right, title and interest, including any security
interest, whether now owned orrbafter acquired, of the Seller in
and to the following (the “Transferred Assets”):

) all contract rightsunder each Lease to receive all
Scheduled Payments. . . .

*%k%
(i) all rights under the Surety Bonds. . . .
Joint Exh. 2001HH, at 14. As part of Section 2.4, CMs Seller, also represents that it has
“good title to the Lease Assets,” and that “[tjhe information with respect to the Leases contained
in the Schedule of Leases is true, ctetgy and correct.” Joint Exh. 2001HH, at 19-20.
The SSAs contain language providing thapon full repayment to Guardian of the
purchase price it paid to CMC, as well as gatated amount of interest, all rights under the
Leases and Lease Bonds (included within the definition of “Trenesfé\ssets”) revert to CMC.:
SECTION 2.8 Termination of this Agreement. This Agreement
shall terminate upon the receipy Purchaser of the Original
Principal Amount plus all Interest 8iributable Amounts. ... ***
Any remaining Transferred Assets shall thence be conveyed to the
Seller without recourse.

Joint Exh. 2001HH, at 21.

The definitional section of the SSAs defirfgsfeco as “Servicer,” (Joint Exh. 2001HH, at
12), and Section 3.1 authorizes Safeco to perfeervicing duties, including collecting amounts
due under the leases:

SECTION 3.1 Duties of the Servicer. The Servicer is hereby
authorized and directed to actagent, custodian and bailee for the
Purchaser and the Seller and in such capacity shall manage,
service, administer, and magellections on the Leases. . ..

Joint Exh. 2001HH, at 22.

Section 3.6(a)(ii) of the SSA imposes dutigon Safeco, as Servicer, to refrain from
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taking any action that would impairethights of CMC or the investors:

(i) No Impairment The Servicer shall do nothing, by act or
omission, to impair the rights ¢the Purchaser or the Seller
in the Leases, the Insurané®licies or the other Lease
Assets or Surety Bonds. . . .

Joint Exh. 2001HH, at 28.
Under Section 3.7, CMC is designated as thitial Sub-Servicer,” but Safeco, as
Servicer, retains responsibyl for lease servicing:

SECTION 3.7 Sub-Servicers. CMC is hereby appointed to be the
initial Sub-Servicer and assumdkrasponsibility, as agent for and

on behalf of the Servicer, to fierm the duties of the Servicer
hereunder. The Servicer mayhetwise, withthe Purchaser’s
consent, which shall not be wasonably withheld, maintain or
enter into one or more agreements with Sub-Servicers for the
servicing and administration of theases by such Sub-Servicers.
Notwithstanding the terms or existence of any such agreement
between the Servicer and a Sub-Servicer, including CMC, the
Servicer shall not be relieved afy of its obligéons under this
Agreement by reason of such agreement and shall be obligated to
the same extent and under the saemms and conditions as if the
Servicer alone was servicing and administering the Leases, and
neither the Purchaser nor the Seller shall have any obligation to
deal with anyone other than tH&ervicer with respect to the
servicing of the Leases; provided, however, that so long as CMC
shall be the Sub-Servicer hereundie Purchaser and the Seller
agree to deal directly with CM@s Sub-Servicer as CMC or the
Servicer may reasonably request, Without in any way, releasing
Servicer as primary oiglor hereunder. . . .

Joint Exh. 2001HH, at 30.

Under the terms of éhSafeco SSAs, CMC has the right, but not the obligation, to make
“servicer advances” on the leases—i.e., to cavg shortfall between the lease payments CMC
received and the payments due to the investor:

SECTION 4.6 Servicer Advances. On each Deposit Date, the
Servicer may, but will not be remad to, advance and remit to the

Collection Account, in such manner &gl ensure that there will be
immediately available funds ithe account on the related Payment
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Date, an amount (a “Servicer Advance”) equal to any Scheduled
Payments due during the prior Collection Period but unpaid prior to
such Deposit Date with spect to any Lease. . . .

Joint Exh. 2001HH, at 35.

Section 4.7 of the SSAs incluti@ provision pursuant to which Safeco as servicer agreed
to wire transfer all distribuidns required to be paid by GBMto Guardian to a Bank One-
controlled account:

SECTION 4.7Distributions. On each Payment Date, the Servicer
shall:

(a) distribute the Monthly Total Distribution Amount, from the
Collection Account to the Purchadmr wire transfer to the account
designated by the Purchaser intimg from time to time, provided,
however, that the Servicer will not change the account designated
by the Purchaser from an account at Bank One, N.A., to an account
not with Bank One, N.A., withouthe written consent of Bank
One, N.A. . ..

Joint Exh. 2002PP.
Finally, the SSAs also contain a provision permitting CMC, as Seller, to substitute
defaulted leases under certain circumstances:
SECTION 9.1Substitution.

(&) Subject to the satisfaction of the requirements set forth in
Section 9.1(b) hereof, and as provided in Section 2.6 and, with
respect to the Servicer, SectioBi2(f) and 3.4(g), the Seller and
the Servicer will have the righb(t not the obligion) at any time

to substitute one or more Substitute Leases and the Equipment
subject thereto for a Lease (forrpases of this Section 9.1, such
Lease referred to as a “Pem@ssor Lease”) and the Equipment
subject thereto if:

() the Predecessor Lease became (A) a Liquidated Lease,
(B) a Warranty Lease or (C) &djusted Lease during the
immediately preceding Collection Period; and

(i) the aggregate Principal Balance of the Liquidated
Leases, Adjusted Leases and Warranty Leases that are
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Predecessor Leases shall not in the aggregate exceed 10%
of the Initial Pool Principal Balance.

Joint Exh. 2001HH, at 43.
5. Credit and Security Agreements
In both the Guardian Il and Guardian Il transactions, the Guardian Entity involved
entered into a Credit and Security Agreementh its lender, Bank One. Each Credit and
Security Agreement sets forth the terms ohlB®ne’s loan, and granBank One a security
interest in (1) the Leases, inding the right taeceive all scheduled paents under the Leases;
(2) the Surety Bonds; and (3) the SS8eeJoint Exhs. 2001A, 2002A.
In Section 6.17 of each Credit and SecuAitreement, the Guardian Entity affirms the
parties’ understanding as to the accuracy anditsatii documents contaigein the lease files:
Section 6.17 PURCHASE AGREEMENT, ETC. Borrower has
duly executed and delivered the Purchase Agreement and the Sale
and Servicing Agreementnd to Borrower's knowledge, CMC
and Safeco have duly executed and delivered such respective
documents as they are parties to respectively and the same are
legal, valid and binding obligations thereof. To Borrower’'s
knowledge, the Leases have bekiy executed and delivered by
the lessee named therein, and suehses are the legal, valid and
binding obligations of such lessees. . . .
Joint Exh. 2001A, at 21.
6. Comfort Letters
In connection with the clasg of each transactio®afeco delivered a tenfort letter” to
Bank One, confirming that the Safeco boadd SSA were authorized and enforceabézJoint

Exhs. 2009, 2013. The “comfort letter” provided $gfeco in connection with the Guardian Il

transaction states:

> An amendment to the Credit and SetyuAgreement in the Guardian lllansaction, dated April 11, 2000, does
not materially modify the provisions of the Credit and\8&y Agreement fopurposes of this Court’s analysis.
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SAFECO Insurance Company of America has approved the
attached list of Lea&sbonds to be executeéby our Attorney-In-
Fact, Mr. Michael Anthony. Theggregate liability for these
bonds [is] Six Million Five Hindred Forty-Two Thousand One
Hundred Two and 30/100 dollars ($6,542,102.30). All bonds on
this list are in full force andfiect. Each Lease Bond executed by
SAFECO Insurance Company Aimerica is a valid and binding
obligation of the surety enforcdabin accordance with its terms,
has been duly authorized byl aecessary corporate action and
does not violate or constitute a breach of the organizational
documents of the Surety, or anyregment, judgment, or order to
which the Surety is a party or by which any of its property is
bound. Upon notification of non-paent to SAFECO, SAFECO
will remit payment to Bank One regardless of payment made to
intermediaries or services. . . .

Joint Exh. 2009. A substantiveigentical letter was jwided in connectionvith the Guardian
[l transaction. SeeJoint Exh. 2013.

7. Assignments and Notices of Assignment

Upon the closing of each trsaction, CMC exercised its rigto assign its interests under

the Lease Bonds to a Guardian Entity. Tdssignment documents in the Guardian Il and
Guardian Ill transactions are substantivelgntical. The Assignmenin the Guardian Il
transaction provideis relevant part:

IN CONSIDERATION OF THE SUM OF Five Million and

00/100 DOLLARS ($5,000,000.00), the=ceipt, adequacy and
sufficiency of which is herebgcknowledged, Commercial Money

Center, Inc. . . . (the “Assignr hereby assigns, transfers and
conveys to Guardian Capital Il, LLC . . . (the “Assignee”) . . . the
following:

(1)  All contract rights under each Lease. . .;

(2)  All funds on deposit from time to time in the Collection
Account;

(3)  Allrights under the Surety Bonds; and

(4)  Any and all proceeds of the foregoing. . . .

20



Joint Exh. 2001J&ee alsaloint Exhibit 2002QQ.

Generally, upon execution of an AssignmedMC provided Safeco with a Notice of
Assignment, executed by both CMC and thkewvent Guardian Entity, through which CMC
notified Safeco that it had assigned its rightth Guardian Entity.-The Notices of Assignment
in the Guardian Il and Guardian Ill transanoBoare substantively identical. The Notice of
Assignment in the Guardian |l tram$i@n states, in relevant part:

Please accept this letter agice by the undersigned, as Obligee
under each of the Surety Bonds . that effective on the date
hereof the undersigned has assigaad sold to Guardian Capital
II, LLC . . . (“Assignee”) all ofthe undersigned’sight, title and
interest in and to the Lease Bonds. . . .

Please be advised that Assignee tnasited a security interest in

all of the Lease Bonds and all tights thereunder to Bank One,
N.A. ... With Assignee’s ackndeadgment and consent indicated
below, until further written notices received by Safeco Insurance
Company of America from Bank One, N.A., any right to payment
arising under any of the Lease Bonds accrues to Bank One, N.A,,
and any payments made by Safétsurance Company of America
pursuant to any of the Lease Borst&ll be paid directly to Bank
One, N.A. . ..

Joint Ex. 2001WSee alsdoint Exh. 2002X.
8. General Agreements of Indemnity.

On April 30, 1999 and June 24, 1999, respeltiv€EMC and its parent corporation,
Capital Markets Corporation, each executed a General Agreement of Indemnity (“GAI”) in favor
of SafecoSeeJoint Exhs. 2003, 2004 The GAIl executed by CMC pralés, in relevant part:

THIS AGREEMENT is made by the Undersigned in favor of the
SAFECO INSURANCE COMPANIES for the purpose of
indemnifying them from all losand expenses in connection with

any Bonds for which any SAECO INSURANCE COMPANY
now is or hereafter becomeSurety for any as Principal:

® CMC'’s principals and their spouses, Wayne and AnitéeRirid Ronald and Nancy Fisher, also executed the GAls
in favor of Safeco.
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COMMERCIAL MONEY CENTER, INC. . ..
Joint Exh. 2003 (the GAIl executed by Capital MaskCorporation is sutantially similar).
Safeco also introduced intevidence an Indemnity Agement (Safeco Exh. 1001)
executed by Roy H. Bresky (“Bresky”), pigsnt of Shandoro, obehalf of Shandorcand in his
personal capacity. In the Indemnity rk@ment, Shandoro and Bresky promised:

To reimburse Surety, upon demanthde for; and to indemnify
and keep indemnified Surety from:

... all loss, contingenbss, liability and contingent liability claim,
expense . . . for which Surety shall become contingently liable by
reason of such suretyship, whetloernot Surety shall have paid
same at the time of demand. . . .
Safeco Exh. 1001. While the Indemnity Agreemermixiscuted and refers t8urety,” the actual

name of the Surety is not filled in, and Safeco is not referenced anywhere within the document.

[ll.  FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Pursuant to a joint filing made byetiparties on December 8, 2010 (02-16014, Doc. 116),
the parties jointly submitted trial exhibit listsxcluding a Joint TriaExhibit List, Bank One
Proffered Trial Exhibit List, and Safeco Proffered Trial Exhibit List. The parties’ joint filing
details the exhibits proffered ach party, as well @y objections raised to each exhibit. As
set forth in the parties’ joiniling, the parties agreedhall exhibits as to which no objection has
been raised may be admittedoirihe record of these proceegs, without the need for witness
testimony as to those exhibits. The Court hasepted the parties’ gtilation and, with the

exception of the evidence excluded pursuanthe Court’s Januarg5, 2011 and January 31,

" Bresky signed the Indemnity Agreement as “Roy H. BrePres.,” and also executed a separate section titled,
“Statement of Personal Indemnitors.” Presumably, the first of these two signatures was imtebeladstgnature
on behalf of Shandoro. The name of the Shandoro eimtityever, does not appear anywhere within the document.
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2011 Orders (02-16014, Docs. 123, 124), has adntitieckvidence proffered by the parties in
the December 8, 2010 joint filing.

The Court sets forth its findings fafct and conclusions of law herein.

A. Evidentiary Standard

The Court has, on several occasions, adddesestandard by which Bank One’s claims
in this action are to be measured. In the Behgal Opinion, the Court determined that the lease
bonds at issue there (which neevirtually identical to lose under consideration here)
unambiguously denominate CMC as obligee, anchateeasonably suscegiito a contractual
construction whereby a Guardian Entity and/oiatsder bank could be found to be the obligee.
The Court found, accordingly, that “Plaintiffs mpyevail in this action only by demonstrating,
by clear and convincing evidencthat the language of the &se Bonds did not reflect the
parties’ actual intent to nantee Guardian Entities as obligees..” Bench Trial Opinion, Doc.
2459, at 38.

The Court addressed this issue again, this timtbe context of this specific case, in its
Memorandum of Opinion and Order dated Jade 2010. While the question involved in that
Memorandum of Opinion and Ordesas the appropriate arbiter of the obligee issue, the Court
analyzed the claims asserted by Bank Oaed held that “the transaction documents
unambiguously grant obligee statosCMC, and thus Bank One gndemonstrate its entitlement
to obligee status only through reformation. . . .” Doc. 2462, at 13. As is well established under

California law, and as noted byetiCourt in the Bench Trial Ogon, “[rleformation or revision

on the ground of mutual mistake . . . requicdsar and convincing evidence of the alleged
mistake. . . ."Inamed Corp. v. Medmarc Cas. Ins. C258 F. Supp. 2d 1117, 1123 (C.D. Cal.
2002).
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The Court finds that the starrda applied in the Bench Tt®pinion and in the June 14,
2010 Memorandum of Opinion and Order are the law of the case and also govern these
proceedings. Accordingly, the Court hereby incoapes by reference its analysis set forth in
section IlLA. of the Bench Trial Opinion, asell as section Il.A.of the June 14, 2010
Memorandum of Opinion and Order.

The Court analyzes the evidence proffely Bank One hereinnder the “clear and
convincing” standard. To prevail in these medings, Bank One must establish the propriety of
reformation of the Lease Bonds under that heigtdezvidentiary standard. As set forth herein,
Bank One has fallen short of that standard. The Court finds that, as designated on the face of the
Lease Bonds, CMC is the intended ora obligee in tkse transactions.

B. Analysis of Guardian Il and Guardian Il Transactions

As in the prior bench trial proceedings, ffaties have focuseddin respective proofs on
the question of who the parti@stended to be the obligee oretlvafeco Lease Bonds in the
Guardian Il and Guardian Il traactions. The evidence presenbgdhe parties includes (1) the
transaction documents and the provisions aiaed therein; (2) correspondence between the
parties and internal file documents that allegedifecethe intent of one anore of the parties to
the transactions; (3) testimony thie parties and other withessest@she parties’ transactional
intent; and (4) testimony of the parties’ retairegberts as to the traretebnal structure chosen
by the parties, and the significance of certain elésehthat structureyis-a-vis the question of
what the parties must have intended.

Safeco generally argues thia¢ transactions were structurasl “two-stage” transactions,
where the first stage involved Safeco’s assuomptif obligations in favor of CMC, and the

second stage involved CMC's assigmmef rights to a Guardian Ety and/or its lender bank.
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During the first stage, Safeco asserts, CMi@ s lessees executed the underlying leases, CMC
purchased equipment, and Safeco Lease Bonds were issued naming CMC as “obligee.” In the
second stage, according to Safeco, the Gaardintities secured funds from Bank One,
purchased rights in the lease pools, receivatgasents of CMC’s rights in the Lease Bonds,
and ultimately granted securityterests in the lease poolstmme streams to Bank One.

In taking this position, Safeco does nonyédhat it understood that CMC intended to
transfer its rights as the originabligee to Guardian or others, thiat such transfer would occur
almost immediately after execution of the Le&smds. Safeco argues, however, that the fact
that a second stage was contemplated in thedciion does not alter the legal significance of
the first. Safeco argues, moreover, thahiB®ne cannot demonstrate any mutual mistake or
fraud by Safeco, such as would support reformation of the Lease Bonds.

Bank One, on the other hand, raises two altera arguments in support of its position
regarding the intended transaction structufi@irst, Bank One argueshe transactions were
designed to be “one-stage” teattions consummated upon the@xion of the SSAs, since the
final transactional structure degirdy the parties did not come inéxistence until that stage.
Alternatively, Bank One argues, the executiontted SSAs at some point subsequent to the
issuance of the lease bonds effected a novatioichvextinguished Safecojsrior obligation to
CMC under the lease bonds and gave rise to a new guarantee running in favor of the Guardian
Entities and/or Bank One.

Bank One further asserts that, separateagadt from the parties’ objectively expressed
intent, the transaction documents should bernedd because Safeco’s false and misleading
statements to Bank One constituted constractraud on Bank One. Bank One contends, in

essence, that Safeco had a fiduciary or confiderelationship with Bak One by virtue of its
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status as closing agent and servicer under thes,S&d that Safeco’s breach of its duties to
Bank One entitles Bank One to reform the transaction documents to substitute Guardian and/or
Bank One as obligee on the Lease Bonds.

Central to Bank One’s pd&n is its argument thathe circumstances of these
transactions—particularly in light of certairasgments and represetidas allegedly made by
Safeco and its agents—differ dramatically frora transactions involved in the prior bench trial
proceedings. Because of these differences, Banka€seets, the Court’s analysis set forth in the
Bench Trial Opinion should naipply here, and the Court shou&hch a different conclusion as
to the intended original obligs on the Safeco Lease Bofds.

The Court conducts a detailed review belofrthe material evidence presented by all
parties to these transactions. Upon careful censiobn of all relevantvidence, the Court finds
that Bank One has failed to satisfy its burden of demonstrating that either the Guardian Entities
or Bank One—and not CMC—were the intended original obligees on the Safeco Lease Bonds.
As set forth in detail below, the Court foer rejects Bank One’s assertion that alleged
statements or representations by Safeco takecdéisis out of the framewonf the Court’s prior
analysis and compel a different conclusion. Rather, the evidence in thigscasall relevant
aspects, virtually identical to that introducedhie prior proceedings and considered at length in
the Bench Trial Opinion. Accordingly, the Cowtlheres to the determinations made in the
Bench Trial Opinion. Bank One is not entitledrédormation of the LeasBonds to substitute

Bank One or a Guardian Entity as obligee on those bonds.

8 Safeco argues that both the transaction documents arfddiual circumstances ofettGuardian 1l and Guardian

[l transactions were before the Court during the prior bench trial proceedings, since both GLardlg@uardian

Il were parties to those proceedings. Given the Ceunclusions, the Court need not address any potential
collateral estoppel issues arising frora firesence of Guardian Il and Guardihms parties to the prior bench trial
proceedings.
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1. The Transaction Documents Support a Finding that CMC Is the
Intended Obligee of the Lease Bonds.

In sections 11.B.3.a. (incorpated into the Court’s analysisgarding Safeco by section
[I.C.3.a) and II.C.1. of the Benchrial Opinion, the Court carefiyl examined the transaction
documents in five transactions involving Saféease Bonds. The Court has reviewed its prior
analysis in connection with the Guardianahd Guardian Il transaction documents, and has
determined that the transaction documemtse—including the lease documentation, Lease
Bonds, SSAs, Purchase and Security Agreem@néslit and Security Agreements, Assignments
and Notices of Assignment—areeittical in all relevant aspedis those discussed by the Court
in its Bench Trial Opinion. The Court, accargly, will not further analyze the transaction
documents introduced in thes@peedings in this Opinion.

Rather, the Court hereby incorporates byresfee sections 11.B.3.a. (as incorporated into
the Court’s analysis regarding Safeco by sedii@3.a.) and II.C.1. of the Bench Trial Opinion
and adopts their conclusions. As set forth emBench Trial Opinion, tte Court’s examination
of the entirety of the transaati documents reveals that the saction documents are consistent
only with a finding that the Lease Bonds wendended to guarantethe underlying lease
obligations to CMC as obligee. . . .” Bench Trial Opinion, Doc. 2459, at 131. The transaction
documents here compel the same result.

Further, as in the prior bench trialopeedings, the Court'énterpretation of the
transaction documents is buttressed by the extrievidence, which reflects that all parties
intended a transaction that would/gieffect to the plain languagé the transaction documents.
As set forth below, the evidence in these pemlings again supportdiading that CMC was the

original intended obligeen the Safeco Lease Bonds.
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2. The Majority of the Evidence and Testimony Supports a Finding that
the Parties Intended a Two-Stage Assignment Structure Whereby
CMC Was the Obligee on the Lease Bonds
As in the prior bench trial proceedings, dadled examination of the evidence confirms
that all parties understood theastage transaction structuradaintended that the Guardian
Entities and their lender banksould assume rights in theehse Bond transactions only by
assignment of the rights of CMC. The evidemteoduced here demonstrates that certain facts
are virtually undisputed with respect to the @atintent during the negotiation stage of these
transactions: (1) negotiations as to the striectfrthese transactions were conducted at arm’s
length, and counsel for the Gdan Entities were extensivelpvolved in these negotiations;
(2) all parties intended a two-stage assignment structure, in which CMC was the original obligee,
and the Guardian Entities (anddg Bank One) took their rightsa assignment; and (3) while
the Guardian Entities, Bank One, and CMC mayehaelieved that thersicture described above
gave rise to an “absolute and unconditional” addiign, or even a financial guarantee structure,
such an understanding was not consistent withrtmesaction agreed tona in fact would have
been directly at odds with the terwisthe negotiated transaction documents.
The Court examines the evidence introduced by the parties below.
a. Evidence of Negotiation of Bond Language
As in the prior bench trial proceedingse thvidence introduced by the parties in this
proceeding demonstrates that the language of ehtfe relevant documents was extensively
negotiated by counsel for the Guardian Entitied by Michael Anthony, as broker on behalf of
Safeco. It is undisputed thiabth the Guardian Entities alink One had ample opportunity to
review the agreements proposed and, if desiredeés changes in thertes of the transaction

documents. The evidence reflects, in factattthe Guardian Entities and Bank One took
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advantage of this opportunity and achieved ifigant changes in théerms of the bonds and

other transaction documents.

Michael Anthony, CMC's broker and the Suretiafforney in fact, tgtified as follows

with respect to the Banksivolvement in negotiations:

Q.

To your knowledge did any of the ultimate, any of the
banks that were either instrs or lenders but were
involved in the program irproviding funds, were they
involved in any way in developing the language, to your
knowledge?

Absolutely.
How was that?

And well, if they didn’t likesome of the language or they
wanted to change a paragh or phrase, they would
demand it. In order for thero accept the bond | would
have to take it back to the surety, put the two together and
let them work it out amongst their legal staffs or
underwriters until they came up with a product they were
both happy with.

Anthony Depo., at 62:11-63:1. Wayne Pirtle simyldestified as tadhe Banks’ involvement:

A.

. Every one of those bonds and insurance policies had
to be written. They had to be written to fit the various
institutions. Most of the layers for the institutions would
talk to Michael [Anthony] orthey would talk with the
insurance companies and they would work out certain
language.

Pirtle Depo., at 116:21-117:2. Miaél Anthony also testified toehinvolvement of Neil Gurney

and Thomas Holmes, counsel for the Guardiamtities, in the negotiation of the CMC

transaction documents:

Q.

A.

Mr. Gurney and Mr. Holmes were requesting that changes
be made on various CMC documents, isn’t that correct?

Yes.
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Q. They were trying to change the sureties[’] language; is that
correct?

A. | think every bank tried tohange the sureties[’] language.
Anthony Depo., at 170:5-21.

During this proceeding, Bank One presentadlive testimony of the Guardian Entities’
attorney, Neil GurneySeeTr. 125-174. Mr. Gurney testifiethat he began representing the
Guardian Entities and Blaine fiiaer in early 1999, and that fiest negotiated with Michael
Anthony in the early stages of the CMC legsegram, in the context of an unsuccessful
transaction involving Frdrer Insurance Company Kfontier”) lease bondsSeeTr. 135 to 143.
Mr. Gurney testified that Bank One rejected Hrentier transaction due to discomfort with the
creditworthiness of FrontieseeTr. 142:14-143:8,and that he later continued negotiations with
Anthony in Anthony’s capacity as broker for SafeBeeTr. 143-150'°

Both Bank One and Safeco introducedo evidence correspondence between Mr.
Gurney and Michael Anthony, which documents él&ensive involvement of Guardian counsel
in negotiating the language of the form lehsad. Safeco Exhibit 1002 is a memorandum dated

February 18, 1999 from Michael Anthony to iIN&urney and Thomas Holmes, specifically

°In its Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (02-16014, Doc. 126), Bank One has argued that the fact
that CMC was unable to close on SSA transactions involeases bonded by Frontier demonstrates that the parties
generally did not consider the Lease Bonds to be effegtiissuance. The Court rejedtthis identical argument

in the Bench Trial Opinion. As noted there, the evestating to the Frontier lease bonds predated Safeco’s
involvement in these transactions, and thus cannot be reflective of any intent on the part ofS8aB=rch Trial

Opinion, Doc. 2459, at 173. The Court further noted that the parties introduced no evidence as to tifetietent
parties in discarding the Frontier lease bonds. For the reasons set forth in section 1.C.3.e. of the Bench Trial
Opinion, the Court also rejects Bank One’s arguments relating to the Frontier leaséAjockdsre premised upon

the same evidence), and does not discussethrguments further in this Opinion.

10 0On cross-examination, Safeco shugo impeach Mr. Gurney with iprior deposition testimony, where Mr.
Gurney testified that he did not recall having any dealwigfs Frontier Insurance Company, nor did he recall being
advised by any bank that Ft@T was an unacceptable surebgeTr. 168:4-15. Mr. Gurney testified on cross that
he had not remembered his dealings with Fronti¢it he reviewed the fileshortly before trialSeeTr. 168:16-24.
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approving two changes to the bond form requested by Gurney and Holmes, and rejecting other
suggested changes. In rejecting the additiahanges proposed by Guardian counsel, Mr.
Anthony stated:

Surety is a three party agreemernh this case we guarantee the

lessee will honor their contradb CMC, Inc. We are not

guaranteeing a loan, but rather the performance of the lessee. . . .
Safeco Exh. 1002. In responding to Mr. Anthagiemorandum by letter dated February 19,
1999, Neil Gurney stated, “We have no problem waitthree-party agreement. . . .” Bank One
Exh. 10.See alsdr. 138-140 (Gurney testimony).

The correspondence between Guardiaansel and Anthony thuseflects that the
Guardian Entities understood the nature of thadactional structure created by the documents
and, to the extent they objectamthat structure, had the opparity to propose and negotiate
acceptable language. Bank One does not seriouslytdifipis point, or the fact that Bank One
agreed to the terms that were ultimately ineldidn the transaction documents. Rather, the
testimony of Bank One witnesses relating to tiegons focuses on reggentations purportedly
made by Michael Anthony regarding the “abseland unconditional” niare of the bonds, and
the absence of defenses available to Safeco.

The Court will further examine the evidengmffered by Bank One relating to alleged
Safeco misrepresentations ionmection with its discussion efiidence relating to the purported
“absolute and unconditionalature of the bondseesection 1l1.B.2.c.,infra, as well as in its
discussion of Bank One’s cdnsctive fraud argumentsgesection I11.B.6.,infra. What is plain
from the testimony of all witnesses, however,that the documents memorializing these
transactions were negotiated anha-length, and with the opportunity for input from all parties.

In this context, it is difficult to argue thatehanguage ultimately negateal does not accurately

31



reflect the parties’ intent.

b. Testimony as to the Parties'Understanding of the Two-Stage,
“Assignee” Transaction Structure

Witness testimony and other egitte presented at trial also reinforce the findings that
the “two-stage” transaction structure describedhjeco reflected a shared intent on the part of
all parties, and that the assignsatus of the Guardian Entities (and later, Bank One) was
universally understood. Safeccepented evidence that the Swagtinsisted upon the two-stage
transactional structure for two reasons. Fifst,some CMC lease pools, the identity of the
financial institution that would “fund” a partitar lease pool was not known at the time the
Lease Bonds were executed, nmakit impossible to issue the &se Bonds in favor of those
financial institutions. As a result, the Suretiegolved in the CMC program adopted a uniform
practice of issuing the Leaseoi®s to CMC in all instancesggardless of funding status.
Second, the Sureties refused to issue bonds directlye Banks or Guardian Entities because
they feared that doing so would place thenviglation of New York’s “Appleton Rule,” N.Y.
Ins. Law § 1106(c).

While the analysis of the evidence relatinghe parties’ transactional intent is complex,
an examination of the undisputed evidence dematestithat Safeco never could have intended
to issue Lease Bonds directly gamateeing the obligains of CMC to its leders. All parties
were aware that such an undemakwould have placed Safeco wolation of regulations to
which it was subject in at least onetloé states where it did business.

Wayne Pirtle testified that one reason fiaming CMC as “obligee” on the Lease Bonds
was the fact that the financial institution “fungi’ the transaction might not be known at the
time of issuance of the Lease Bonds:

A. ... When you originally do a lease, you don’t know who,
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what pool it is going to go into, so you don’t necessarily
know which investor, so yogan't write the lease—I'm
sorry, you can't complete the lease and get it bonded or
insured, depending on whgbu are doing here, unless you
know what the insurance company is going to be, because
you have to get the banks to agree to this insurance
company. . . .

Pirtle Depo., at 1731:2-10.

With respect to the “Appleton Rule,” witeges proffered by Safe@xplained that New

York insurance laws prohibited multiline instsedoing business in New York from issuing

surety bonds that guaranteed loans. Since Safasca multiline insurdicensed in New York,

it refused to issue surety bonds in the CMC geations unless the bonds were structured as

guarantees of leases rather than loans. CMC'’s principals, as well as Michael Anthony, testified

as to their understaing of this rule.

Wayne Pirtle testified:

Q.

A.

And were you a party to disssions about Appleton to the
effect that if the bond wasn't [sic] written initially to the
investors, such as NetBlm who were purchasing the
income streams from the leases, that would violate
Appleton, but if it is set up wdre the bonds are issued to
CMC as a lessor and then agsd, that would not violate
Appleton?

That’s my understanding of it.

Pirtle Depo., at 1728:22-1729:7. Michael AnthonytHer testified thahe understood that the

structure of the CMC programwvhereby CMC was designates obligee, was based upon an

explicit requirement imposed by the Sureties:

Q.

Do you recall any suretgtiscussing that il you that that
would be an advantage of structuring it where CMC was a
named obligee on the bond, that it would under that
scenario not violate Appleton?

The only specific thing | can rdtas, they didn’t want to
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guarantee[] loans. They would only do it with leases,
because they felt leases were excluded from the Appleton
law and that protected them.

*kk

Did any surety discuss wiypu—you said that the sureties
felt that they needed to structure this where they were
bonding leases and not, whadl glou say, guarantee loans?

| didn't say they needed to structure it that way. They
refused to bond any loans, theypuld only bond leases. It
wasn't a pre-conceived structurk.was a rule of theirs.

Anthony Depo., at 322:4-13, 323:4-13. didael Anthony further testified:

Q.

When you entered into orquided the first bond on behalf
of AIG, was it your understanding that that bond ultimately
was going to be assigned tofinancial institute of some
kind who would be the obligee?

Yes.

Was that your understanding for every bond that you
issued, relating to CMC, through Anthony & Morgan?

Yes.

It was my understanding thavery bond | issued would be
assigned to a various banklender or funding source.

Anthony Depo., at 34:17-35:1, 35:5-7. Anthony téstifthat the parties intended for the bonds

to be assigned immediately upon CMC’s saletled income stream, and for the investors

ultimately to gain the status tdbligees” through the assignments:

Q.

Q.

Did Mr. Schrader indicat® you his understanding that the
banks in the structure would uttately attain the status of
obligee under the assignments?

Mr. Schrader, as with ewerother underwriter, knew that
the bonds were instantly assigned and that's how they
generated their income to finance the leases.

Okay. And you have a specific recollection of this?
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Yes.
And that was true witthe Guardian transactions?

True with all transactions.

o » 0o »

Did Mr. Schrader indicat® you any problems or concerns
relative to the structure where the banks would ultimately
be assigned this position?

A. No.
Anthony Depo., at 2403:2-20.

Anthony further testified as to the reasdos the transactionastructure and for the

designation of CMC as “obligee™

Q. Do you know why CMC was named obligee on the Safeco
surety bonds in the context of Guardian Il and Guardian
1?2

A. That was how the surety wanted it to be.

Q. When you say, the surety, thvéds whom on behalf of the

surety?

A. All sureties.

Q. All sureties, so you specifically recall that Safeco wanted
CMC named as obligee?

A. Yes.

Q. And who at Safeco informed you of that?

A. Ken Martin.

Q. Did Mr. Martin share withyou his basis or reasoning for
that directive?

A. He was directed by Jim Schrader.

Q. What did Mr. Martin tell yodhat Mr. Schrader directed?
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A. That CMC be the obligeander the bond and that it be
assigned to whatever financial institution was purchasing
the lease.

Q. Did Mr. Martin share withyou the reasoning behind that
directive; in otherwords, what was the purpose of that
structure?

A. | believe it was discusdethat it was a way around the
Appleton Law, of any conflicwith the Appleton Law.

Q. When you say you believe, is it your recollection or some
kind of conjecture on your part? Were there discussions
along these lines?
A. It's my recollection.
Anthony Depo., at 2398:19-2400:3 (objections orditte Mr. Anthony further explained the
impact of the “Appleton Rule” on the stture of the transactions as follows:
Q. What is the difference, what is the distinction you were
drawing between banking andalo language rather than the

concept of suretyship?

A. Suretyship is a three-party agreement, whereas a loan is a
two-party agreement.

Q. And what is the significance of that agreement in the
context of the language of the bond form?

A. | don't believe the sureties wantéa be in violation of the
Appleton Act.

Q. | see. And to your understding, what would have put
them in violation of that?

A. Guaranteeing of a loan.
Anthony Depo., at 1899:15-1900:6. Anthony testifieat the Sureties intended the Lease Bonds
to guarantee payments from thedees to CMC or its assignees:

Q. . . . I'm asking you were you guaranteeing the lessee’s
payments to CMC under the leases.
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*kk

A. We were guaranteeing thesgee’s payment to CMC or any
assignee.

Q. On the face of the bond, the named obligee was always
whom?

*kk

A. Commercial Money Center, CMC.

*kk

Q. Put in more particular [] terms, have you come to know
why CMC was named obligee?

A. That was the instruction dhe insurance companies from
the very beginning.

Anthony Depo., at 1901:5-10, 14-17, 19; 2420:13-17. IFinAnthony testified that he advised
the Sureties, including Safeco, that the olligges sought to be bonded would be leases, not
loans:

Q. Did you ever tell the—were yoin a position to tell the
sureties that you were asking them to bond loans?

A. | believe that every file submitted to us was a lease. |
believe that all the underwritebelieved they were leases.

K%k

Q. Can you give me a rough estiteaf how many hours you
might have spent in various meetings between CMC and
representatives of sures, hundreds, thousands?

Hours?

Hours.

My best guesstimate would be [] 400 or 500 hours.

o » 0o »

And in that 400 or 500 hosy did you ever hear CMC
communicate to sureties with respect to whether the
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underlying obligations on which they were seeking bonds
would be loans or leases?

Yes.
What did they say?

They would be leases.

Anthony Depo., at 1973:2-1973:8973:7-9, 1973:24-1974:18.

The overwhelming majority of the testimomyesented at trial demonstrates that all

parties understood the two-stagess@nment” structure and thersequences of imposing such

a structure on the Lease Bond transactions. WRyntle testified simply that, according to his

understanding of the traaction, “CMC was the original obkg and then they assigned it.”

Pirtle Depo., at 2357:9-10. Mark Fish€iC’s chief operating officer, testified:

Q.

A.

o » 0 »

The obligee on the surety bond is CMC and/or its
assigns. Is that true?

To the best of my recollection.

The obligor on the surety bondtie lessee. Is that true?

| think so.

Now, at the time that the suretypproves that lease, rather
approves the lessee and issues the surety bond, CMC has

not yet assigned it, have they?

No. | don’t believe so.

M. Fisher Depo., at 132:16-133:2, 133:13.

CMC principal Wayne Pirtle testified a® his understanding of the “assignment”

structure of the transactions:

Q.

Now, do you understand thatder the CMC program if an
investor was not paid an investwould be entitled to make
a claim on the surety bond aswded with his pool or its
pool?
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A. The surety bonds were assign® the respective investor
as additional collateral for the payments that they
purchased. It came with that.

*k%k

Q. The obligee must notify the surdby registered or certified
mail of any default under thikease within 30 days after
obligee discovers such default.

And who is obligee according to the third line of this
instrument, CMC, right?

A. Well, CMC is the obligee, subgt to, they may have well
assigned it. | don’t know.

Pirtle Depo., at 2163:1-9, 2231:7-15.
Safeco introduced the testimy of various witnesses connérg their understanding that
CMC was the original obligee and that the investors took thghtsiby assignment from CMC.
Mr. Martin testified:
Q. All right. You were awarayere you not, that the investors
in the CMC bond pool—particularly from Cleveland—in
fact had lender banking institatis in those transactions to
whom they assigned the bonds that were assigned to the

investors?

A. Yes.

*k%k

Q. OK. So you were, then, awathat Diversity Capital | was
purchasing a lease pool repated by the bonds listed on
this notice of assignment and was financing them,
assigning the bonds to Provident Bank, correct?

A. Yes.

Martin Depo., at 483:8-13, 530:24-531:8lr. Martin further testified:

Q. CMC didn’'t make any claimen any defaulted leases on
the bond relating to them, did they?
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A. CMC wouldn’t make a claim on the bond.
Q. They wouldn’'t make a claim because—
A. They’d assigned their rights.

Martin Depo., at 536:25-537:4.

The testimony of Blaine Tanner, principaltbé Guardian Entities, demonstrates that the
understanding of the Guardian Enttieith respect to the transamis did not differ from that of
CMC or of Safeco. Tanner testified that CMCswthe original obligee, and that the Guardian
Entities received therights by assignment:

Q. And did you have any understang as to who the obligee
was under the bonds issued in Royal's name when you

entered into these transactions?

A. CMC, | believe, who assignetto Guardian, who assigned
it to the banks.

Q. And the original obligee was CMC, was that your
understanding?

A. It was.

Q. Excuse me?

A. | believe so, yes.

Q. Let me—and how is it then that—did some other entity
subsequently become the obligee under the Royal bonds?

A. | believe the chain went frorand | could be totally wrong,

I’'m just going to give you my belief, CMC to Guardian, or
Diversity, whichever company was the single purpose
entity that was formed, to the banks.

Q. So that CMC—it was yourunderstanding that CMC
assigned its rights under tlease bonds to Guardian?

A. Yes.

40



Tanner Depo., at 942:6-943:3. rireer further testified:

Q.

A.

With regard to the Safeco bonds and each of the
transactions, was it your understigng that the particular
Guardian or Diversity entity would be the assignee of all of
the rights of CMC under those bonds?

Yes.

Tanner Depo., at 1583:14-20.

In fact, Tanner explicitlyestified that he uretstood that the Guardian Entities would not

be named obligees on the Lease Bonds:

Q.

Was it your understanding pursuant to the sale and
servicing agreement that Gdan Capital 1l LLC as the
purchaser was to be a named obligee under the lease bond?

Is that your understanding of how the transaction was
supposed to work?

My understanding is that the purchaser, Guardian Capital
lll, LLC, was being assignedldhe rights under the Safeco
bond and the sale andreéieing agreement.

Tanner Depo., at 1575:8-19.

The testimony of Neil Gurney, counsel ftire Guardian Entities, confirms that the

Guardian Entities understood that they were ngkiights as assigneeather than original

obligees. Mr. Gurney testified that the Guardiamtities were “intended to be the protected

party under the Safeco bond. . . .” Tr. 148. Kurney further testified, however, that the

Guardian Entities were to acquire that statud,alhof their rights, via assignment from CMC:

Q.

Now, if CMC was named the obligee on the bond then
how, to your understanding, w&uardian to become the
protected party oobligee under the bond?

CMC was to assign all ots rights unde that bond to
Guardian Capital.

Tr. 148:17-21. Mr. Gurney gave virtually idergidestimony as to the manner that Bank One

41



was to acquire its rights under the Safeco bonds:
Q. Do you have an understanding as to how Guardian and

Bank One were intended to obtain their status as obligee
under the Safeco bonds?

A. Yes, | do.
Q. And what is your understanding?

CMC was to assign all their rights to Guardian, and
Guardian was to assign all of their rights to Bank One.

*k%k

Q. And what was your understang of the effect of this
assignment once completed at the Sale and Servicing
Agreement closing?

A. That first Guardian and then Bank One would become the
obligee under the bond.

Tr. 158:6-12, 158:14-18.
Mr. Gurney further testified that the Guardiantities acquired their obligee status in the

lease bond transactions as of theed#d# the assignment from CMC

Q. And once received by Safeco, what is your understanding
of the effect of that notice in relation to this transaction?

A. Guardian Capital becamthe obligee immediately upon
receipt of thahotice by Safeco.

Tr. 160:4-8.

In addition, Mr. Gurney testified on @®-examination that he had conducted research
regarding the assignability of the CMC lease boadsl the rights that would be conveyed to the
Guardian Entities upon such assignmentthls regard, Mr. Gurney testified:

Q. You would agree with me,omld you not, in the course of
your representation of Guardian Capital you had some

research done at Ulmer Bert® assure yourself that the
rights under these bondsuld be assigned?
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A. Yes.

Q. And you came away—you came to the conclusion that the
rights of Commercial MoneyCenter could, in fact, be
assigned to Guardian Capital?

A. Yes.

Q. And that Guardian Capitabald then assign those rights to
Bank One, for instance?

A. Yes.
Q. And would it then be youunderstanding that Guardian
Capital was assigning to Bank One that which it had
received from Commercial Money Center?
A. Yes.
Tr. 169:4-19. Mr. Gurney also agreed witle flegal proposition, posed by Safeco counsel, that
“an assignee can only receive those rightglhis assignor has. .” Tr. 172:24-173:1.
Thomas Holmes, another attorney for theaf@ian Entities, commed the testimony of
Mr. Gurney with regard to the Guardianties’ understanding dheir assignee status:
Q: Was the bond issued to @vbriginally, yes or no?

A. Originally, yes.

Q. Then CMC assigns the bond to Guardian and Diversity,
correct?

A. | don’t recall whether we were—I think we were in the
chain. Yes, we were in the chain.

Holmes Depo., at 217:8-15.
During Mr. Holmes’s deposition, he also was shown a copy of Safeco Exhibit 1002, a
memorandum dated February 18, 1999 from Mé&hAnthony to Mr. Holmes and his co-

counsel, Neil Gurney, explaining the structofehe CMC Lease Bond program. Mr. Holmes
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testified that he communicated that struetto the Guardian Entities’ lender banks:

Q. Did you ever provide that language to any bank with whom
you dealt with on behalf dbuardian or Diversity?

A. Absolutely. The deals were alygstructured to reflect the
fact that the guarantee wastbé payment by the lessee and
that the bank received an assignment of the guarantee from
the insurance company, buttihe surety did not guarantee
the loan agreement. It only guaranteed the performance by
the lessee, which was collateral for the loan.

Holmes Depo., at 309:2-23.

To the extent the intent of Bank One, awdier bank to the Guardian Entities, is relevant
to the inquiry, the testimony oMoses Jhirad, Bank One’s Relationship Manager for the
Guardian Il and Guardian Ill ansactions, demonstrates thdt. Jhirad also knew of and
understood the “assignment” struawreated by the parties irethease Bond transactions. On
cross-examination, Mr. Jhirad was questiomedarding certain langga contained in Bank
One’s credit analysis memorandum for each of thestctions. Mr. Jhirad read into the record
the language contained in the Guardian Il itradalysis memorandum, which was created by
Bank One:

The lease bonds were issued to CMCI, who has assigned them to

Guardian. They will be further assigned to the holders of the notes

as security on the leases. . . .

Joint Exh. 2007, at 2See alsdoint Exh. 2011, at 4.

Mr. Jhirad acknowledged at trial that, puastito each of the &xo Lease Bonds, CMC
was the named obligee:

Q. Now, would you agree with mihen in all of the Safeco
lease bonds for the Guardian Capital Il and Guardian
Capital Il transactions thdahe named obligee in the bonds

is Commercial Money Center, Inc.

A. | believe that's correct.
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Tr. 108:3-7.

Mr. Jhirad also testified on cross tltae SSAs provided for assignment of the Lease

Bonds from CMC to the Guardian Entities:
Q. So you then would agree pursuant to the Sale and Servicing
Agreement the Safeco leab®nds were to be assigned
from Commercial Money Ceet to Guardian Capital?
A. | would.
Tr. 112:21-24.See alsolr. 113:13-18. Mr. Jhirad further di#fied that the assignments and
notices of assignment were consistent with B@mle’s expectations as to how the transactions
would function.SeeTr. 115:9-12, 116:3-9see alsaJoint Exhs. 2001W, 2002X. Finally, Mr.
Jhirad testified that the “assignment” structdescribed in the opinion letters drafted by Irwin
Frank, Esq. also was consistent witink One’s transactional expectatio8seTlr. 117:2-6, 15-
20; see alsdloint Exhs. 2001CC, 2002II.

In the face of the undisputed testimony relating to the agreed transactional structure, it
would be virtually impossible to find that t@uardian Entities, or subsequently Bank One,
acquired their rights nder the Lease Bonds by any mechanisther than assignment. As
demonstrated by the record references aboeepwierwhelming weight of the evidence reflects
that all parties understood andnsented to the twoaje “assignment” structure created by the
transaction documents. Thus, despite Bank Casertion that the pas contemplated a one-
stage transfer of rights directly from CMCttee Guardian Entities (or to Bank One), the Court
finds that all parties understodidat all rights conveyed to theviestors were conveyed via an
assignment structure. Given tparties’ chosen mechanism wansfer, the Court necessarily
also finds that the rights received by the Gliear Entities—and subsequently assigned to Bank

One—were precisely those rights previguseld by the original obligee, CMC.
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C. Testimony Regarding Alleged“Absolute and Unconditional”
Nature of Bonds

Bank One argues that the parties understaf@co’s bonding obligations to provide an
“unconditional guarantee” of payment, where&afeco would pay the amounts due the investors
in absolutely any circumstance. As discuspegkiously in this Opinion, Bank One bases its
position in part on alleged representations madeé @od to the Guardiakntities on behalf of
Safeco, primarily by Michael Anthony. Bank Oseeks to demonstrate, through the testimony
of representatives of CMC and the Guardian Emstitibat those entities expected that the Lease
Bonds would provide an absolute and unconditional guarantee of payment under any
circumstances.

Initially, Bank One focuses on the authordfy Michael Anthony to speak on behalf of
Safeco, arguing that Safeco is bound by the af;tand representations made by, Anth@se
Bank One Proposed Findings of Fact and @Gwions of Law, 02-16014, Doc. 126, at section
lII.C. Safeco does not seriously dispute theppsition that, for purposes of representations
allegedly made regarding the CMC Lease B@ndgram, Anthony was its authorized agent.
Neither Safeco’s Trial Brief nor its Proposed Ritgs of Fact and Conclusions of Law speaks to
this issue. In any event, for purposes of Enion, the Court assumes, without deciding, that
Anthony was authorized to speak for Safdoo purposes of communicating with potential
investors regarding the Lease Bond program.

Bank One introduced testimony from the CM@npipals, as well as representatives of
the Guardian Entities, regarding their underdiag that the Safeco Lease Bonds would be
“unconditional” with respect to all eventualitieacluding fraud. In this regard, CMC principal
Mark Fisher testified:

Q. Was there any discussion thie NetBank/Safeco meeting
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that we've been—that we’ve been talking about, was there
any discussion about the bond being an unconditional
guaranty to pay?

A. The—yeah, the bond was to ba unconditional guaranty
to pay, even—you know, and | distinctly remember in this
meeting that it was state and | don’t know if Michael
Anthony stated it or if KenMartin stated it, but they
basically said if CMC took # $25 million from this first
transaction and just disappeared, NetBank would get paid.

M. Fisher Depo., at 1298:4-18 (objections omitted). Similarly, Wayne Pirtle testified:

Q. | believe that you said yestay that you didn’t distinguish
or don’t distinguish between guaranty and an absolute
guaranty; do you recall that statement?

A. Yes.
Q. What do you mean by that?

| don’t know the definition between the two. The intent of
the whole thing was it waslatthe only thing | can really
associate that with is likan insurance policy guarantees
against all risks.

In other words, the programwas worked out with the
sureties, it was worked ouwith the banks, and the
understanding was that it was deatb grave, it covered all
eventualities, fraud, bankrugis, all these other things,
that no matter what happened, the sun came up in the west,
if there was a default in the sense that the banks didn’t
receive their payments, thttte sureties would make the
payments.

Pirtle Depo., at 1840:3-23. MPirtle further testified:
Q: Sir, let me restate the questiso the record is clear. Did
Mr. Anthony ever state that the bond constituted an
unconditional and absolute guaranty of payment?
A. Yes. Yes, to answer your question.

Pirtle Depo., at 1530:20-25 (objection omitted). Mrilitestified specificly that fraud in the

leasing industry was extensiyetliscussed and that all pagi@eegotiated théease bonds with
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fraud issues in mind:

Q. Do you recall any discussions where frauds in the leasing
industry were specifically mentioned?

A. Fraud is a real problem indHeasing industry, and, yes, it
came up all these times, and the question of fraud and what
the intent of the covering all aspect[s] of fraud in these
bonds and insurance companies, the banks wanted to know
come hell or high water that if there was a problem with
this lease, that they were ggito get paid, and, therefore,
everybody was trying to tighten tipe fraud aspect of it.

And the sureties knew anderybody knew that the banks
were going to have to pay—the banks—the sureties would
be obligated to pay in all events having to do with fraud,
and that was the understanding.
Pirtle Depo., at 1637:13-1638:5.
Blaine Tanner, principal of the Guardian Eesti testified that the Guardian Entities also
believed they were getting an absolute and unconditional guarantee of payment:
Q. Let's do it this way: Iwasn't just a guaranty you were

expecting, you were expecting an absolute guaranty,
weren’t you?

A. That'scorrect.

Q. And that wasn’t enough either, was it?

A. No.

Q. In fact, you wanted an uoeditional and absolute guaranty,
right?

A. Correct.

Q. And, sir, when you accepted the bonds from the sureties,
did you understand that document to read this bond
constitutes an unconditionaand absolute guaranty of
payment?

A. That'scorrect.
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Tanner Depo., 1679:10-1680:8.

A substantial portion of the proffered eviderregarding representations allegedly made
to the Guardian Entities on behalf of Safecmes from the testimony of Guardian counsel, Neil
Gurney. Mr. Gurney testified &t in early 1999, while he wasgotiating with Anthony for the
issuance of Frontier lease bondsnthony assured him that dnatier's obligation would be
“unconditional and absolute,” and wouldoprct Bank One against nonpayment in any
circumstancesSeeTr. 136-37. According to Mr. Gurney, wh Safeco was substituted as the
proposed surety for the lease bdrahsaction, Anthony reiteratedl af his representations and
assured Mr. Gurney that the Safeco bonds wgularantee that all lease payments would be
made when due, under any circumstan&=eTr. 145-146. Moreover, Mr. Gurney stated,
Anthony advised him that the final versiai the Frontier bond, which Mr. Gurney had
negotiated with Anthony, alsoomld be acceptable to Safe&eeTr. 147.

Mr. Gurney specifically testified that hdiscussed with Anthony the necessity for
“unconditional and absolute” surety bonds, heiit any defenses, inding fraud-related
defenses:

Q. And did your discussionsdlude the intended purpose of—
what did Mr. Anthony say lmut the intended purpose of
the Safeco bond in the program?

A. He said that their purpose wisinsure that all of the lease
payments would be made when due and that Guardian

would not have to be coarned at all about that.

Q. Did your discussions inafle again whether the bonds
needed to be noncancelable or irrevocable?

A. Yes.
Q. And what did Mr. Anthony say?

That would not be a problem.
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Q. Did you have discussionsith Mr. Anthony concerning
whether the bonds needed to be unconditional and absolute
as you did on the Frontier bonds?

Yes.

And what did Mr. Anthony say?

That would not be a problem.

o » 0o »

Did your discussions includidne issue of what defenses
that the surety may or may not have to any claims that
Guardian would make under the bond?

>

Yes.
Q. And what did Mr. Anthony say?

Well, | said to him that there must be no defenses, and he
agreed that that would be the case.

Q. Did you have any discussiospecifically to the issue of
any defenses of fraud with Mr. Anthony?

A. Yes, | did.
And what did Mr. Anthony say?

That that would not be aroblem, that would not be a
defense available to the surety.

Tr. 145:10-146:141

1 Michael Anthony, in his deposition testimony, seemed to acknowledge that such representations would have been
consistent with his understanding of thensaction. Mr. Anthontestified as follows with respect to this issue:

Q: Was it truthful testimony by you that in July of 2002 that it was your

understanding that even if fraud of CMC was established that the surety
companies still owed the banks on the bonds that were issued?

*kk

A. | believe that both the bond and the insurance coverage—insurance
policy covered issues of fraud.

Anthony Depo., at 419:5-419:17.
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Bank One Exhibit 11, introduced through tiestimony of Mr. Gurney, is a March 8,
1999 letter from Mr. Gurney to Michael Anthony. élattachment to thattter contains certain
provisions from an offering circular mwrandum, part of which focused on “credit
enhancement.” According to Mr. Gurney, hallsent these provisionte Anthony in order to
explain some of the essentialopisions that Bank One requiréd be included in the surety
bond:

Q. So why did you provide this particular attachment to Mr.
Anthony on credit enhancement if you were discussing a
surety bond?

A. Because it contained some thie essential provisions that
we needed to make sure were in the lease or surety bond,
such as irrevocability, uncortainal obligations to pay, and
noncancelability.

Tr. 141:2-8.

The testimony of Mr. Gurney also comfied Tanner's description of the Guardian
Entities’ transactional understanding. Mr. Gurney testified that Anthony represented, and that he
believed, that the Guardian Entities would haesolute protection and be subject to no
defenses:

Q. Did you have any discussiomsth Mr. Anthony about the

nature of the protection thauardian would have if it
accepted an assignment from CMC under the bond?

Q. Let me get to the bonds. Is it your understanding then that since, your
understanding was that CMC wasca-principal of the lessee, the
surety companies that issued bonds and represented, made the
representations that you have testifout to the investors, would still
owe the investors on the bonds even if the fraud of CMC was
established?

*kk

A. Correct.

Anthony Depo., at 424:23-425:12.
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A.

Tr. 148:22-149:19.

o » 0 » 0 » 0O »

Yes.

Okay. And what did Mr. Anthony tell you?

He said that they would have all of the protections that we
had previously discussedand agreed upon, including
absolute, irrevocable, noncancelable assurance that all of
the lease payments would be made when due.

Did you have discussiond@ut what defenses would be
available to Safeco if Guawth accepted an assignment of
CMC under the bonds?

Yes.

And what did Mr. Anthony say?

None.

Did you have discussionsesgific to fraud on that point?

Yes, we did.

And what did Mr. Anthony say?

That would not be a defense.

And is that consistenvith your understanding of the
language in that bond?

Yes.

Bank One asserts that Safeco issued éask Bonds with an understanding that those

bonds would be used not only to guarantee lease payments to CMC, but to facilitate CMC'’s

borrowing by providing a measure of security CMC’s lenders. Bank One proffers the

testimony of several withesses to support its eatiin that Safeco knew of this purpose of the

Lease Bonds. Kenneth Martin, Safeco’s formevi@eaccount analystestified that CMC had

the right, as an obligee, to make a claim uriderLease Bonds only for the period of time prior

52



to the assignment of the Safeco Lease Bondantonvestor, and that Safeco never actually
expected CMC to make such a claim:
Q. But you're aware that this whole matter happened
simultaneously and CMC never actually for any period of
time existed as an obligee except at the instant they
assigned it to Guardian; isn’t that correct?

A. That would be correct.

Q. It was never expected or anticipated by you that CMC
would ever make a claim under these bonds, was it sir?

A. That is correct.
Martin Depo., at 454:22-455:&ee alsoMartin Depo., at 192:21-198 193:18-194:13. Mr.
Gurney confirmed Mr. Martin’s understand of the transaction in this regard:
Q. To your understanding, dithe parties to the Sale and
Servicing Agreement—Safeco, CMC and Guardian—
intend for CMC to have a right to make an actual claim
under the Safeco bonds?
A. No.
And why do you say that?

Because by the time this transaction was closed or
effectuated, CMC had no rights under the bond.

Q. And did anyone from Safecoeavdisclose or represent to
you that Safeco intended f@MC to have the right to
make an actual claim under the Safeco bonds?

A. No.

Q. Did Michael Anthony ever diase or represent to you that
CMC was intended to haveelhright to make an actual
claim under the Safeco bonds?

A. No.

Tr. 160:19-161:8. Bank One argues that, in agge# issue bonds thatowld facilitate CMC’s
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borrowing for its lease program, Safeco also wasegg to assume the enterprise risk of CMC
as subservice5ee6/1/2000 Boh Dickey e-mail, Bank Ofsh. 49 (“[I]f all the leases became a
problem or if [CMC] were unavalble to service them that 4df&co] could be left with the
proverbial bag. . . .").
Mr. Martin testified that the purpose of the CMC lease program, ultimately, was to
guarantee income floto the investors:
Q. Okay. And you understood, again, that what Anthony &
Morgan was again proposing was that CMC was bundling
leases and selling them to investors?

A. That was my understanding.

Q. And that they wanted Safeco to issue bonds to guarantee
the income flow to the investors?

A. That is correct.

Q. And that was the purpose of the lease bonds that Safeco
ended up issuing regarding CMC, was to guarantee the
income flow to the investors, correct?

A. That is correct. May | stateahmaybe in a little different
way—we were guaranteeing the lease payments by the
lessees to ultimately go to the investor.

Q. Correct. And you recognized—youremo states that the
discussion was while the obligee on the bond would be
CMC, they would pass the benefit of the bond on to the
investors? Do you see that?

A. Yes, | do.
Q. Do you remember discussing why the obligee would be
CMC?

A. Because CMC was the entitgasing the equipment to the
lessee. . ..

*k%k

Q. And you knew that was the whole purpose of pooling the
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leases, was to sell theminvestors, correct?
A. Yes.
Martin Depo., at 104:13-105:9, 113:1-8ee alsaM. Fisher Depo., at 1266-67 (“the sureties
would pay on the bonds because they, you know, quote, had no weasel clauses in them. And
they—you know, no matter what happened, they wepay the investors. . . . From the bank’s
perspective, the banks were secured bssayou know, it was an unconditional financial
guarantee that, you know, took into consideratiogrggingle thing that the CMC program was.
).

Safeco introduced no evidence specificaligputing that certai representations may
have been made by Anthony to the GuandEntities, or even to Bank Otfe.Even assuming
such representations were made (and audrizy Safeco), however, the testimony of Bank
One’s witnesses suffers from several inhereféats. First, althougthe Guardian and Bank
One witnesses testified thalichael Anthony represented ahthe Lease Bonds would be
unconditional and would cover isssiof fraud, no witness specifilyatestified that discussions

occurred with respect to whetr the bonds were intended to cover fraud in the inducement by

CMC.*® As discussed previously in the BeriEtial Opinion, the guargtees provided by the

2 Moses Jhirad, Bank One’s Relationship Manager for the Guardian Il and Guardian Il transactitiad, testi

both Michael Anthony and Safeco employee Ken Martin made representations to him regarding the terms of the
bonds, and whether defenses would be available to Safeco pursuant to the terms of tfgebayetserallyir. 61-

68. Particularly with respect to alleged representatipnd4r. Martin, however, MrJhirad’s testimony was so

vague that the Court is unable to credit the testimony offgpegpresentations allegedly made to Mr. Jhirad. Even
more troubling, on cross-examinatiddy. Jhirad acknowledged his prior deposition testimony to the effect that,
with the possible exception ohe conference call, he had not met or spakellr. Martin prior to the default in
payment on the lease bon&geTr. 96-97.

13 As noted in this section, Mark Fisher testified thatMas told that Safeco would pay on the Lease Bonds even if
“CMC took the $25 million from this first éainsaction and just disappeared. . THe context of this representation,
however, suggests that it related to fraud by CMC occurring taigeconsummation of the transaction, in CMC'’s
capacity as servicer. As explained in detail later in this Opinion, the Court finds that the only fraud cognizable as a
defense to Safeco under the Leasmd®s was fraud by CMC in the inducemdatenter into the Lease Bond
transactions. Thus, the narrow defense available tac@afethis case does not encompass any fraud allegedly
committed by the lessees, or later fraud by CMC in its capacity as servicer of the leases.
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Lease Bonds were extensive and covered adbraage of events, including fraud. The one
exception to these guarantees was fraud by OMtb respect to the inducement to enter into the
transactionSeeBench Trial Opinion, Doc. 2459, at 179. Thtesthe extent that representatives

of Bank One, CMC and the Guardian Entitiescdssed with Michael Anthony matters relating

to fraud in a general sense—suahfraud by the lessees or the servicer of the income streams—
Anthony’s alleged representatiomay well have been accurate.

Second, the statements allegedly made by dicAnthony were necessarily part of the
negotiation process, and to theattent, could not have reflectéde parties’ final transactional
intent. The significance of this point is understbby the fact that regsentations as to the
“unconditional” nature of the bonds, if made, waotually inconsistent ith the final negotiated
language of the transaction documents, anel lgal consequences flowing from those
negotiated terms.

As the Court has explained on numerowsasions, the language of the transaction
documents clearly conveys obligee status to CMreover, California law bars enforcement
of a provision exempting a party from its own fra®ke, e.g., Danzig v. Jack Grynberg &
Assocs. 208 Cal. Rptr. 336, 342 (Cal. App. 1st Dik884). Accordingly, the language of the
Lease Bonds, as negotiated by the parties, peasgsrtion of fraud defises by Safeco in the
context of fraud in the inducement by CMC.

To the extent the Guardian Entities andgank One did not understand the legal impact
of the negotiated language, those parties had the opportunity to review that language, and had
access to skilled counsel to aid in interpreting the language. Neil Gurney, an experienced
transactional lawyer, testifiethat he represented the Guardian Entities throughout the Lease

Bond transactions. Moses Jhirad testified Bartk One retained the services of Kahn Kleinman

56



to assist Bank One in the transaction.

Michael Anthony, on the ber hand, is noan attorney, and hiduties did not include
interpreting the legal effect dhe language ultimately agreéml While Anthony arguably had
(and the Court assumes he had) authoritysgeak for Safeco in getiations, his primary
function was to communicate witBafeco and advise the Gden Entities as to the bond

language that was ultim&yeacceptable to Safecd. In this arm’s-length, multimillion-dollar

14 Bank One designated the following deposition testimony with regard to the function of Michaehyiith
negotiating the Lease Bonds:

Q. In your testimony in response to Mr. Prough’s questions on behalf of
RLI, and correct me if I'm wrong, butbelieve you testified that as an
agent of the surety, you believe that you had the right to interpret a
surety’s bonds, is that a fair summary of your testimony?

A. Well, in this case all my interpretation of the bonds were based on the
statements made by the underwriters.

Q. And | understand that that's yaesstimony, and I'm certainly not here
to argue with that. And | assume that your testimony would be the
same as to Safeco?

A. Yes.

Q. That your interpretations flowed from your impressions from Safeco
representatives. And you've said that before; isn’t that true?

A. Correct.

Q. Assuming that, if you were out interpreting these bonds, would you as a
matter of practice discuss with Safeco your interpretation before you
provided it to a third party?

A. Well, I'd always clarify with a thirgoarty. First of all, let me back up
and give a little history.

When you sit with a bank side by side with an underwriter of Safeco
and he says, if you don't get paid, we will pay you under any—there’s
no conditions we will not pay you. You will get paid, unless we're
bankrupt. Okay. If subsequently, a week later, a bank calls me and
says, what is your interpretation of this bond? | would say, if you don’t
get paid, you're going to get paid under any condition, unless the surety
is bankrupt. If you don't believe me, call Ken Martin.

Q. And | believe it has been your testimony consistently that you obtained
that information or you heattiat comment from Mr. Martin.

57



business transaction, it would be incomprehdeddr the investors to accept Michael Anthony’s
legal interpretations with no further analysRather, both Bank One arlde Guardian Entities
had adequate opportunity, and bore the ohbgatto analyze any documents proposed and
determine whether they achieved the @abresults from a legal standpoint.

A further difficulty with Bank One’s position is the inconsistency between Bank One’s
assertion of an “unconditional guarantee” and the virtually undispesetence reflecting all
parties’ understanding of the assignment struatfitbese transactionsAs described in section
l11.B.2.b., supra all parties recognized th#lhese transactions involved a two-stage structure,
through which the rights of CMC were conveyed by assignment to thedi@n Entities, and
ultimately, to the investors.

It is clear that the parties understood tthet obligations to be guaranteed by the Lease
Bonds were the underlying leases, and not CMGis lobligations. Theaft that the guarantee
of the lease payments to CMC provided some oontb the lender banksnd thus facilitated
the Banks’ extension of credit to CMC, does not compel a finding that the Lease Bonds
themselves guaranteed thigligations of CMC.

As Guardian attorney Neil Gurney ackredged, “an assignee can only receive those
rights which his assignor has. . . .” Tr. 172:24-173Thus, while it may have been true that
Bank One, and perhaps even the Guardian i&sitiexpected the LeasBonds to guarantee
payment in virtually all circumstances, anyckuexpectation would wessarily have been

inconsistent with those parties’ intent tmucceed to the rights of CMC via a series of

assignments

A. | heard that comment from virtually every underwriter.

Anthony Depo., at 2806:19-2808:13.
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Taking the testimony as a whole, the Couxtampelled to view the parties’ expressions
of subjective transactional intent in the comtek the objective reasonkmess of the parties’
expectations. It is not reasonable to assuthat witnesses o clearly understood the
assignment structure of the transactions coulk henticipated that the Guardian Entities or
Bank One would acquire, through assignmerghts greater than those possessed by their
assignors. Accordingly, theo@rt finds that the evidencen@ testimony with regard to the
alleged “absolute and unconditional” nature & Liease Bonds is insufficient to negate the two-
stage assignment structure catigf constructed by the partiéd. The rights the investors
expected to receive included only thogghts previously held by CMC.

d. Testimony as to Alleged “Finartial Guarantee” Structure of
Transaction

In an alternative argument, Bank One has pointed to certain evidence which, it maintains,
compels a finding that the commitments undertaken in the Lease Bonds actually constitute
financial guarantee obligations thar than simple surety bontfs. The weight of the evidence
defeats this argument as well.

Bank One argues, first, that the amountsrgoteed by Safeco in the Lease Bonds are
indicative of an intent to guarantee loans mad€MC from lender banks (using the Guardian
Entities effectively asanduits), rather than tguarantee the underlyilgase payments. Bank

One notes that the amount guaranteed by Safeco, in each instance, is equivalent to the amount

15 As discussed in the Bench Trial Opinion (Doc. 2459), to the extent Bank One and the Guardian Entities hoped for
a virtually risk-free transaction, the one they enteredwss not far off; they were ptected from claims of fraud

by the lessees, by CMC as servicer aulservicer, by Michael Antimy, and by Safeco itself. They just were not
protected from claims of fraud the inducement by CMC.

18 In support of its characieation of the Lease Bonds as “financialgantees” or securitizations, Bank One has
introduced the testimony (via affidavit) of expert wigses Paul Palmer, Charles Kerner, and Michael Larrick. For

the reasons set forth in section Ill.B.2iefra, the Court declines to rely on the testimony of these experts, and
discerns the intent of the parties through an examination of the relevant transaction documents and extrinsic
evidence.
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due and owing to Bank One, not to #mire amount due on the underlying les&eeTr. 161:4-
162:15 (Gurney testimonyBank One Exhs. 2001HH, 20012001AA, 2002PP, 2002GG.
Although the precise nature of Bank One’s argomin this regard is unclear, Bank One
apparently contends that the symmetry betwberamounts guaranteed in the Lease Bonds, and
the amounts owed on the Guardian Entities’ loans, suggests that Safeco actually intended to
guarantee the loans themselves.

Bank One thus argues that the Lease Bonds were not intended to function as standard
surety bonds, but rather as letters of credgimilar financial guarantee instruments. Bank One
relies, in part, on the testimony of suretyhsr Michael Anthony, Wo described the Lease
Bonds as “credit enhancement” bonds:

A. ... The type of bonds that in the CMC were more used as a
credit enhancement, where there was, contracts that were
enhanced with the surety bond, guaranteed.

Q. Well, could you elaborate atbon the conept of credit
enhancement, not necessarily floe matter at hand but just
in the industry? Could you exgph to us what you mean by
a credit enhancement?

A. Well, credit enhancement to me was taking a risk and
applying some type of mitigation factors to reduce that risk.
Having a surety of good caliber stand behind it and make
whoever was][] the obligee feel more comfortable with the
risk.

Anthony Depo., at 29:1-15.

In this regard, Bank One introduced aalta June 22, 2000 lettevritten by Michael
Anthony to Wayne Pirtle at CMC (Bank One Exh. 55). That letter incladgsheral description
of the CMC program. It provides) pertinent part, as follows:

A surety bond of this nature is similar to a letter of credit issued by

banks. In the case of the lease bond program, if the lessee fails to
make their payments, the suretyilw This type of obligation is
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pure and simple from the suretyperspective by # language on
the bond. It is &trict financial guarantee.

*k%k

The bond is non-cancelable by the $yrand runs for the entire
term of the lease. Theohd is also fully assignable.

Bank One Exh. 55 (emphasis in original).
Anthony testified as follows withespect to the June 22, 2000 letter:

Q. And does that specificallget forth your understanding of
the obligations of the sureties?

A. In my opinion, yes.
Q. Beginning with the timehat you wrote the first bond
relating to . . . any of the sures that are part of the current

CMC litigation was that your understanding at that time?

A. From the inception to the end, it's always been my
understanding.

Q. Now, if you look at thedurth paragraph, could you read
that for us, pleas@&s you wrote it?

A. The bond is non-cancelable by the surety and runs for the
entire term of the lease. &lbond is also fully assignable.

Q. Did that also reflect your understanding from the beginning
of the program to the end?

A. Yes,sir.

Q. Did you have any discussioos receive any documents or
learn anything prior to thiditigation from any of the
sureties or any of the insumee companies involved in this
litigation that eitherof those two understandings were not
accurate?

A. No.

Anthony Depo., at 137:18-139:6.

Bank One further argues thifir. Pirtle’s testimony as téhe “no-loss” nature of the
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surety obligations supports itsrgention that the parties intertl8afeco to undertake financial
guarantees in its Lease Bonds. Mr. Pirtle testified:

Q. What do you mean, and | just mtathe record to be clear,
what do you mean when you stine intent was to provide
the investors with a no-loss situation?

A. | mean that there was no eventuality that could occur that
the investors would not have been paid by the insurance
company.

Q. And did you explain that interto the initial sureties that
participated in the program?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you explain that intent tthe sureties who are parties in
this case, American Motorists, RLI, Royal, Safeco?

A. Yes.

*kk

Q. . . . Did Safeco ever, anyone at Safeco ever indicate to
your knowledge that Safeco was unwilling to provide
bonds that would provide 10fercent guarantees to the

investors?
A. No.
Q. Did anyone at Safeco to yokmowledge ever indicate they

were unwilling to provide bondshat would protect the
investors from all risks?

A. No.
Pirtle Depo., at 1848:20-1849:7, 1853:21-1854:8.
Pirtle specifically testified that CMC had repented to Safeco and other Sureties that the
Lease Bond program was designed to provigtestors with stricfinancial guarantees:
Q. And then the last sentence of that paragraph states that,

guote, the program is designed to give investors protection
by shifting the credit and prepayment risk to the surety
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companies in the form of thestrict financial guaranty,
close quote; do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. And was that statement commonly made to potential
investors looking at purchasimgcome streams with regard
to the bonded lease program?

A. Yes.

Pirtle Depo., at 1834:9-22.

Bank One further presented testimony to tHeatfthat surety lmker Michael Anthony
may have marketed the Lease Bonds to invessrstrict financial guantees, and that both
CMC and Safeco were aware that the prognaas so marketed. Wayne Pirtle testified:

Q. Let me break it into two questions. To your knowledge,
were the sureties aware that the bonds and policies [were]
being presented as strifinancial guarantees beginning
from the start of the program in 19987

A. Yes.

Q. And did you participate in eetings yourself with each of
the sureties with counsel present here, RLI, American
Motorists, Royal, Safeco and also ACE lllinois Union
where it was discussed thtite bonds and policies were
intended to be stridinancial guarantees|?]

A. Yes.

Pirtle Depo., at 1835:15-1836:7.

Based on Safeco’s understanding that the fiitsredf the Safeco Lease Bonds ultimately
would flow to the investors, Bank One haguwad that the Safeco bonds actually should be
understood as financial guarantees, and presunsalolyld be reformed to operate as such. In

connection with that argumerBank One also presented evidence demonstrating that Safeco

classified the Lease Bonds internally asaficial guarantee bonds. Bank One presented the
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testimony of William Carron, Safeco’s director safrety operations, who testified that Safeco’s

1999 annual account report (Bank One Exh. 25) classified the CMC bonds as financial

guarantees:

Q. This is for CommerciaMoney Center account—it [is] a
summary for the Commercial Money Center account.
Correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And it states at the bottom—or toward the bottom of the
first page, “Current credit lin€s Under financial guarantee
it has outstanding liabilit current, $32,199,000. Do you
see that?

A. Yes.

Q. And that's categorized a$inancial guarantee bonds.
Correct?

A. Yes.

Carron Depo., at 92:24-93:105ee alsdDeclaration of Gene Sawyer (“Sawyer Declaration”),
Bank One Exh. 75, at { 3 (“Safeco issuekbast 696 bonds known as financial guarantee bonds.
).

Despite Bank One’s general categorizatiothef Safeco bonds, and the broad references
to the Lease Bonds as “financial guarantees,e&a$ withesses were cle@r stating that they
did not understand the Lease Bond$imencial guarantees in thersa sense as would have been
prohibited by the New York “Appleton Rule.” llAof Safeco’s witnesses testified that the
industry-specific use of the term “financgiarantees” would apply to the bonds generally, but
would not render them credit enhancememiicles as contemplated by Appleton.

Bank One relies, in part, on the testimoony James Schrader, Safeco’s Senior

Underwriting Officer, that Safeco internally ckifsed the Lease Bonds as commercial financial
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guarantee bonds:

Q. From your point of view-Hl just have you span your
career at Safeco—would you consider these bonds as
financial guarantees?

A. Lease bonds? Yeah. Leaklonds already fall under that
classification in the Bond $ety Association. There are—
there are many, many types of financial guarantee bonds
that are written by surety companies and written on a daily
basis. | know that peopldear that term “financial
guarantee,” and they associatevith that thin slice of the
financial guarantee book of boess; that is the—their
verboten bonds under the New York regulations.

But lease bonds—indeed lease bonds are a financial
guarantee as are tax bonds, as are custom bonds, as are
utility guarantee bonds.

So there are many hundredk financial guarantee bonds
out there.

Schrader Depo., at 483:9-2ee alsdr. 249:23-250:1. Mr. Schraderstdied at trial, however,

that all bonds could be categorizedfasancial guarantees” in some sense:

Q. Do you have an understandi of the term financial
guarantee?
A. Yes.

Q. What is it?

In our business, it's a very broad term. There’s kind of a
universe of financial guarantee bonds, many of which are
standard, surety-type obligationMore frequently, we hear
people refer to financial guarantee as that very small part of
that universe, that's the sticted portion, which is a—I
shouldn't say forbidden—whichs restricted to being
issued by only types of companies.

Q. Aren’t all bonds to some exiea financiaguarantee bond?

| think that can be made, yesThat generally guaranteed
the payment of money in default.
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Q. The lease bonds are in thevsacategory of that greater
category?

A. Yes, lease bonds are parttbe large finanial guaranteed
group of which there are martypes that are legitimate
surety obligations and viren on a daily basis.
Guardian/CadleRock Trial Tr. 184-185 (adoptedo the record of these proceedings by
stipulation at Tr. 223).
Mr. Schrader further explained that he diot understand the leabends issued in the
CMC program to involve the type of restadtcredit enhancement bond prohibited by the New
York Appleton Rule:
Q. And you understood that oneast of restricted financial
guarantees are credit enbament bonds, that's what you
testified earlier in this case?
A. Correct. Ones that walll actually raise the—a credit
rating, as I've mentioned. littk you can actually look at
all surety bonds as a foraf credit enhancement.
Q. Okay. And so, if Safeco were to issue a surety bond to
support a transaction that had an institutional credit rating
agency like Standard & Poorthat would raise the actual
credit rating on the offering, that would be a credit
enhancement that's a restricted financial guarantee?

A. If that were the purpose of the bond, correct.

Q. Now, you understood the Guardian transactions were not
rated public offerings; correct?

A. | had no knowledge of that—
Q. Had no knowledge at all?
--on whether they were.

*kk

Q. Okay. You certainly wouldh’expect Mr. Martin to enter
into a Sale and Servicing Agreement if there was a rating
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agency involved in ttransaction, would you?
-

A. Yeah. | would not expect him to do that.

Q. So at least based on the information you had, you had no
concern that the bond Safeco was issuing in the program
and to Guardian would constitute restricted -credit
enhancement financial guarantee bonds?

A. Correct.

Tr. 252:6-22; 253:11-13, 153:18-23.

In fact, both Mr. Schrader and Mr. Martestified that the CMC lease program had been
modified from the structure originally proposed to Safeco, which was akin to a credit
enhancement. These witnesses testified tleatdbtructuring of the aiglations as lease bonds
was a significant adjustment, since it allowedeBa to participate irthe program without
running afoul of the Appleton Ret Under the new lease bondusture, Schragk and Martin
testified, the surety obligations were moedit enhancement vehicles.

Mr. Martin testified that he authoreal memorandum dated April 20, 1999 (Bank One
Exh. 14), which summarized a meeting held leetwwSafeco employees and principals of A&M
relating to the CMC lease bond apfunity. In that memorandunMr. Martin stated, “We had
an opportunity to review this program a yeasorago and declined because it was structured as
a credit enhancement. They have made sea€djastments in the program and so it is possible
that we could participate and underwrite each leasee [sic] and guarantee only the lease payments,
thus overcoming the NY Appleton law. Bagsigathe program will guarantee income flow to
the investors. . . . While the obligee on the bisn@MC, they pass the benefit of the bond on to

the investors. . . .” Bank One Exh. 14.

Mr. Schrader testified:
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Tr. 254:3-12.

You said you had a concern that the Appleton Rule
would apply to the bonds in thisthat were being issued in
this program?

| said that when the—when the program was first submitted
to us, it was submitted in a fashion where the bonds would
run directly to the banks andaid that that's something we
cannot do.

Even if it's not part ofan institutionally rated public
offering?

Yeah. That's correct.

Mr. Schrader further explained:

Q.

A.

Ultimately, sir, to get to the point, did Safeco decide to
participate in the CommesadiMoney Center program?

Yes, it did.

Did it decide to participatihe first time it was offered the
program?

The initial offering that cami us was presented on a basis
other than something that weere comfortable with, and
we turned that down.

Was that something you were uncomfortable with?

The way it was initially pgsented to us, bonds would run
directly to banks.

What's wrong with that?
Well, that runs contrary to some restrictive insurance
regulations that we have to alewith in the state of New

York, which basically says '#&—it's regarding financial
guarantees. . . .

K%k

With respect to this Appletdrule, did the existence of that
rule enter into Safeco’s decision to participate in this
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program?

A. It entered into our decision to decline it the first time.

Q. Why?
We felt that as presented to us, it would fall into that
restricted category of the rested portion of the financial

guarantee bond market.

Q. What was it about theesond presentation that you were
more comfortable with, with respect to the CMC program?

A. It was presented to us as a simple lease bond program, and
leases may be bonded under theader the financial—they
don’t run afoul of the finacial guarantee regulations.

Guardian/CadleRock Trial Tr. 170-172ee alsdr. 177.

Bank One does not dispute, and in fact apply acknowledges, that Safeco agreed to
participate in the CMC program only after resturing of the program to address the Appleton
concerns. Perhaps even more significantly, asugésx previously in this Opinion, the weight
of the evidence introduced by all parties overwhiegly demonstrates that the parties to the
Safeco transactions understood and intendedféct a two-stage “aggament” structure.

Both Wayne Pirtle and Michael Anthongstified that the Appleton Rule was a
significant factor in determing the structure of the Lease Bond transactions. Testimony from
Mark Fisher, Michael Anthony and Blaine Tanmdso demonstrates all parties understood that
(1) the Lease Bonds guarantett@ obligations of the lesseés make lease payments; and
(2) the Guardian Entities would acquire rights under the Lease Bonds only by virtue of
assignments from CMC.

Testimony from Neil Gurney, counsel for thedgdian Entities at the time of negotiation

of the Lease Bond transactions, further bolstiwes Court's findings in this regard. The

testimony of Mr. Gurney makesedr that the investor banks mgeaware that other products
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existed in the financial markets that would haeeomplished the Banks’ goal of securing direct
rights as obligee. Mr. Gurnestated, on cross-examination, that he was aware of documents
available in the market through which a surebuld have guaranteed payments on the lease
bonds to the Guardian Entities and Bank CBeeTr. 170-171. Mr. Gurney specifically testified
that he had discussed a lettércredit with Mr. Anthony, and watold that detter of credit
would not be availableSeeTr. 170:16-21. Mr. Gurney alsoaséd that Mr. Anthony informed
him that Safeco would not agg to designate a Guardian Bnas obligee inthe lease bondSee

Tr. 171:25-172:4. This testimony makelear that the investor bankere aware, at the time of
the consummation of the trgaction, that they were @uiring something other tham letter of
credit, and something less than direct obligee righitshe banks believed that the agreed-upon
structure provided insufficient protection, theyere free to seek other products in the
marketplace—albeit perhaps at greater tost.

Bank One places great emphasis on the factth®aparties to the Safeco transactions
designated CMC as obligee, at keaspart, to ensure Safecat®mpliance with regulations to
which it was subject—specifically, the New Yolppleton Rule. Regardless of the purpose for
the designation, however, the testimony of Safecoes#ies, as well asahof CMC principals
and Blaine Tanner, demonstrates that thdiggadid understand that structure and understood
that the Guardian Entities (and their lender bamk®)Id take rights in the transactions only by
virtue of assignments from CMC.

After considering the documents upon which Bank One rlies, well as all other

' Indeed, as explained in section I1.B.4. of the Bench Trial Opinion (Doc. 2459), and discussed in section
[11.B.2.e.v.,infra, other transactional structures have been analyzed in the course of this MDL and found to provide
the type of strict financial guarantee Bank One says iittéca That structure was more costly, however, and not
available from standard surety companies such as Safeco.

18 In addition to the evidence and testimony proffered by Bank One, Bank One has submitted an Appendix to its
brief, which consists only of an articl&eeRobert Aicher, Deborah L. Cotton, and TK Kh&redit Enhancement:
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evidence presented by the parties, the CouectejBank One’s argument that the transaction
documents created a financial guarantee arrangaméavor of the Banks. First, the fact that
the Lease Bonds, by their terms, guaranteed only a portion of the scheduled lease payments is not
indicative of a financial guarantestructure. While Safeco hawmt disputed that the parties
intended to “fractionate” the leases and guarantee oalyportion of the scheduled lease
payments, the parties’ agreement in that regkrels not change thetonee of the underlying
guarantee.

Although the amount ultimately guaranteed othgaool may have been equivalent to the
amount due on each investor’s loan to the respeGuardian Entity, these parties were entitled
to structure a transaction in whiSafeco agreed to guarantee payments attributable to assets of

any type The Lease Bonds state that Safetended to guarantee lease paymenthe amount

set forth on the face of each Lease Bond. Wsimony from virtually all witnesses also
confirms that Safeco intended to assume responsibility fgmeats due and owing under the
leases, in the amount set forth in the Lease Bond. The fact that there may have been additional
payments due and owing under the leases, which payments Safeco dishdeotake to

guarantee, does not change the meatd the obligations assumed.

Letters of Credit, Guaranties, Insurance and Swaps (The Clash of CulflinesBusiness Lawyer, Vol. 59, at 897.
Leaving aside whether this article is properly considésethe Court to aid in determining the transactional intent

of the parties in this bench trial proceeding, the article does not support Bank One’s contentiorathdaicguage

in the transaction documents requisefinding that credit enhancement was intended. The article acknowledges the
general rule that, in the context of a surety bond, “fraud on the part of the obligee . . . may profédseafdethe
surety against any clainig/ the obligee. . . .Id. at 927. The authors furtherkamwledge that no legal precedent
exists to distinguish a financial guarantee bond from a surety bond based upon the use of ceraial “fina
guarantee” languag&ee idat 931-932. The article proffered by Bank One in fact does no more than express the
authors’ view that courts should createcommon law framework that would require bonds containing certain
“financial guarantee” languago be treated as akin to a letter of creSite id.at 949-950. As the Court has stated
throughout this Opinion, however, the Court finds that such treatment of the Safeco Leds&vBald be contrary

both to the negotiated language of the documents and to the parties’ transactional indenyt.evant, given that

Bank One acquired its interests only by assignment from the Guardian Entities, the Court believes it unlikely that
adopting the framework suggested bggh authors would actually grant origlimbligee rights in the Lease Bonds

to Bank One.
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With regard to the testimony of MicHa&nthony and Wayne Pirtle concerning their
understanding that the lease bonds constitdteaincial guarantees, ith evidence also is
insufficient to outweigh (1) the plain languagé the transaction amments; and (2) the
extensive witness testimony iwcdting that the parties interdleto create_surety bonds

guaranteeing leaseslin fact, Michael Anthoy repeatedly testified in these proceedings both

(1) that Safeco issued surety bonds guaranteeing jeas®$2) that he advised all parties to the

transaction to that effecBeeAnthony Depo., at 322:4-13;23:4-13; 1899:15-1900:6; 1901:5-
10, 14-17, 19; 2420:13-17; 1973:2-4, 7-9, 1973:24-1974:18ghn of that testimony, the Court
cannot infer from the June 22, 2000 letter {iatMr. Anthony believed that the Safeco Lease
Bonds acted as letters of credit or other fimanguarantee instruments; or (2) Mr. Anthony
advised his surety clients thiaey would be issuing financiguarantees of CMC'’s repayment of
loans.

Similarly, with respect tahe testimony of Wgmne Pirtle, Mr. Pitle’s testimony cannot
reasonably be read to suggesttMr. Pirtle believed that theease Bond tra@&tions created
obligations on the part of Safeconning directly to the Guardian Entities. Testimony to that
effect would be inconsistentitt Mr. Pirtle’'s testimony as t&€MC'’s status as the original
obligee on the Lease Bond transactions. Asipusly noted within tls Opinion, Mr. Pirtle
testified, “CMC was the original obligee and thtbry assigned it.” Pirtle Depo., at 2357:9-10.

The entirety of the testimony concerning thdeSa lease pools reflects, first, that all
parties, including Safeco, believed that the Lease Bonds were guarantees of the underlying leases
and not direct guarantees of CMQban obligations. The testimy of the Safeco witnesses is
far more consistent with the agreed “assignmemticttire than with any intent to issue financial

guarantees directly to Bank Oneafeco’s witnesses testified, without contradiction, that the
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structure of the CMC transactions was implement least in part, in order to ensure the
Sureties’ compliance with the New York Appleton Rule. Despite the imprecise references to
“financial guarantees” made by Safeco’s pboyees, the witness dttmony and exhibits
demonstrate that Safeco did not intend to igsadit enhancement bonds within the meaning of
the Appleton Rule. That rule would hayeohibited Safeco ém guaranteeing CMC'’s
obligations to its lender banksand thus undertaking obligations equivalent to credit
enhancement. The history of Safeco’s egwiof the CMC trarsction opportunity, as
summarized by Martin and Schrader (and memaegdlin numerous Safeco-generated exhibits)
indicates that, if Safeco hdmklieved the CMC Lease Bonds garsteed CMC'’s obligations to
the Guardian Entities and/or Bank One directiywduld have declined to participate in those
transactions. The testimony of diael Anthony makes clear that\was given instictions from
Safeco to that effect.

In any event, none of the extrinsic evidence presented in these proceedings may serve to
create a meaning at odds withe plain language of theatisaction documents, nor may it
impose a meaning to which the language o thansaction documents is not reasonably
susceptible. The Lease Bonds simply aresostceptible to a mearg whereby “CMC” would
mean “Guardian” (or, for that matter, “Bank Ohe'Nor can the Court reasonably infer from the
transaction documents that thatpss intended “Lease Bond” to mean “financial guarantee,” or
that Safeco’s guarantee ‘téase payments” would mean “loan payments.”

Accordingly, the Court rejects Bank One’gaments and finds that the Lease Bonds did
not create or effect a financigbarantee structure between thesdigm Rather, the Guardian
Entities, and later Bank One, acquired the rightsviously held by CM through a series of

assignment transactions.
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e. Bank One’s Expert Testimony and the Securitization
Argument

In connection with its assertions regardihg “financial guarantee&tructure of these
transactions, Bank One proffered evidence thate transactions are properly understood as
exemplifying “securitizations”, which are frequbnutilized by parties in structured finance
transactions. In support ofishargument, Bank One has praoéd the testimony of the following
experts via affidavit: Paul Palmer, Charles Kerner and Michael Ldrrickafeco proffered no
expert testimony in these proceedings, taking the position that expert testimony was not
necessary to determine the intent of the paviaéis respect to the original obligee on the Lease
Bonds.

As a general matter, Bank One proffers its experts to testify that certain characteristics of
the Safeco Lease Bond transactioare consistent with, awd/typical of, those found in
structured finance transactions or securitizatf8nsAs set forth herein, the Court finds that
(1) given the ample evidence and testimony in therceas to the parties’ intent, the Court need

not rely on the testimony of Bank One’s expeto determine the intended transactional

9 pursuant to its Order dated January 25, 2011 (02-16014, Doc. 123), the Court excluded the fstifarety of
Bank One expert Jerry Hudspeth in its entirety, as #ffidavit merely summarized facts and, as such, was
unhelpful to the finder of fact.

20 Bank One also proffered the deposition testimony oéettSafeco experts: Mark Arvin, George Beutner and
James Morelewicz. Pursuant to its Order dated January 25, 2011 (02-16014, Doc. 123), the Court excluded the
entirety of the testimony of Mr. Arvin and Mr. Morelewicz, as well as portions of the testimony of Mr. Beutner,
finding that the proffered testimony either (1) was irrelevarhis stage of the proceedings; (2) lacked foundation;

(3) purported to offer legal conclusions; or (4) was cumulative. 02-16014, D&catl£-5.

The portions of Mr. Beutner’s testimony admitted into the record included the following: (1) Safeco did not
have a standard form for simple lease bonds; (2) the bond form utilized in the CMC program was specifically
tailored for that purpose; (3) the parties’ decisiontiliva lease bonds for small equipment leases was an unusual
structure; and (4) Mr. Beutner believed that it was not customary for a bond obligee to provide indemnity to a
surety. The Court has considered the entirety of Mr. rigelst testimony admitted into the record; however, for
various reasons discussed throughout this Opinion, the Court finds that the non-expert evidehamthby the
parties is amply sufficient to discetime intent of the parties to these sacations. The Cougccepts, moreover, the
proposition that these transactions were unique. The fadh#hatvere atypical surety transactions does not compel
the conclusion that they were financial guarantees, however.
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structure; and (2) regardless of whether thenesty of these experts is considered, the Safeco
Lease Bond transactions are not properly regghrds structured finance or securitization
transactions.

A brief summary of the testimony of eaghthese experts is provided below.

I. Paul Palmer

Mr. Palmer is an expert in the area of capital market/structured finance transactions.
Palmer Aff., at { 8. Bank One proffered thigpex to testify about the structure of the CMC
Lease Bond transactions, which he described giynasastructured finace transactions, credit
enhancement, or securitizations. Mr. Palmeiftedtthat surety bonds may be used as financial
guarantee instruments, and that the use ofcpéat language in thbond—including the phrase
“absolute and unconditional guaraatof payment™—would signify tthe market that a strict
financial guarantee was intended., at 1 18.

Mr. Palmer testified that certain langga and provisions with the Safeco bonds,
including (1) the language of the default provision; (2) the “unconditional and absolute”
language; (3) the waiver of def&ss (4) Safeco’s assumptionresponsibility fo underwriting;
and (5) Safeco’s guarantee of CM@erformance as servicer, weansistent withthose used in
credit enhancement instruments, and that imvesh the market would have understood them to
be suchld., at 11 25, 31. Mr. Palmer further testifidht certain structat elements of the
transaction, includig the role of the indemnity agreemertke “comfort letters,” and the posting
of cash collateral by CMC, all would have cobtried to the investorsinderstanding that they
were purchasing finandiguarantee instrumentsl., at  33.

il. Charles Kerner

Mr. Kerner currently is a principal in aamsset management firm, which specializes in
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leveraged investment strategies for institutional investors utilizing asset-backed securities and
other structured financing. Kernaff., at § 3. Mr. Kerner thus IBaexpertise in market structure;
practices and expectations with respect to tahpnarket/structured finance transactions; the
nature, role, function and purpose of insurancefgyreoducts as credit enhancements in such
transactions; the roles, responidiles and risk assumption of ehparties to suckransactions;
and underwriting standards applicable to insurance/surety financial guarantee products issued as
credit enhancements in such transacti&e® id.at 1 8.

Mr. Kerner testified that sedtization is a subsetf structured finance, and is a process
by which the various risks of commercial fim@ng activity can be unbundled, and those risks
placed with different parties to the transactidd., at § 16. According to Mr. Kerner,
securitization may, but does not alwaysyolve the issuance of securitidsl. Mr. Kerner
further testified that the Safet@ase Bond transactions were stured finance &msactions, in
which Safeco agreed to provide financiahmantees to support CMC's financing nedds. at
1 25. Mr. Kerner based this opinion, in part, on (1) Safeco’s assumption of responsibility for the
individual underwriting of each lease; (2) tHeaud waivers” within the Lease Bonds; and (3)
the use of “unconditional and abst@l language withinthe Lease Bonddd., at  26. Mr.
Kerner testified that, based upon these featuresmiirket expectations of investors would be
that Safeco was assuming the solvency riskSME and the lessees, as well as the credit risks
of the income streams of the lease portfolids.at T 29.

iii. Michael Larrick

Michael Larrick has more than forty yearsexperience in the gsurance industry, and

has knowledge of industry standards, principtestoms and practices applicable to financial

and payment guarantee products issued by inseraompanies and sureties. Larrick Aff., at
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9 23. Mr. Larrick testified that several featudsthe transaction demnstrate that the Lease
Bonds are properly viewed as financial gudea instruments rather than surety bondls.at
34.

Mr. Larrick based his opinion primarily othe following transactional elements:
(1) Safeco negotiated with CMC, rather thaa tessees, in developing the terms of the bond;
(2) the Lease Bonds contain language indicaBateco’s responsibility for the underwriting of
the leases; (3) the Lease Bondsitain a waiver of fraud defess, (4) the Lease Bonds contain
“unconditional and absolute” language; and (5) the definition of “default,” as well as the
language in the Lease Bonds netjag assignment, are consistenith a financial guarantee
construct.ld., at 1 28-30. Mr. Larrick testified @h based on these features, and CMC and
Safeco’s marketing of a bond instrument contagrihese features, investors in the CMC lease
bond program would have believed that theyempurchasing financial guarantee instruments
rather than simple surety bondis., at 1 34, 39.

iv. Analysis of Expert Testimony

Bank One relies on the proffered testimony of its experts principally to support its
argument that certain language in the leasedbform departed from ordinary surety bond
principles and employed concept®nsistent with a finandiaguarantee or securitization
instrument.SeeBank One Proposed Findings of FacidaConclusions of Law, at 28. The
language in question, as well as substantiallylaimaxpert testimony, wereonsidered at length
in section 11.B.2.g. of the Bench Trial Opinion (orporated into the Cotls analysis regarding
Safeco by section 11.C.2.a.).

Plaintiffs in the prior bench trial proceedingffered the testimony of Mr. Palmer as to

the structure of the CMC Lease Bond transactions, and his opiniorndisat transactions were
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structured financial transactions or securitizations. As in these proceedings, Mr. Palmer testified
in the prior proceedings that the purposettd Lease Bonds was to mitigate the credit and
performance risks on the leases #malr respective income streamlr. Palmer further testified
in those proceedings that he based his opinh part on the language within the bonds,
including those featuresf the bonds previously @htified in this Opirmon. In the Bench Trial
Opinion, the Court considered the opinions artited by Mr. Palmer as well as those articulated
by Geoffrey C. Hazard, Jr., an expproffered by the Sureties those proceedings. The Court
stated in the Bench Trial Opinion:

Given the substantial witnessstinony presented to the Court

bearing upon the parties’ trams@nal intent, as well as the

language of the transaction docemis themselves, the Court does

not find expert testimony necessaty discern the intent of the

parties to the CMC LeasBond transactions. deed, most of what

these experts discussed wasceld into the ecord through a

combination of (1) the parties’espective fact witnesses; and

(2) the arguments of counselgerding the legal and logical

implications of that fact testimony. . . .
Bench Trial Opinion, Doc. 2459, at 87.

While Bank One, in these proceedings, bfered additional expert testimony by Mr.
Kerner and Mr. Larrick, the subsize of the testimny of those experts adtigle to the opinions
previously articulated by Mr. Palmer in the primoceedings, or to thed@rt's analysis of that
testimony. In particular, the following discussifrom the Bench Tria@Dpinion is relevant:

... [T]he record is replete wittvidence reflecting the intent of the
parties, and that evidence supports the Court’'s finding that the
parties actually intended to consummate a transaction where CMC

was named as thariginal obligee.

None of the expert testimony redi®n by the parties is sufficient
to override or outweigh the evidenbearing directly on intent. . .

*kk
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Mr. Palmer’'s testimony seems Buggest, at bestthat certain
parties to the transaction, padiarly the lender banks, may have
hoped for a securitization strucée—and, in fact, may have
negotiated to create transactidhat were _as close as possitidea
securitization structurevithin the framework ofa surety bond. In
reality, however, the transactions ultimately entered into were not
structured as securitizationatrsactions, and the Court cannot
construe them as such. . . .

Bench Trial Opinion, Doc. 2459, at 88. Since tli€ finds its prior angkis equally pertinent
here, the Court hereby incorporates by referesection 11.B.2.g. of the Bench Trial Opinion (as
incorporated into the Court’s analysegarding Safeco bgection 11.C.2.a.).

V. Analysis of the Securitization Issue

In the Bench Trial Opinionn addition to considering ¢hexpert testimony introduced by
all parties to the prior proceedinghe Court also conducted a deddilstructural analysis of the
transactions at issue. Thatafysis was contained in sectitirB.4. of the Bench Trial Opinion
(incorporated into the Cotls analysis regarding Sato by section 11.C.4).

In section 11.B.4. of the Bench Trial Opam, the Court comparethe transactions at
issue—transactions involving surety bondsuied by Safeco and Royal Indemnity Company—
with transactions previously considered by tlei€in its lllinois Union Opinion. As explained
in the Bench Trial Opion, the lllinois Union Opinion (Dc. 1709) was an opinion resolving a
Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings filed by ceriayestor banks as to the liability of Illinois
Union Insurance Company (“lllinois Union”) on t&in insurance policies issued to the Banks
and CMC, as co-insureds.

In the Illinois Union Opinion, the Court fouridat (1) the lllinoisUnion policies created
a suretyship, rather than an insurance relationship; and (2) the actual obligees of the surety

obligations created in the lllinois Union transactions were the investor banks. As a result of the
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Court’s lllinois Union Opinion, one bank, J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (“Chase”) subsequently was
granted final judgment against lllinois Unionlinbis Union appealed, and that appeal resulted

in a decision by the Sixth Circuit affirming this Court’s lllinois Union Opinion in substantial
part. See Commer. Money Ctr., Inc. v. lll. Union Ins.,&08 F.3d 327 (6th Cir. 2007.

In section 11.B.4. of the Bench Trial Opam, the Court conducted a detailed comparison
between the surety bond transactions at issaeethnd those considered in the prior lIllinois
Union Opinion. The Court described multipleatures that differentiated the Illinois Union
insurance policies from the bondssued by the Sureties, inclad (1) the inclusion of an
investor bank as a named insured in the poliaed;(2) the lack of any “assignment” structure.

In the lllinois Union transactions, unlike the traogons considered in the Bench Trial Opinion,
each bank dealt directly with Illinois Union and was a party to the contract giving rise to lllinois
Union’s guarantee obligationSeeBench Trial Opinion, at 115-116.

The Court further noted that the transactioroinving Chase, also sicussed at length in
the Illinois Union Opinion, contained additional unicgieatures and was, in fact, a securitization
transactionSeeBench Trial Opinion, at 116-117. The @bnoted that the Chase transaction—
which involved the presence of ardenture and the Isance of Notes to a Trustee—was in fact
“the single ‘securitization’ transtion considered by the Couttus far in these cases. . . .”
Bench Trial Opinion, at 116. The Court foundittithe lease bond transactions, on the other

hand, contained none of the features presetiteénChase “securitizatiortransaction, and that

the parties could not have intended to effesecuritization structarin executing lease bonds.

2L The Sixth Circuit upheld this Court’s findings that (1) the lllinois Union insurance policies actually were surety
bonds; (2) the Banks were the intended obligees on the surety bonds; and (3) lllinois Union could not assert the
fraud of CMC as a defense to its payment obligations under those bonds. The Sixth Circuit reversed this Court’
award of damages, however, and remanded the casatferfproceedings related to calculation of damages.
Commer. Money Ctr., In@. lll. Union Ins. Co.508 F.3d 327 (6th Cir. 2007).
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There is no basis—and Bank One has sugdasbne—on which the transactions at issue
here can be distinguished fraime surety bond transtions discussed isection 11.B.4. of the
Bench Trial Opinion. It is clear that, likeethsurety bonds considered in the Bench Trial
Opinion, the lease bonds here omitted Bank Ona party, and on their face, conveyed rights
only to CMC. Like the bonds consideredin® Bench Trial Opinion—and, most notably, unlike
the insurance policies considered in the Illindison Opinion—these traastions granted rights
to the Guardian Entities, and later to Bank Onéy via a series of assignments. There is simply
no discernable structural differee between these lease bonddaations and those previously
analyzed in detail in gnBench Trial Opinion.

Accordingly, the Court incorporates byfeeence the discussion contained in section
[1.B.4. of the Bench Trial Opiniofincorporated into th Court’'s analysis garding Safeco by
section 11.C.4.), and adheres teethndings contained there. TIi@ourt declines to find that a
securitization was either intendedcreated by the Safeco LeasenBs in the Guardian Il and/or
Guardian Il transactions.

3. The Evidence and Testimony Relatingo Various Structural Elements
of the Transaction Also Supports a Finding that CMC Was the
Intended Original Obligee.

In addition to the substantial evidencesdl#hbed above pertaining to the parties’
understanding of the two-stage “assignmentudtire of the trarsctions, evidence and
testimony were introduced by Bank One relatingcéotain other aspects of the transactional
structure which, according to Bank One, suppdihding of original obligee status on the part
of the Guardian Entities and/or Bank One.nB®ne asserts that the Guardian Entities and/or
Bank One should be found to be original igbés in these transiions based upon

(1) evidence presented as tlee time of “funding” of the lase transactions; (2) evidence
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presented as to CMC'’s right to substitute leaé®s“comfort letters” issued by Safeco to Bank
One in the context of the closing of the Giian Il and Guardian Ill transactions; and/or
(4) evidence relating to alleged “admissions” byeSa. For the reasorset forth herein, the
Court rejects all of Bank One’arguments and holds that theeight of the evidence again
demonstrates the parties’ intentctanfer original obgee status upon CMC.
a. Testimony as to Time of “Funding” of Lease Transactions

In connection with Bank One’s arguments melyag the original oligee status of the
Guardian Entities, Bank One has presengeitlence and testimony relating to the time of
“funding” of the Lease Bond transactions—that is, the timing of actual payment for the
underlying leased equipment. Bank One argthed, until the moment of “funding,” the
obligations set forth in the leases and Lease Boratse essentially incht& and that Safeco’s
obligations sprang to life upon payment of thechase price for the underlying equipment. If
no equipment had been purchased when theelBands issued, then, Bank One argues, no valid
lease could have existed and no bohtigation could have been cted prior to execution of the
SSAs. The Court disagrees, and finds thatlence as to the time of “funding” of the
transactions does not alter theutt's conclusions regarding theiginal obligee status of CMC
in these transactions.

Bank One has proffered the testimony ofesal witnesses, inatling Michael Anthony?

22 Michael Anthony testified:

Q. Were any bonds issued by you before the underlying leases were
funded?

A. | think all bonds were issued beéathe underlying leases were funded.

Q. How do you know that?

Because they would need the bondtte to the investor before they
would fund CMC in order to have the money to pay for the equipment.
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Ron Fishef® and Mark Fishef? to demonstrate that lease pdmnsactions ordinarily were
funded after execution of the transaction documé&s. als¢doser Depo., at 45:8-46:13; 116:8-
117:5. Safeco does not dispute, however, ‘fiuaiding” of each transaction generally occurred
subsequent to execution of the SSA, upon thergjosf a loan from Bank One to the relevant
Guardian EntitySeeJoint Stipulation ofFacts, {1 33, 49, 52, 53, 54, 60, 75, 78, 79, 80. Rather,
Safeco apparently takes the pasitthat evidence as to the timing of funding is simply irrelevant
in the face of the plain languagéthe transaction documents.

This issue was examined in detail $ection 11.B.2.d. of the Bench Trial Opinion
(incorporated into the Court’s alysis regarding Safeco by sextill.C.2.a.). In the Bench Trial
Opinion, the Court also considered extensigti@ony designated by the parties as to the time

of delivery of equipment to CMC'lessees, in relation to the fundiafjthe respective leases. In

Anthony Depo., at 2894:16-2895:1.
% Ron Fisher testified:

Q. | just want the record to be clear. You don’t have any personal
knowledge, do you, sir, whether Safeco had any knowledge of whether
the leases were unfunded at the tlBadeco issued their bonds, do you?

A. Yes, | do. In the dog and pony shows, or whatever you call them, they
would go through and one of the subjects of conversation was that we
didn’t have a line of credit, so some of the leases would not be funded.

R. Fisher Depo., at 1292:14-1293:1.

24 Mark Fisher testified:

Q. And what information did you provide as to the timing of funding of
purchase of the equipment for fleases that were being sold and
bonded?

A. That the leases got bonded, would be sent to the bank for funding. The

bank would send the purchase price of the portfolio and then CMC
would fund the leases as theys—ll the—as all the documentation
was finalized on each individual lease.

M. Fisher Depo., at 1345:25-1346:9.
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these proceedings, the parties have not praffegstimony relating to the timing of equipment
delivery, and accordingly, the Court does not rely on any such testfmony.

Here, Bank One has introduced testimony byeka Schrader to the effect that Mr.
Schrader did not initial know that bonds were issued prtorfunding, and that he discovered
this information during aubsequent audit of CM&GeeSchrader Depo., at 80:22-81:15. The
purpose of this testimony in supporting Banke@nargument that the parties intended a one-
stage transaction is unclear.wibuld seem, in fact, that evidentteat Safeco was unaware of the
delay in funding would support Safeco’s assertthat it intended a twvstage transaction, in
which Safeco issued Lease Bonds on existing leabeany eventthis evidences of no more
than tangential relevance to tissue presently before the Court.

In the Bench Trial Opinion, although th&ourt considered extensive testimony, the
conclusions there were premised largely m@presentations contained in the transaction
documents, including representations contaimedCertificates of Acceptance and similar
documents, as to the delivery of equipmentmptinoclosing. The trasaction documents here
contain equivalent representations regarding the timing of deliv@iyen the parties’ lack of
focus on the funding issuend in the absence of amgstimony in these proceedings relating to
the timing of equipment delivery, the Court fimis basis to deviate from its prior holding. The
Court holds that Bank One’s evidence relatitog the time of funding of the lease pool
transactions does notted the conclusion that CMC was the intended original obligee in these

transactions.

% |n their Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the parties actually have addressed the “funding”
issue only in passing. Theourt nonetheless has consettrall proffered evidence reaching its conclusions
herein.
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b. Guardian Representations as tdffectiveness of Leases and
Lease Bonds at Closing

In section I1.B.2.e. of the Bench Trial Opinidincorporated intdhe Court’s analysis
regarding Safeco by section 1.C.2.a.), theourt described andconsidered various
representations made by the Guardian Entitiethe transaction docuwents (specifically, the
Purchase and Security Agreements and thediCrand Security Agreements) (1) adopting
representations made by CMC aghe validity and effectiveness the leases and Lease Bonds;
and/or (2) making affirmative representations tasthe validity and effectiveness of those
documents. The Court expressedvieswy that “[ijn light of theserepresentations, it is difficult
for Plaintiffs now to assert that they betel the Lease Bonds would be effective only upon
delivery and funding of equipment at a ladete. . . .” Bench Trial Opinion, at 81.

While none of the parties to these proceedingge discussed the representations made
by the Guardian Entities in the transaction documents, the documents at issue here are virtually
identical to those considered ihe Bench Trial Opinion, andntain the same representations
considered in the Court’s prior analysis. Therefatespite the parties’ failure to focus on this
issue in these proceedings, the discussion cwedain section I1.B.2.eof the Bench Trial
Opinion provides further support for the Countggection of Bank One’s arguments relating to
the timing of funding in these transactions.

C. Testimony Relating to “Subditution” of Lease Bonds

The issue of CMC'’s ability to “substitute” weleases for defaulted leases in a pool was
discussed at length in semts 11.B.2.f. and 1.C.2.c. of th&ench Trial Opinion. In those
sections, the Court considered extensive evidence and testirelatiyng to (1) the issue of
substitution; (2) whether such substitution actually occurred in the CMC lease pools; and (3) the

mechanical process by which sushbstitution occurred. Plaintiffs in the prior bench trial
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proceedings argued, in essence, that CMC’stalii “substitute” new leases meant that the
obligation underlying the Suretiekease Bonds was actually the A$ather than the lease.
Ultimately, the Court concluded in the Bench Trial Opinion that the provisions in the SSA
permitting substitution of lease bonds lent no support to Plaintiffs’ argument that they were the
intended original obligees on the CMC Lease Bonds.

Unlike the Plaintiffs in the prior benchidl proceedings, Bank One has not seriously
pursued any arguments relating to CMC’s abitity substitute leases.n fact, Bank One’s
Proposed Findings of Fact and ConclusionsLaiv make no referee to the issue of
substitution. Regardless ofishomission, the Court has reviewdte entirety of the evidence
and testimony proffered by Bank One on this polr essentially the same reasons set forth in
the Bench Trial Opinion, the Court finds thatidance relating to substitution of leases is
irrelevant to the Court’s determination of the obligee issue.

In these proceedings, Bank One has proffered testimony as to the parties’ understanding
that CMC would “substitute” or replagaroblem leases in the Banks’ poo&ee, e.g.Carron
Depo., at 131:12-25; Martin Pe., at 302:16-304:25; Campdxpo., at 106:9-107:1; Pirtle
Depo., at 2442:9-2443:7; 2443:21-2424Anthony Depo., at 107:16-1@&. Nearly all of this
testimony was considered by the Court in cotinaavith the prior bench trial proceedings.

Bank One also introduced thestimony of Kenneth Martin, Safeco’s former senior
account analyst. Mr. Martin testified that he believed that substitution of leases would not
require issuance of a new bond:

Q. And what was your understanding of how the substitution
procedure would work?

A. That they would pull a lease out that was a problem lease

and insert one in of equal or greater value to keep the lease
payment flow going.
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*k%k

So your—it was your understding that if CMC—if
Safeco bonded a particular leaand the lease went into
default and CMC substituted another lease in that pool—
just hang on, please—that Safeco’s bond would make—
would remain valid[?]

Correct.

*k%k

... In a hypothetical pool whethere are ten leases and ten
bonds. If one of those leasgses into default, that lease
was ABC Company, the lessaegoes into default, your
testimony is that CMC would #m get another lease with
XYZ Company and replace it; correct?

That—that is correct.

And the reason for that, | take it, is so that the cash flow
coming out of the pool would be the same to the obligee.

That is correct.

And it was necessary that @Mstructure this and would
operate it such that there was always the set cash flow
going to the obligee, it didninatter which bonds were in
the pool as long as they wgreducing sufficient dollars to
produce this income stream; correct?

That is correct.

K%k

Just tell me how it worked, sir, or how you expected it to
work.

Our initial reaction was that it would have gone in there
with the remaining amount of time being the same as the
original one and there woulde no need to change the
bond. The obligee was coverdide assignee was covered.

So in other words, asoy understood it, the existing bond
like the ones you identified wouldn’'t change, they would
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just essentially, this is overdoing it or simplifying it, pull
off the bad bond and staplenaw—the bad lease and staple
a new lease onto that boadd the bond would cover the
new lease; is that correct?
A. That was my understanding, yes.
Martin Depo., at 323:22-324:1, 32682-456:18-457:10, 458:14-15; 458:22-459:10.

Safeco also has proffered testimony frearious withesses—nearly all of which was
considered by the Court in tipeior bench trial proceedings—rélag to the issue of substitution
in the lease pools. First, feao proffered testimony of sena witnesses indicating that
substitution occurred dnrarely, if at all,in CMC’s lease poolsSee, e.g.M. Fisher Depo, at
1274:16-1275:3; Holmes Depo., @0:18-21. Safeco also proféal the testimony of Wayne
Pirtle to the effect that he waincertain whether substitutionafease would require issuance of
a new bondSeePirtle Depo., at 268:6-18. Jill Marisa Campos, the CMC employee who had
responsibility for alléase and bond documentation at CMG&tified unequivocally that issuance

of a new bond warequired for substitution of a lease:

Q. Was Michael Anthony or A&M informed of the
substitution of one lease for another?

A. Yes, because we had totgebond for the new one that was
being replaced.

Campos Depo., at 203:3-6.

The Court has considered all of the testimproffered by the parties relating to the issue
of substitution of leases by CMC. As in théoptbench trial proceedings, the testimony reflects
that at least one Safeco witness apparently digivat substitution oéhses in the Safeco pools
could occur without the issuance of a new boBénk One introduced no testimony, however,
indicating that “substitutin” actually occurred in the Safo pools in the manner contemplated

by Mr. Martin.

88



As noted in the Bench Tti@pinion, CMC employee Jill Campos was the employee
responsible for all lease and bond documemtatvithin CMC. Based upon Ms. Campos’s
responsibilities, the Court find$he testimony of Ms. Campos moreliable than that of Mr.
Martin with respect to describing theogedure for substitution of leases.

In any event, the Court does not find tloafticting testimony on thigoint particularly
significant. As set forth in the Bench Trial @jn, CMC’s decision to substitute a lease for a
defaulted lease within a pool wouhdt change either the obligee or the assignee on that lease.
Thus, even if Bank One could show thaclke Lease Bond would remain effective upon
substitution of a lease, without any additibrzction by Safeco, the result would be the
assumption of obligations by Safeco equal in amount, to the same obligees. Accordingly, for the
reasons set forth in the Bench Trial Opinion, @aurt finds that the parties’ decision to allow
substitution of a leasender an original leaseohd has little probative vaduwith respect to the
parties’ intent in naming CMC as theligiee of Safeco’s guanéee obligations.

d. Comfort Letters

In support of its contention that Safeco unolektobligations in théease Bonds directly
to the Guardian Entities and/or to Bank Gh&ank One has proffered evidence relating to the
issuance of “comfort letters” by Safeco to Babke as part of the closing of the Lease Bond
transactions. The Safeco “comfort letters” wadgressed in detail in section 11.C.3.c. of the

Bench Trial Opinion, and the letters introducedr&l in these proceedings are substantively

% Bank One’s presentation of evidence throughout these proceedings has left considerable doubt as tawkether B
One claims that the intended obligee in each Lease Bandattion was a Guardian Entity or was, in fact, Bank

One itself. As the Court made clear in the Bench Trial Opinion, however, based upon the language of the
transaction documents and the transactional structures iharo question that the rights of the investor banks
(including Bank One) were no mothan “assignee” rights coryed to the investobanks from the various
Guardian Entities. Bench Trial Opinion, Doc. 2459, at {&en taking the Banks’ argument in the best possible

light, only the Guardian Entities could possibly have been the original obligees. . . .”). The Court considers Bank
One’s argument regarding the comfort letters, therefore, as it relates to the alleged obligee status of Guardian Il
and/or Guardian Il in the transactions at issue here.
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identical to those previously analyz&keJoint Exhs. 2009, 2013.

Like Plaintiffs in the prior bench trigiroceeding, Bank One relies primarily on the
language contained in the firs#ntence of the Safeco comfort letters: “Upon notification of non-
payment to SAFECO, SAFECO will remit pagnt to Bank One regardless of payment to
intermediaries or servicesif]. . . .” SeeJoint Exhs. 2009, 2013. Bank One points out that this
sentence indicates an acknowledgment by Safet@B@émnk One would be the actual recipient of
any payments on claims under the bonds, and thus the ultimate beneficiary of the Lease Bond
transactions.

As previously set forth in the Bench Trial Opinion, however, Safeco’s recognition
(through its comfort letters) oBank One’s role in the trangt#on cannot be interpreted as
conveying obligee status either to the Guardian iéstidbr to Bank One. First, the majority of
the text does no more than confirm the existearwt validity of the Lease Bonds, as well as the
amounts guaranteed. The letters acknowledgdhbdiease Bonds are valid and “enforceable in
accordance with [their] terms,” but contain no expléon or analysis of the terms of the Lease
Bonds. The comfort letters certainly do not designate any obligee under the Lease Bonds.

As set forth in the Bench Trial Opinion, tbemfort letters are directed to Bank One and
do not reference the Guardian Entities, or #tatus of those entities in the Lease Bond
transactions. The letters appear to be interiddemssure Bank One that Safeco will honor the
contemplated assignment of rights to Bank One, and pay claims submitted by Bank One as
necessary. Safeco’s acknowledgieinBank One’s right to recge payment does not alter the
manner in which Bank One received its rigmst can it expand the scope of those rigivast
significantly, the comfort lettersannot serve to convey any statusthe intermediate assignees,

the Guardian Entities.
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Accordingly, for the reasons set forth ircsen 11.C.3.c. of the Bech Trial Opinion, the
Court rejects Bank One’s assertion that the cométters provide any basis for reformation of
the Lease Bonds to designate a Guarthatity, or Bank One, as obligee therein.

e. Alleged Safeco “Admissions”

During the prior bench trial proceedings,aiftiffs introduced evidence of various
references, by Safeco employees and agents, to CMC as “principal” under the Lease Bonds.
Plaintiffs asserted in those qmeedings that, partiauly in connection wh Safeco’s initial
handling of bond claims, Safeco frequently reférre and treated CMC as the principal on the
Lease Bonds. Plaintiffs further argued thatheaous references by Safeco reflected Safeco’s
actual understanding that the parties intended CM@ve principal status in these transactions.
Accordingly, Plaintiffs contendk these references should beated as admissions by Safeco.

The issue of alleged “admissions” by Safecs @@cussed in detail in section I1.C.3.d. of
the Bench Trial Opinion. In that section, theu@@aleclined to adopt Rintiffs’ position, finding
that statements made by clerical and/or nataiemployees years after the closing of the
transactions at issue were not particularly releeanmheaningful as to the parties’ transactional
intent at the time of closing.

The alleged “admissions” relied upon by Babke in these proceemys are virtually
identical to those cited by Plaintiffs, and dissed in detail by the Court, in the prior
proceedings. Bank One relies on (1) Safeco’s Complaint filed in February 2002 against CMC,
its principals and their spouses in the United etddistrict Court for the Southern District of
California (the “California Actn”), premised upon the GAls, Bank One Exh. 74; (2) internal
communications within Safeco, a®ll as correspondence authored by Safeco and/or its counsel

between February and June of 2002, in whicfe@aand/or its counkeeferred to CMC as
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“principal” on the Lease &nd transactions, Bank One Exhs. 65, 66, 67, 68, 81, 82, 83, 93, 96,
100, 103; (3) the Sawyer Declaration, sworrFabruary 20, 2002 and fdein the California
Action, in which Mr. Sawyer referred to CMC gwincipal” and stated;SAFECO is obligated

to guarantee payment by individuassees in its 13 lease psdio investors in those pools
through its Sub-Servicers CSC or CMC . . .Bjnk One Exh. 75; and (4) Safeco’s Proof of
Claim filed in the consolidated CMC/CSC bamjticy proceedings, which was based in part
upon the obligations undertakéy CMC and its principals ithe GAls. Bank One Exh. 109.
The Court considered extensiwvidence as to all of the above in the prior bench trial
proceedings.

Bank One also has proffered evidence,tbatJuly 6, 2009, the Bankruptcy Court in the
CMC/CSC bankruptcy proceedings entered amleDrauthorizing the Tistee to distribute
$10,151.81 to Safeco as payment on the claims ads@artSafeco’s Proof of Claim (Bank One
Exh. 109). The parties agree tlsatfeco subsequently acceptedistribution in that amount on
account of its Proof of Clainteeloint Stipulation of Facts, T 94.

With the exception of Bank One’s evidence relating to Safeco’s acceptance of a
distribution on account of its Proof Claim in the CMC/CSC bankruptcy proceedings (an event
that apparently occurred after the conclusion efgghior bench trial), the entirety of the evidence
presented by Bank One as to alleged Safeabmissions” was previously considered, and
discussed in detail in section@L3.d. of the Bench Trial OpiniorAs explained in that section:

[T]he context of the alleged ‘adssions’ does not permit the Court
to draw any inferences (or a&ast not sufficient ones to reach the
conclusions Plaintiffs urge) as the parties’ intent at the time of
the Safeco Lease Bond transactiokéith respect to the references
to CMC as ‘principal’ within Safeco’s computer system, regardless
of the reason for those designatiotiee Court agrees with Safeco

that those references, created ity by clerical staff after the
negotiation and consummation of the Safeco Lease Bond
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transactions, are not determinative of the intent of the parties at the
time of execution of those transactions. . . .

*k%k

With respect to the Sawyer rtespondence, the Court similarly
declines to find that statemeritg Safeco’s claims employee, years
after execution of the Safec#ransaction documents, may
retrospectively serve as evidence of Safeco’s intent to denominate
CMC as a ‘principal’ on its Lease Bonds. . . .

Bench Trial Opinion, Doc. 2459, at 170-71.

For the reasons set forth in the BenchalTOpinion, the Court further declines to
attribute any significance, from the perspectivdérahsactional intent, to (1) Safeco’s filings in
the California Action; (2) Safeco’s Proof ofddin in the CMC/CSC bankruptcy proceedings; or
(3) Safeco’s acceptance aflistribution in the bankruptcy proceedings on account of its Proof of
Claim. As with the evidence of correspende and other documents generated by Safeco
during its claims process, ®a&b’s filings in the CaliforniaAction and in the bankruptcy
proceedings postdated the closofghe Lease Bond transactionsrogny years. As such, while
these filings arguably may have some ret®eain showing Safeco’s understanding of the
transactions, they cannot be usedontradict or override the suaastial evidence of the parties’
intentions at the time the LeaBend transactions were consummeéied.

Finally, to the extent that Bank Onpremises its arguments regarding alleged
“admissions” on communications relating to the §Alhe Court finds that the existence of
indemnity rights running from CMC to Safeoa the obligations guaranteed by the Lease Bonds

(to the extent such rights existed) would nosh#icient to override the substantial evidence of

transactional intentSeesection 11.B.4.,infra. As set forth in sean II.B.4. of this Opinion,

27 Bank One’s argument that Safecasld be judicially estopped from astieg CMC'’s obligee status, based upon
its filings in the California Action and ithe bankruptcy proceedings, will bedaélssed in section III.B.7. of this
Opinion.
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the GAls, either alone or in combination widther evidence, fail to support Bank One’s claims
for reformation.

Accordingly, for the reasons set forthgection 11.C.3.d. of the Bench Trial Opinion and
in this Opinion, the Court declings retrospectively gmt obligee status to the Guardian Entities
and/or Bank One based upon post-transactioeptesentations and/aronduct by Safeco.
Rather, the Court adheres to its prior findilgsed upon the plain language of the transaction

documents, and concludes that CMC is the irgdratiginal obligee on the Safeco Lease Bonds.

4, The Existence of Indemnity Agreements Executed by CMC in Favor
of Safeco Does Not Support a Findingf “Principal” Status on the
Part of CMC.

In support of its contention that CMC was imded to be a “principal’ rather than an
obligee on the Lease Bonds, Bank One hasdeheavily on certain components of the
transaction structure which, accorg to Bank One, are inconsiatewith a finding of obligee
status on the part of CMC. A primary facwf Bank One’s argumens the existence of
indemnity agreements running from CMC (andptscipals) to Safeco. According to Bank
One, upon execution of the SSAs, “Safeco’s bonds were sold and assigned by CMC to the
investors and CMC became sub-servicer, bond principal, and indemnitor. . . .” Bank One
Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, 02-16014, Doc. 126, at 6.

The heart of Bank One’s argument is that the existence of indemnity agreements running
from CMC to Safeco suggests an intent by Satecandertake guarantee obligations directly to
the Guardian Entities as original obligees—i.eSafeco does not normally seek indemnification
from obligees on its Lease Bonds, but did seelemnification from CMC here, then Safeco
must not have viewed CMC as an obligeBafeco, on the other hand, argues that no such

inference can be drawn,nse Safeco in fact did naake indemnity from CMC on the Lease
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Bonds.

Bank One proffered the testimony of variougn@sses to support iessertion that the
indemnity agreements were intended to profeafeco from any potential losses on the Lease
Bonds. Bank One relies, in part, on the testignof Ken Martin, Sadco’s underwriter, who
testified that he believed Sato did take indemnity from CM@nd its principals for the Lease
Bond program. Mr. Martin testified that he awriid a letter (Bank Ornéxh. 15) explaining that
Safeco would receive indemnity from both the éessand from CMC, and further testified that
taking indemnity from a principavould have been a standard procedure for Safeco in the
context of bond issuance:

Q. In regard to indemnificatiorgt the bottom of the page you
talk about indemnification foindividual lessees and you

also state that you will require an indemnity of C.M.C. and
the personal indemnity of its owners and their spouses;

correct?
A. Correct.
Q. And as far as the indemrgfition from C.M.C., you were

going to require that it be on the Safeco general indemnity
agreement form; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. But you didn't make that requirement about the
indemnification from the lessees?

A. That is correct.

*k%k

Q. At any rate, you made sure that you had this in hand before
you—this indemnification agreement from CMC and its
principals before you issued any bonds under the bonded
lease program; correct?

A. That is the normal procedurets have it in hand prior to
issuance of any bonds, yes.
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*k%k

Q. Because you wanted to be stirat if—if Safeco had to pay
any bonds issued on the CMC account that CMC—you
would be protected that CM@ould have to reimburse you
for the payments.

A. Well, the—anybody in the ubnella of Capital Market
Corporations would, yes.

*k%k

Q. And when you provided—at Safeco you provided the bond,
where the principal—when you were at Safeco, when you
bonded the obligations of a pripail that was a closely held
corporation, was it commomno get an indemnification
agreement not only from the corporation but from the
owners of the corporation?

A. Yes.
Martin Depo., at 131:6-18, 227:22-228:3; 230:18-23; 4223. Martin also testified that he
was unaware of any other situation in whicheg8afhad taken indemnification from the obligee:

Q. And in surety, unlike the othdypes of insurance, the risk
generally remains with the principal, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Have you ever, in your experience in the surety field,
obtained an indemnification agreement from the obligee of
the bonds?

A. | do not recall ever receiving one from an obligee.

Q. To obtain an indemnification agreement from the obligee
would render the bond meaningless, wouldn't it?

A. Yes.

*kk

Q. And so the record’s clear, to your knowledge, you have
never entered into this fornof general agreement of
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indemnity with the obligee of a surety bond.
A. To my recollection, that is correct.

Martin Depo., at 39:10-40:12; 228:15-19. BankeOalso proffered (1) an April 20, 1999
memorandum authored by Mr. Martin, in which Nfartin noted, “[w]e alsdhave the indemnity
of each leaseesic] and of CMC . . . ”, Bank One Exh. 14nd (2) an April 21, 1999 letter from
Ken Martin to Michael Anthony, referencing Safeccequirement that CMC, its principals and
their spouses provide indemnity to Safeco day losses incurred ithe Lease Bond program.
Bank One Exh. 15.

In support of its assertion that Safeco required the indemnity of CMC as a condition of
issuing the Lease Bonds, Bank One also pretfethe following testimony of surety broker
Michael Anthony:

Q. | believe you already testified about this, but is that a fact
of the program that you discussed or somebody discussed
with each of the sureties and the insurance companies who
participated, that there would be a full indemnity for CMC
and its principals?

A. Yes,correct.

Q. And did that structure of the program ever change for any
of the sureties?

A. No.

Q. That CMC was fully indemnifying the sureties and its
principals were fully indemnifying the sureties?

A. At all times.

Q. And in regard to Safeco isathpart of the discussions, that
were held initially where Mr. Schrader was present, at that
CMC would be fully indemnifying Safeco?

A. Yes.
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Q. Okay. Did Mr. Schrader ev tell you that he understood
the indemnity agreements only if it applied to replevin
bonds or bonds other than the lease bonds that Safeco
issued?

A. No.

Anthony Depo., at 345:18-346:19.

In addition to witness testimony, Bank Onsaakites to Safeco’prior pleadings and
filed documents (both in thisase and the CMC bankruptcy case) which Safeco asserted
indemnity claims against CMC and its principals premised on the Safeco GA&Bank One
Exhs. 74, 75, 109. Similarly, Bank One referensegeral 2002 letters to the CMC principals
authored by Eugene Sawyer, Safeco’s Seflt@ms Representative, demanding that those
individuals agree to indemnify Safeco for dongses incurred due to claims filed on the CMC
Lease Bond progranseeBank One Exhs. 77, 78.

Bank One further cites to a May 1, 2000nae# from James Schrader, which stated,
“[W]e have an indemnity agreeant with CMC requiring them to take whatever action necessary
to prevent us suffering from defaults. . . .” BdDke Exh. 47. Bank One asisg finally, that the
testimony of CMC principal Mark Fisher demomgés that CMC believed had an indemnity
obligation to SafecdSeeM. Fisher Depo., at 13480-22 (“CMC had an indemnity to Safeco, so
CMC holding the bonds for itself would be circular, | suppose. . Ség generallyirtle Depo.,
at 1593-1597 (upon default of a lease, CMC bation of making a servicing advance, or
making a claim, which would then bepead under the indemnity agreement).

Safeco, on the other hand, argues that @& ha indemnity agreement with CMC with
respect to the obligations guaranteed by the Lease Bonds. Rather, Safeco asserts, its GAIs were

intended to cover only those circumstancesler which Safeco issued bonds for CMC as

principal—for example, those situations in whi€MC intended to repossess equipment from a
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lessee and required a replevin bond. Safecosrehethe language of itSAIs, which state that
they apply to “any Bonds for which anSAFECO INSURANCE C®PANY now is or

hereafter becomes Surety for any as PrinciBIMMERCIAL MONEY CENTER, INC. . . .. ”

Joint Exh. 2003 (emphasis adde®afeco proffered into the racbcopies of some of the bonds
allegedly issued for CMC as principal, as welhasociated records of Safeco demonstrating that
such bonds were issueseeSafeco Exhs. 1022-1039, 1041. Safeco also proffered into evidence
an indemnity agreement which, according to Safeco, was to be secured from each lessee in favor
of Safeco at the time of issuance of a Lease BBadSafeco Exh. 1004

James Schrader, Safeco’s underwriting ceifj testified in the prior bench trial
proceedings that Safeco did not intend the GAlprovide Safeco with indemnity from CMC
and its principals for the oblitjans secured by the Lease Bonds:

Q. This is a written indemnity agreement that protects the
surety, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Can you take a look at this document, sir, and let us know
whether or not this document, in your understanding as a
surety underwriting officer, ptected Safeco from any
payments or loss claims on the lease program?

A. No.

How can you tell?

The bond would protect only—auld cover us only for
bonds issued for CMC as principal.

%8 Bank One criticizes the indemnity agreement allegedceted on behalf of Shandoro/Medquik insofar as it

(1) is not on a Safeco form; (2) does not identify Safeedhe surety; (3) does not identify any Safeco-bonded
leases; and (4) was never completed. Moreover, Eamé notes that Safeco never made a demand against
Shandoro under its supposed indemnity agreement. Sawyer Depo., at 559:8-18. Given the Court'hdintiiag t
existence of indemnity rights from CMC in favor of Safesmsufficient to justify reformation of the Lease Bonds

to grant original obligee status to the Guardian Entities and/or Bank One, the Court need not determine whether the
Shandoro/Medquik indemnity form actually was intended to grant Safeco indemnity rights against the lessees.
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> 0 » O

Okay. How do you know that?
Because that's what the document says.
Where does the document say that?

Right up at the top where they name—Commercial Money
Center, Inc. is typed in, in ¢hsituations where we look to
have an indemnitor cover more than just one entity. We
either name those entities irthere’s going to be many
entities, we use what weall omnibus wording, which
would say something along thires of Commercial Money
Center, any company subsid/ to Commercial Money
Center, anyone else for whom they requested a bond or
bonds.

*kk

Okay. So this document reatlss agreement is made by
the undersigned in favor of the Safeco Insurance
Companies for the purpose oidemnifying them from all
loss and expense in connection with any bonds for which
any Safeco Insurance Company now is or hereafter
becomes surety for any as principal and then there’s only
one name?

Correct.
What's the name?
Commercial Money Center, Inc.

*kk

So if there were a loss or a claim made on the lease
program, a claim was made to Safeco and Safeco paid it,
could they enforce their indemnity rights pursuant to the
Exhibit in Tab 27?

No.

Not at all?

They don’'t—they would not expect any rights under this
agreement for a loss as you described.
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A.

Why not?

Because this covers strictly bonds where Commercial
Money Center was the principal.

And this—and what we’re talking about is the bonds you
referred to as replevin bondécense[] bonds, those kinds
of things?

Correct.

Guardian/CadleRock Trial Tr. 191-194 (adoptedo the record of these proceedings by

stipulation at Tr. 223).

Grace Reza, a Safeco underwriting traineegedy with Mr. Schrader that the GAls did

not cover the obligations gremteed by Safeco as paftthe Lease Bond program:

Q.

And you understood that CMC had provided indemnity
agreements to indemnify Safeco in case they ever had to
pay on any of the bonds; correct?

No. That indemnity agreement was for the L&P [license &
permit] obligations and the REevin-type obligtions that
we were seeing on the account.

Where did you get thatnderstanding from?

Because you can't—the indemnity agreement covers the
principal on the bond. Theademnity agreement doesn’t
cover an obligee, so there’® way to use the indemnity
agreement for that.

So if they were originally the obligee on the bonds, you
couldn’t cover—the indemnityagreement couldn’t cover
that. It would cover the L&P obligations where they are
the principal, like the Replevin activities.

*k*k

Well, again, you understood the rigabf these transactions
was that it wasn’t simply some name given to the account,
but that the reality was that C.M.C. was the principal, as
you just testified; correct?
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A. On some of the bonds, they wgrencipal and on some of
the bonds, they were the oldgg You had them both on
the account.

Reza Depo., at 69:16-70:9 (objectionsitbaal), 80:11-80:19 (objections omitted).

Mr. Schrader testified, however, that Safettered into indemnity agreements with its
lessees as principals on the bgraisd that Safeco also had infal “indemnity” or protection
agreements with CMC, through which CMC agreedige its best effortedo cure defaults and
minimize losses to the Sureties:

Q. Did Safeco have any indemnitights you're aware of with
respect to a potential loss on the leases?

A. In the indemnity rights, yes. We have a—we had a number
of indemnity rights. And wheih say that, we kind of use
the term indemnity and protection interchangeably in our
business, at least our organization.

And our indemnity package, you will, included a number

of things, such as common law against our principals, the
lessees, specific indemnities from the lessees. We had an
agreement with Commercial Money Center, Inc. where
they would use their besffferts to cure defaults under
leases through raghi you know, respomsto repossessing
the equipment, selling it, paying off the lease, or releasing
it to keep the income stream going.

And finally, we also had sonellateral. So we had a—we
had a package of—protection package, an indemnity
package in place that includdedose things. Is that to
which you refer?

Q. Well, I'm wondering if you werdo pay a loss on the lease
program, | think | understand you to be saying that your
only remedy for reimbursement, regardless of what you call
it, whether indemnity or prettion, subrogation, whatever,
but that has to come from what party?

A. Well, first it comes from the lessee, and then we had, as |
mentioned, we had—we did have some collateral, and we
would hope we had an agreemt where CMC would do its
best efforts to cure the defgubut once all those remedies
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had been exhausted, then #&isrnothing more for us to
look to.

Guardian/CadleRock Trial Tr. 194-195 (adoptedo the record of these proceedings by
stipulation at Tr. 223). Mr. Schrader testifieghat his e-mail reference to an “indemnity
agreement” actually referred to this tygieinformal arrangement with CMC:

Q. You go on to generally desbg the program, 3 percent
collateral, collateral is more @h adequate to cover all the
defaults, and then in the parethat ends that paragraph,
the phrase appears, quote, “We have an indemnity
agreement with CMC requiring them to take whatever
action necessary to prevent us from suffering from default.”
Do you see that?

A. Yes, | do.

Q. Doesn'’t that refer to these general indemnity agreements
we talked about at Tab 3 and 4?

A. No, it does not. This refers to an agreement we had with
them where they would take amt to cure defaults. And
those actions were when we had interviewed them, they
showed us their system and attihey were currently doing
and what they were doing for the existing sureties. They
had—all their plea agreementsid were online auto bill
payments, and they were within 24 hours of a default, and
within ten days, they gave their lessees the option,
opportunity to cure those defaults or they would repossess
the equipment and immediatetyart the process of either
liquidating it or releasing it.

That's part of that indemnity package | mentioned we had
with them, our protection packag This is one of those
layers of protection. We Hatheir agreement to do the—
make their best effort to cure defaults.

Q. Looks like indemnity agreement to me is indemnity
agreement. You're saying that that's not a term of
precisional art in the nature of this memo?

A. No, not in this—as you can see, I'm referring to some

specific performance on their behalf, which would not be
delineated in a general agreement of indemnity.
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Guardian/CadleRock Trial Tr. 212-213 (adoptedo the record of these proceedings by
stipulation at Tr. 223). Mr. Schrader concedledt the informal arrangement between Safeco
and CMC was not memorialized in any writin§ee Guardian/CadleRock Trial Tr. 227-28
(adopted into the record of thesegeedings by stipulation at Tr. 223).
Mr. Schrader testified specifically that thestimony of Ken Martin to the effect that
Safeco had taken indemnity from CMC for the Lease Bond program was incorrect:
Q. Okay. Mr. Martin testified by videotape that if Safeco had
a claim on MedQuik/Shandoro leases and Safeco paid it,
that CMC would be obligated to repay Safeco. Do you
agree with that statement?
A. No, that's incorrect.

Q. Why do you disagree with the guy you supervise?

Because we didn't have any indemnity agreement from
CMC that said it would cover bonds for Shandoro.

Q. Mr. Martin is just wrong, right?

A. He’s absolutely wrong.
Guardian/CadleRock Trial Tr. 195-96 (adoptedo the record of these proceedings by
stipulation at Tr. 223). Mr. Schradfurther testified that Safe@eould not take indemnity from
an entity in the position of CMC in the ordmgacourse, since CMC was designated as obligee
under the lease bonds:

.. . Occasionally, I get these kinds of offers from people in the

field who think that it is a good deal.have to explain to them that

we don’t. When you issue a bond to an obligee and then take the

indemnity of the obligee, you'veainted a picture of protection

that doesn't really exist, and aethery least, it's deceptive, and at

the very worslt], it's potentially fraud. . . .

Guardian/CadleRock Trial Tr. 203 (adopted inte thcord of these proadiags by stipulation at
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Tr. 223).

Although the vast majority dhe evidence relatintp the indemnity issue was previously
considered by the Court in the Bench Trialirhgn, the Court has nonetheless reviewed the
entirety of the evidence proffered by the partie these proceedings. As in the Bench Trial
Opinion, the Court finds that thexistence of the indemnity agreents is, in connection with all
other evidence, insufficient to support a reformation of the jdaiguage of the Lease Bonds.

Initially, in light of the filings made by Safeco in this litigation and in the CMC
bankruptcy case, Safeco’s pogitithat it did not believe it had entered into an indemnity
agreement with CMC as to the Lease Bonds is difficult to accept. For purposes of the obligee
issue, however, the Court need not actuallyrdatee whether Safeco’s GAIls were intended to
encompass the obligations undertakgnSafeco in the Lease Bonfds Even assuming that the
indemnity agreements executed by CMC and its graisiwere intended forovide Safeco with
indemnification for the obligatns undertaken in the Lease Bonds, the Court nonetheless holds
that such a circumstance would not entitl@B&ne to reformation of the Lease Bonds.

As discussed throughout this Opinion, theagrweight of the evidence and testimony
presented by the parties undercuts Bank One’smedtion arguments. Witnesses proffered by
all parties to these transactions testified that (1) the parties understood the “two-stage” structure
of the Lease Bond transactions; (2) CM@dathe Guardian Entities made unambiguous
representations, both inghransaction documents and elsewhaseto the validity of the leases
and Lease Bonds upon execution, prior to tesigmment of CMC’s rights to the Guardian

Entities; (3) the parties understotbdt the obligationandertaken in the Lease Bonds constituted

29 As previously noted in the Bench Trial Opinion, this evidence, and its inherent strengths and weaknesses, may be
highly relevant to other stages ofeie proceedings, most particularlyaoy claim by Safeco that it reasonably
relied on any fraud by CMC in entering into these transactions.
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guarantees of lease payments, not loans; andll(gprties intended that the Guardian Entities
would take the rights of CMC as assignees.

In the face of the overwhelming evidenoé transactional intent, the Court again
concludes that the indemnity obligations umnaleen by CMC in the GAls do not override the
parties’ clear designation @MC as obligee in the Lease Bonds, and do not support Bank One’s
reformation claims. To the extent the obligas undertaken by CMC in the GAIs suggest an
inconsistency with the Lease Bonds, that appaneconsistency is gtained by the parties’
recognition of the two-stage natuoé these transactions. Tleaecution of the GAls by CMC,
while creating an apparently circulabligation at the first stage tife transactions, gave rise to a
logical structure—one that wantended by the parties—uporethssignment of CMC'’s rights
through the SSAs dihe second stage.

In any event, given the unique structurghed Lease Bond transactions, including CMC'’s
assumption of servicing dutiegpon the execution of the SSASafeco’s requirement of
indemnity from CMC would be neither illogicaor unreasonable. ABank One acknowledges,

upon execution of the SSAYLCMC became sub-servicer, bond principal, and indemnitor. . . .”

Bank One Proposed Findings of Fact &whclusions of Law, 02-16014, Doc. 126, a0 6.

It is evident, accordingly, that CMC held two distinct roles throughout the unfolding of
these transactions. Initially, CMC was lessbithe equipment on each underlying lease, and
obligee on the Lease Bonds issued by Safe&mllowing execution of the SSA in each
transaction, however, CMC’s role changed. teAfassignment of its obligee rights to the

investors, CMC'’s primary role in the transactionswhat of sub-servicesf the leases. In its

%0 The deposition testimony of Ken Martin, proffered by B&nie, also supports this understanding on the part of
Safeco.SeeMartin Depo., at 225:9-13 (“once CMC was replagdthe obligee on the bond by the lending
institution, they as subservesi¢] would take care of the—any—any problems that might exist in the flow of the
premium. . ..").
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servicing capacity, CMC unequivdbabore obligations both to the investors and to Safeco.
Given the centrality of CMC'’s role as sub-seer to the performare of the Lease Bonds, it
would not have been unreasonable for Safecedaire indemnity by CMC and its principals to
guarantee those sering obligations.

Once again, however, CMC'’s subsequent @iicins as sub-servicer—which arose only
following execution of the SSAs—are necessarily seafrom CMC'’s original role as obligee
under the Lease Bonds. That original designation was cleadet forth in the language of the
Lease Bonds, and Bank One has not introducgdeaidence sufficient to override the parties’
negotiated agreement. The CQoiinds, accordingly, that evidea of indemnity obligations
running from CMC (and/oits principals) to Safeco, while levant circumstantial evidence of
Safeco’s intent, does not compel a finding of oagiobligee status on thgart of the Guardian
Entities and/or Bank One.

As noted previously, these transactiongevatypical in many respects—attempting to
provide assignees as many protectiaagpossible while still allowin§afeco to participate. In
this context, that an atypical indemnity agreetwas entered into between CMC and Safeco is
not surprising.

The Court’s findings in this regard are entirebnsistent with those set forth in sections
11.B.3.b. and 1I.C.3.b. of the Benchrial Opinion. To the extent applicable, and where not

otherwise discussed herein, theu@aohereby incorporates by reface its findings set forth in

31 As set forth throughout this Opinion, as well as in thadBeTrial Opinion, the distinct nature of these roles and
functions also places a limitatiam the scope of the fraud defenses availabf®afeco in this matter. As the Court

has repeatedly stated, the only fraud assertable by Saseaodefense to its Lease Bond obligations is fraud by
CMC in the inducemerb enter into these transactions. Once the SSAs were executed, and CMC had assumed its
role as sub-servicer of the leases, Ckffectively was no longer an obligee the transactions, and thus any fraud

by CMC in its sub-servicer capacity could not pdevany defense to Safeco in these transactions.
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those sections of the Bench Trial Opinf3n.
5. Bank One Cannot Establish the Partig’ Intent to Effect a Novation.

Throughout these proceedings, Bank One has relied heavily on its alternative argument
that the parties intended tlexecution of the SSAs to constitute a “novation,” in which the
Guardian Entities, with the consent of all parties, were substituted for CMC as obligee on the
Lease Bonds. Bank One argues that the partteaded, upon the exettan of the SSAs, to
extinguish Safeco’s obligations to CMC and substitute a contract in which the Guardian Entities
and/or Bank One were the beneficiared Safeco’s Lease Bond obligations.

The novation issue was discussed in sactibB.3.e. of the Bench Trial Opinion
(incorporated into the Court’s alysis regarding Safeco by sect 11.C.3.a. of the Bench Trial
Opinion). Since Bank One has placed great reliance on this argument in these proceedings, the
Court conducts a@e novoreview of the issue here. As with Plaintiff's argument in the prior
proceedings, Bank One’s assertions regardingtimvare based entirely on the language of the
transaction documents, as well as certain sirattfeatures of the transactions. Among the
aspects of the transactions ghé to support Bank One’s positiare (1) the fact that each lease
and Notice of Assignment was ddteo coincide with the effectéer date of the relevant SSA;

(2) the language in the Lease Bonds providing dinaassignee “shall become the Obligee . . . as
of the date specified in the Neoe of Assignment”; and (3) thiact that CMC’s sub-servicer

status, as well as its indertynobligations, became effecéwpon execution of the SSAs.

%2 The Court’s incorporation by referenceitsfanalysis set forth in sections 11.B.3.b. and I1.C.3.b. of the Bench Trial
Opinion includes the discussion of certain other aspects of the transaction, which Bank One argues refute the
parties’ intent to designate CMC as original obligee, inolgidhe facts that (1) CMC applied for, and paid for, the
Lease Bonds for the benefit of its investors; (2) CMC was required to maintain internal cash reserves to fund sub-
servicer advances; (3) CMC also posted cash collatesaives with each Surety upon the closing of each SSA
transaction; and (4) following the executiof each SSA transaction, each investor was in possession of the original
Lease Bonds. For the reasons set forth in sections 11.B.3.b. and II.C.3.b. of the Bench Trial OwirGooyrt again

finds that none of these elements of the transactionaitgte indicate the existence afiginal “obligee” status on

the part of the Guardian Entities and/or Bank One.
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Bank One has not proffered any witness testiynto the effect that, in executing the
SSAs, the parties intended teate a novation. Given that BaBGke’s claims are premised on
the transactional language and staue only, the novation issueassentially a gestion of law,
and the Court has considered the legal aittesmproffered by both parties on this issue.

It is well established that a “[n]ovation the substitution of a new obligation for an
existing one. . . 'Wells Fargo Bank v. Bank of Amerjca2 Cal. App. 4th 424, 431 (2d Dist.
1995), citing Cal. Civ. Code § 1530Gsee also Howard v. County of Amadae0 Cal. App. 3d
962 (3d Dist. 1990). The substitution of olligpns may be accomplished by “(1) a new
obligation between the same parties, or (2)esv obligation arising because of new parties,
either a new debtor arew creditor. . . .Wells Fargg 32 Cal App. 4th at 431. “The effect of a
novation is to make the original @g@ment a nullity (thas, void and of no effect), and the rights
of the new parties are governededp by the new agreement. . .Etkart v. Brown34 Cal. App.
2d 182, 187 (2d Dist. 193%ge also Wells Farg82 Cal. App. 4th at 431 (“[a] novation thus
amounts to a new contract which supplahts original agreeent and ‘completelgxtinguishes

the original obligation . . . .””)(emphasis in original)(citations omitted).

Under California law, there are four essdmguirements for creating a novation: “First,
a previous valid obligatn; second, the agreement of all thetipa to the new contract; third, the
extinguishment of the old contract;, anaufth, the validity ofthe new one. . . .Airs Int’l v.
Perfect Scents Distribution802 F. Supp. 1141, 1147 (N.D. Cal. 199%o particular form of
agreement is required to effect a novation; a tioranay be written or oral, express or implied.
See, e.g., Silva v. Providence Hospital of OakldtCal. 2d 762, 773-74 (193Pprter Pin
Co. v. Sakin112 Cal. App. 2d 760, 762 (2d Dist. 195P}cker v. Schumake®0 Cal. App. 2d

71, 74 (1st Dist. 1949).
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One means of effecting a novation is “[b]yetlubstitution of a new creditor in place of
the old one, with intent to transfer the riglus the latter to the former.” Cal. Civ. Code
8§ 1531(3). Bank One asserts, esisdly, that the transactions that occurred here were equivalent
to the form of transaction described irctsen 1531(3) of theCalifornia Civil Code—e., the
substitution of a new creditor (the Guardian Eesit in place of the oldreditor (CMC), with
intent to transfer CMC'’s rights to the Guardian Entities. In that context, Bank One asserts, it
need not demonstrate that thet@s intended to extinguish theease Bonds or the obligations
thereunder, but rather simply that the parties intended to substitute a new creditor to assume all
rights previously held by the former creditor.

Bank One relies primarilpn two California case€ckart 34 Cal. App. 2d at 187; and
Law v. San Francisco Gas & Electric Cd68 Cal. 112, 116-117 (1914kckartinvolved the
assignment of contract rights torpbhase stock shares by the buyethaf shares to a third party,
with the consent of the seller. TEekartcourt held that, by conseng to the assignment, the
defendant effected a novation, released the origpugbr from all obligations, and entered into a
new contractEckart 34 Cal. App. 2d at 187.

Law involved a contract whereby the defendant agreed to supply steam heat to three
buildings owned by plaintiffs. When plaifi§ sold two of the buildings and defendant
consented to an assignment of rights to thechmaser, the court held that a partial novation
occurredLaw, 168 Cal. at 116-117.

Bank One relies on this case law, in paot support the proposition that novation can
occur through the mechanism of assignment, where the obligor on the contract at issue consents
to the substitution of a new obligee. Bank One also citekawwecase for the proposition that a

novation does not requitde extinguishment of an entimntract; rather, a novation may be
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partial if such is the intent of the parties.

Safeco does not dispute that novation miay,some circumstances, occur through
assignment. Safeco focuses, rather, on the element of intent, and argues that Bank One cannot
demonstrate any intent by thgsarties to effect a novation uperecution of the SSAs. Safeco
asserts that neither the lease bonds nor the $8tain any language sugg@g an intent to
release Safeco and/or the lessees from theirailditgs to CMC. RatherSafeco asserts that,
following the execution of the SSAs, CMC remaired lessor on the equipment leases, with all
of the rights and obligations attendant to thatust. Safeco also imriuced the testimony of
Senior Underwriting Officer Schrader, who testifidat Safeco had no “intention at any time for
an entirely new contract to evolve between 8afend [the] investor....” Guardian/CadleRock
Trial Tr., at 180 (adopted into the record aésh proceedings by stipulation at Tr. 223).

Safeco further cites to seati@.8 of the SSAs, which prowed for the reversion of any
remaining “Transferred Assets” to CMC upon tingeastors’ receipt of all sums due. Safeco
argues that CMC's reversionaryteénest in the Lease Bonds icamsistent withany intent to
extinguish all rights of CMQ@pon the execution of the SSAs.

Safeco argues, finally, that even if BankeOrould demonstrate that the parties intended
the execution of the SSAs to effect a novatmmovation here would not defeat Safeco’s fraud
in the inducement defense, since the existenae “pfevious valid obligatin” is essential to a
novation.See Airs Int’] 902 F. Supp. at 114Holder v. Maaco Enterprise$44 F.2d 310, 313
(4th Cir. 1981);Gertsch v. Johnson & Johnsdrin. Corp. (In re Gertsch)237 B.R. 160, 171

(B.A.P. 9th Cir. 199953

3 Bank One counters that, where a new creditor is substituteah foriginal creditor, and “the rights of others have
intervened and circumstances have so far changed that rescission may not be decreed without injupattig¢hose
and their rights . . . "Gill v. Rich 128 Cal. App. 4th 1254, 1265 (2d Dist. 2005), then an obligor must be barred
from asserting fraudulent inducementthyg original creditor as a defense against the innocent new creditor. Since
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Significantly, as noted in the Bench Trial Ojpim, the record in thizase is entirely
devoid of any evidence thatethparties intended the SSAs tonstitute a novatio of the prior
agreement memorialized in the Lease Bonds. él'has been no testimony to that effect, and the
Court is unable to reach suehconclusion based either upore tlanguage of the transaction
documents, or upon the transactional structiteen if the Court acges Bank One’s argument
that extinguishment of the Lease Bonds woult mve been required teate a novation, the
record still fails to demonstrate that the partiesabt intended to substitute Guardian (and later
Bank One) as creditor in place of CMC.

It is beyond dispute that, even after exemutf the SSAs, CMC remained the lessor on
the underlying leased equipment, and the lessees lease payment obligations to CMC alone.
Undisputedly, the lessees had no intent to substédifferent creditor iplace of CMC, and as
non-parties to the SSAs, they engaged in no subktitution. Bank Onapparently argues that
the intended substitution of rights was intended to effect a pawiztion, in which CMC
intended to assign only the righto payment and/or perforn@nof obligations owed to it by
Safeco. Such intent, according to Bank Oneyident based upon (1) therfi@s’ execution of a
document that permits the assignment of CM@jhts; and (2) Safet® knowledge that the
rights in question would be assigned to a @izar Entity, and subsequently to Bank One.

Adoption of Bank One’s theory would blurettdistinction between simple assignment
and novation nearly beyond recognition. Moreover, based upon the evidence and testimony
relating to the parties’ intent in these wantions, the Court finds that Safeco’s knowledigéhe

contemplated assignment of rights cannot be eduaitth Safeco’s assent to discharge CMC as

the Court finds herein that no substitution of creditors, and thus no novation, was intended by the partieg, the Cour
need not determine whether a finding of novation herein would preclude Safeco’s assertion of fraud defenses in
these proceedings.
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the party to which it owed obligjans, and to enter into a newrdract with a Guardian Entity
and/or Bank One.

While Safeco does not dispute that it kneng @ven intended, t@sue Lease Bonds that
would be assignable to the Guardian Entiteasg later to Bank One, Safeco witnesses have
testified extensively in thesequeedings as to the reason for designating CMC as obligee on the
Lease Bonds. Safeco witnesses testifiedhaut contradiction, thatSafeco deliberately
structured a transaction in which Safeco’s dddligns would run to CMC, not to an investor
bank. By so structuring the transaction, Safetended to comply with the “Appleton Rule”
and avoid running afoul of insurance indystgulations to which it was subject.

By accepting the novation theory that Bank One proposes, the Court would find, in
essence, that upon execution of the SSAsec®afgreed that it would no longer owe its
obligations to CMC, but rather would be patb a new agreement, in which Safeco owed
obligations directly to a Guardian Entity (or even to Bank One). The Court finds that Safeco’s
intent to effect such an angement cannot be gleaned from any testimony or evidence presented
in these proceedings. It is plain that Safeco intendetbrimd a party to any contract in which its
obligations ran directly to thevestor banks, and that Safeco weengreat lengths to avoid such
a result.

In neither of the cases cited by Bank One was there similar evidence of the obligor's
intent to avoid assuming direct contractual obliyagiin favor of the sukiitted creditor. To the
contrary, in both cases, the courts based thetimovdetermination on evidence of the obligor’s
intent to assume such obligations to the substituted creditoEcHKart at the time the share

purchase contract was assigned, defehdgecuted a separate contraih the purchaser of the

shares, which acknowledged the assignnfee¢. Eckart34 Cal. App. 2d at 185-187. Similarly,
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in Law, upon the conveyance of the tloildings subject to the stearontract, defendant wrote

to the purchaser’s attorneys offeritqgexecute a new contract with the purchaser, in the event
the purchaser should “desire to have a séparantract made upon the same terms . Law,

168 Cal. at 114. Although the separate contraster was executed, the court held that the
defendant’s conduct demonstrateslifitention “to release the [plaiffis] and to substitute their
vendee as to that part of tbhentract relating to the buildgs purchased by her. . .Id. at 116.

The evidence in these proceedings does not reflect any conduct by Safeco comparable to
that exhibited by the defendantskckartandLaw, and accordingly, the Court is unable to find
any intent by Safeco to effect a novation upon execution of the 8Aconfirmed by Bank
One’s cited cases, a fundamental differencestexbetween (1) a party’s assumption of
obligations, with an accompanying consent te subsequent assignment of rights; and (2) a
manifestation of that party’s intent to enter iatdirect agreement with any subsequent assignee.
In these transactions, the diéece was plainly recognized byf&ego, and was foundational to
Safeco’s transactional intent. As previouslyted in this Opinion, the Banks were aware of
Safeco’s unwillingness to assume obligations diyeo them, and also recognized that they had
purchased something less than direct obligee rights.set forth in section 111.B.2.d. of this
Opinion, other mechanisms for securing such sigkicluding purchase of a letter of credit or
other financial guarantee instnent—were available in the market. Accordingly, to permit
Bank One to bypass the carefully construcéesdignment structure through a creative (and
retrospective) application of the concept of “novation” wdugdboth unfair and contrary to the

terms of the transaction bargained Yor.

3 These conclusions are further buttressed by the discussion contained in section 11.B.3.e. of the Bench Trial
Opinion, including the Court’'s analysis of section 2.8h& SSAs as providing reversionary rights in the Lease
Bonds to CMC. Further, as the Court noted in section 11.B.3.e., “[h]ad the parties intended to memorialize an
agreement that the SSAs wdwdffect a novation rather than an assignment, it would not have been difficult to do
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Further, as noted by the Court on the rdoof these proceedings, Feb. 15, 2011 Tr. at
10, even if the Court accepted Bank One’s argument and found that execution of each SSA
effected a novation, it is apparent that saamovation would convey rights only to the relevant
Guardian Entity party to each transaction. eT®ourt rejects Bank One’s theory whereby the
execution of the SSA, and the subsequent assiginoferights by a Guardian Entity to Bank
One, could be collapsed into a single “novati@nd thus that Bank One would secure obligee
rights immediately upon execution of the SSA¥/hile Safeco (1) was aware that its Lease
Bonds were assignable; (2) may have been awfatee identity of Bank One as the ultimate
assignee; and (3) received notice upon the Gaarntities’ assignment of rights to Bank One,
Safeco was not party to any document in WwHBank One was designated as obligee or as the
holder of_anyrights in the Lease Bondainsactions. To permit Bar@®ne to argue that it was
substituted as a new creditor $&feco by virtue of the exeaon of the SSA (a document to
which Bank One was not party) would defygic and impermissibly conflate the intended
separate stages of these transactions.

For these reasons, the Court rejects Banie’s novation argument and adheres to the
findings set forth in section I1.B.e. of the Bench Trial Opinion.

6. As a Matter of Law, Bank One Fails to Demonstrate Fraud on the
Part of Safeco.

As an alternative basis for its reformatiolaim, Bank One argues that reformation is
justified based on false representations madg8digco and/or its agex) which would support a
claim of fraud. The bulk of the misrepresentatiogi®ed upon are allegetd be attributable to
surety broker Michael Anthony. In section Ill.B.2.c. of this Opinion, the Court assumed for

purposes of its analysis (withodéeciding) that Anthony was authoed to speak on behalf of

so0. .. ." Bench Trial Opinion, Doc. 2459, at 109.
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Safeco for purposes of communicating withgmaital investors in the Lease Bond program.

Bank One claims that the alleged misrepnéstgons include representations by Safeco

and/or its agents that Safeco intended to waive fraud in all instances, including fraud by CMC in

the inducement to enter intoeth_ease Bonds. Bank One relien part on representations

allegedly made by Michael Anthony to Neil Gurney, previously discussed in sections IlI.B.2.c.

and I11.B.2.d. of this Opinion.

In support of its assertion that Safeco kribat it was making friadulent representations

as to the effect of the fraud wars contained in the Lease BonBank One also cites to the trial

testimony of James Schrader. Mr. Schrader testified:

Q.

> 0 » © » O »

Okay. And your understanding was, given that structure,
that Safeco was to have awahbile as a defense to any bond
claim the defense of fraud [in] the inducement by CMC?
Fraud and the induce—fraud—

Yeah—

--yeah,asa—

Defense—

--defense to Safeco?

Yes.

Yes.

K%k

Right. And part of the tent of setting up CMC as the
obligee was so Safeco wouldveaavailable as a defense to
any bond claim the defense of the fraud of CMC?

Well, that—we never dreamed that CMC was going to
defraud us and | guess thdidn't enter ino our thought
process as to when we setit that way. | mean, that is—
that is a defense to a surety.
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*k%k

Q. All right. So even thouglgbviously, it wasn'tyour intent
to enter into a—a transaction with a party that—that you
thought would be fraudulenyou did understand that by
naming CMC as the obligee in the bond, that Safeco would
have that defense of CM€fraud available to it?

A. Yeah. | guess you can say we always—I’'m aware of that
on any bond, correct.

Q. And you knew it at the time thgbu authorized Safeco to
participate in the prograsmder this form of bond?

A. Yeah. | guess that's past our knowledge bank. I'm not

going to say that that was npaof our thought process in
putting this program together.

*k%k

Q. I’'m asking you if, based on your knowledge of how the
Safeco bond would operate with CMC as the named
obligee, whether you would considit to be not truthful
and fair for Michael Anthony to market your bonds to
investors of the CMC program with representations or
statements to the effect thhe bond waives all defenses of
fraud, including fraud of CMC?

A. That would not be correct for him to do that.

Q. And the same would be true if CMC were marketing the
bond in that respect?

A. Correct.

Q. And the same would be true if any Safeco employees were
marketing the bond with tho$gpes of representations?

A. Correct.
Tr., at 267:16-268:1; 268:182; 269:8-19; 270:3-16.
Bank One asserts, generally, that the represdions made to Bank One and the Guardian

Entities by Safeco and/or its representativessticularly Michael Athony—demonstrate either
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actual fraud by Safeco, or constructive frauiither of these would entitle Bank One to
reformation of the Lease Bonds under California I8ee, e.g.Cal. Civ. Code 8§ 3399 (“[w]hen,
through fraud . . . a written contradbes not truly expredbe intention of theparties, it may be
revised, on the application of arpaaggrieved . . . .”); Cal. @ Code 8§ 1571 (“[fjraud is either
actual or constructive.”)Bank One further argues that, givitte equitable nature of reformation
as a remedy, the Court has disaetio order reformation to premt a miscarriage of justice.
See, e.g., Jones v. First American Title Ins, €07 Cal. App. 4th 381, 388 (2d Dist. 2003). The
Court examines Bank One’s allegationdoth actual and constructive fraud herein.

In order to demonstrate actual fraud 8gfeco, Bank One must demonstrate “(1) a
misrepresentation (false repeasation, concealment, or nondissilioe); (2) knowledge of falsity
(or scienter); (3) intent to defraud, i.e., to induce reliance; (4) justifiable reliance; and
(5) resulting damageBaggett v. Hewlett-Packard C®82 F. Supp. 2d 1261, 1267 (C.D. Cal.
2007)(internal quotations omitted). Under this statideoncealment of a fact also is actionable
where a defendant had a duty to discloSee id. A duty to disclose“arises in four
circumstances: (1) when the defendant is irdadiary relationship with the plaintiff; (2) when
the defendant had exclusive knowledge of matéaizts not known to the aintiff; (3) when the
defendant actively conceals a material fact fthm plaintiff, and (4) when the defendant makes
partial representations but alsoppresses some material fadtl” at 1267-68. Bank One also
relies onBarrett v. Bank of Amerigal83 Cal. App. 3d 1362, 1370 (4th Dist. 1986) for the
proposition that a principal may be liable foadd “where he interdnally misinforms or
withholds information from thagent and the agent thereuponacently misrepresents. . .Id.

Under California law, a showing of consttive fraud occurs “[ijn any breach of duty

which, without an actually fraudulent intent, gaarsadvantage to the person in fault, or anyone
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claiming under him by misleading another to higjpdice . . . .” CalCiv. Code § 1573. “As a
general principle constructive fraud comprises/ act, omission or concealment involving a
breach of legal or equitable duty, trust or coafide which results in damage to another even
though the conduct is not otwase fraudulent. . . /Assilzadeh v. California Federal Ban&2
Cal. App. 4th 399, 415 (2d Dist. 2000)(citation ondjte “Constructive fraud . . . is presumed
from the relation of the partige a transaction, or the circurastes under which it takes place.

. Constructive fraud often exists where theigartb a contract have a special confidential or
fiduciary relation . . . ."Mary Pickford Co. v. Bayly Bros., Incl2 Cal. 2d 501, 525 (1939).
“Most acts by an agent in breach of his fidugiauties constitute anstructive fraud. . . .”
Assilizadeh82 Cal. App. 4th at 415.

A true fiduciary relationship is not requiréal support allegationsf constructive fraud;
rather a “confidential relationship” sutgs as an element of this claiBee General American
Life Ins. Co. v. Ranar69 F. Supp. 1121, 1127 M Cal. 1991). An agency relationship is a
fiduciary or confidential relationship suffent to support a constructive fraud clai®ee
Mendoza v. Continental Sales Cb40 Cal. App. 4th 1395, 1405 (5th Dist. 2006).

With respect to Bank One’s “actual frauaiigument, the Court finds that Bank One has
alleged no conduct by Safeco and/or its agerds would satisfy the elements of fraud under
California law. Initially, thetestimony introduced by Bank Oneirsufficient to establish that
Safeco made any misrepresentations to Bank Onm&new any material facts that it failed to
disclose to Bank One. By introducingetttestimony of James Schrader, Bank One has
established, at best, that (1) Michrader knew, generally, the lapplicable to fraud waivers as
applied to the obligee of a surety bond; andM2) Schrader did not think about or reflect upon

these general legal principlestime context of the CMC LeaseBd transactions. Mr. Schrader
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was not the Safeco employee mdsectly involved in the ned@tion of the Lease Bonds, and
Bank One has introduced no testimony as to amyersation between Mr. Schrader and either
Mr. Martin®® or Michael Anthony as to the ldgaeaning of the fraud waivers.

Further, leaving aside Bank One’s failurepobof as to any alleged knowledge of Safeco,
Bank One has not alleged thamty representation made Bnthony on behalf of CMC was
actually false. As described gection I11.B.2.c. othis Opinion, Bank One has alleged only that
Anthony made numerous broad, general statemmetdsing to the apptability of the fraud
waivers. There has been no testimony in theseegadings to the effect that Anthony actually
stated that the Lease Bonds waived all de#s based upon fraud in the inducement by CMC

Even in the event that Anthony had madg auch representations—and had made them
as part of an attempt by Safdcomislead Bank One—the Courttioer finds, as a matter of law,
that Bank One cannot demonstrate justifiable mekaon any such statenten As set forth in
sections Ill.B.2.c. and 111.B.2.d. dhis Opinion, the negotiatddnguage of the Lease Bonds was
equally accessible to all parties, and all parties had access to counsel to assist them in
interpreting the language. In transactions saghhese, involving a high degree of complexity
and sophistication, it is unreastefor Bank One to assert thatelied on its adversary’s agent

to interpret the tersof the Lease Bonds, and then togaldraud based on its claim that that

% In this regard, Ken Martin testified as follows:

Q. When you declined to write the bonds initially to Guardian, did you and
Mr. Schrader had any—have any discussion that this would have let us
come up with some defense if we'ever, you know, not writing it—let
me rephrase the question.
Did you and Mr. Schrader discuss that writing the bond initially to
CMC knowing they're going to assign it to Guardian would somehow
give you a defense if Guardian ever asked for payment on the bond?

A. | do not recall that kind of conversation at all.

Martin Depo., at 273:3-15.
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interpretation subseqn#y proved incorrect®

Bank One apparently recognizes that it camesiablish the elements of actual fraud,
Bank One in fact makes the “actual fraudfgument only in passing. Throughout these
proceedings, Bank One has focused on its argument that Safeco’s conduct amounts to
constructive fraud, which justifiereformation of the Lease Bonds to name a Guardian Entity
and/or Bank One as obligee. In essencenkB®ne argues that Safeco had a fiduciary or
confidential relationship with Gudian and Bank One by virtue of its status as closing agent and
servicer under the SSAs. Since the SSAs desigrsadeco to act as “agent” of the Guardian
Entities and Bank One, Bank One reasons, Safeco assumed special duties to its principals,
including the duty to disclose teaial facts. Bank One then leaps from this premise to the
conclusion that Safeco’s later-assumed statugosing agent retrospectively imposed fiduciary
duties on Safeco as to any representations rbgdgafeco or its agenturing the course of
negotiations of the éase Bond transactions.

The Court categorically rejects Bank Onetgitention that Safeco assumed any fiduciary
duty to it or to the Guardian HEtes relative to the negotiatiarf the Lease Bonds. Rather, the
Court finds that these parties were adversarig@ved in complex negotiations leading up to an
arm’s-length business transaction. While it is gpdied that Safecodlihave fiduciary duties
toward Bank One and the Guardian Entities & tlontext of its dutieat closing, there is no

allegation that these duties meebreached in any manner.

% To the extent that Bank One attempts to argue Saéco committed actual fraud through nondisclosure of a
material fact, such an argument fails as well. As séh farthe case law cited by Bank One, a claim for fraudulent
nondisclosure requires a plaintiff tiemonstrate either (1) a fiduciary @ui2) the defendant’s knowledge of
information not otherwise known to plaintiff; or (3) other specific circumstances giving rise to aodiiclbse.

See, e.g., Baggeth82 F. Supp. 2d at 1267. As described in detail in this section, (1) Bank One cannotyshow an
fiduciary or confidential relationship betweenf&a and either the Guardian Entities or Bank One; and
(2) knowledge of the legal meaning the terms of the negotiated trans@t documents was equally accessible to
both parties and their counsel.
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As the Court observed on the record durirggitlg arguments of these proceedings, Bank
One has not alleged any malfeasance by Safeatoctiuld constitute areach of its fiduciary
duties in connection with theading of these transactions:

THE COURT: All right. What ist that you're saying that Safeco

did at the closing that was a breawfhduty? Did they not deliver

the bonds completely asethhwere originally drafted? Did they not

deliver all the comfort letters? Did they not deliver—I mean, you

know, again, even ifagree with the other arguments, I'm having a

hard time with this notion of constructive fraud.

So you have to have the fidugiaobligation in order to get

there, and yet, other than sayinghgerlly that they had a fiduciary

obligation and therefore they should have somehow disclosed if

the documents said something other than what the parties all knew

they said going in, and that's [where] I'm having a hard time.
Closing Argument Tr., at 12-13. Ake Court further noted on thecord, the Courdeclined to
accept Bank One’s argument that Safeco’s st@suslosing agent “creates a fiduciary duty that
somehow you can sweep into it eyeepresentation that was madehe past or any explanation
as to what the contracts say with respect to wbatirred in the past. .”. Closing Argument Tr.,
at 16-17. In fact, such a retrospective applwatf Safeco’s fiduciary duties at closing defies
logic, and Bank One has provided no authority to support snolie interpretation.

Accordingly, even assuming that Bank Oemuld demonstrate th&afeco knew facts
that it failed to disclose during the negtiba of the Lease Bond transactions, Bank One’s
constructive fraud argument still would fagjnce Bank One simply cannot establish any
fiduciary or confidential relationship betweenf&a and the Guardian Entities and/or Bank One
during the negotiation phase of these transactitdmeover, as previouslstated, in light of the
plain language of the transaction documents, tiseme basis for inferring justifiable reliance on

the part of Bank One.

The Court finds, as a matter of law, tiB#nk One cannot demonstrate any fraud on the

122



part of Safeco such as would support refation of the Lease Bond documents. The Court
declines, accordingly, to order refornmatiof the Lease Bonds on this basis.

7. Safeco’s Fraud Defenses Are Not Barred by the Doctrine of Judicial
Estoppel.

Bank One’s final argument is that Safeco sbdag judicially estoppkfrom asserting its
defenses of fraud in the inducement in thpseceedings, based upon prior judicial filings by
Safeco, which allegedly acknowledge the intentfgihcipal” status ofCMC, and/or CMC'’s
status as an indemnitor on the Lease Bonds. Bargkbases its arguments on (1) Safeco’s filing
of the California Action againsCMC and its principals badeupon the GAls, Bank One Exh.
74; (2) the Sawyer Declaratidited in the California ActionBank One Exh. 75; (3) Safeco’s
securing of injunctive reliedigainst CMC based upon the Compian the California Action and
the Sawyer Declaration in that action; (4) $afe filing of a Proof of Claim on November 12,
2002 in the CMC/CSC bankruptcy proceedings, basqzhrt on the obligations undertaken in
the GAls, Bank One Exh. 109; and (5) Safecaibsequent acceptance of a distribution in the
bankruptcy proceedings on accoohits Proof of Claim.

“The judicial estoppel doctringrotects the integrity of thedicial process by preventing
a party from taking a position inconsistent withe successfully and up@vocally asserted by
the same party in a prior proceeding. .Réynolds v. Commission&61 F.2d 469, 472 (6th Cir.
1988). “The purpose of the doctrine is to protihet courts ‘from the perversion of judicial
machinery.” Id., quoting Edwards v. Aetna Life Ins. C690 F.2d 595, 599 (6th Cir. 1982).
“The essential function of judicial estoppel is to prevent intentional inconsistency . . . .”
Edwards,690 F.2d at 599. “Judicial estoppel addredte incongruity of allowing a party to
assert a position in one tribunahd the opposite in anotherbnal. If the second tribunal

adopted the party's inconsistent position, thdeagst one court hasgivably been misledd.
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The crux of Bank One’s argument here is tBateco, having previously filed documents
in which it attested to CMC’s status asfé&®’s bond principal and indemnitor, should be
estopped in these proceedings frasserting that CMC was iadt a bond obligee. Upon review
of the documents relied on by Bank One, anefcrconsideration of Bank One’s arguments,
the Court rejects Bank One’s contention that Sastmuld be judiciallyestopped from asserting
its defense of fraud in the inducement.

The Court has conducted a detailed revieivboth the Complaint and the Sawyer
Declaration filed in the Califma Action. The Complaint, whil& indisputably seeks relief
premised upon the indemnity agreements exechye@€MC, its principalsand their spouses,
makes no specific reference to CMC as “prinCijpal the Lease Bonds. In fact, the Complaint

alleges: “SAFECO, as surety, issued lease bond®n behalf of CMC’s lgsees, as principals,

and in favor of CMC, as oblig€eBank One Exh. 74, at | 21 (emphasis added). The Sawyer
Declaration does contain a reference toChlk “SAFECO’s bond principal’. Bank One Exh.
75, at 1 1. Like the Complainhowever, the Sawyer Decla@at undisputedly focuses on
CMC's alleged indemnity obligatis, and not on CMC’s status pencipal or obligee in the
Lease Bond transactiofs.

This Court is aware of the district caisr decision in theCalifornia Action, which
awarded injunctive relief in favor of Ssfo based upon the Complaint and the Sawyer
Declaration. There is not the slightest indicatio any of the evidence proffered, however, that
the California district court was asked to make a determination that CMC was a “principal” on

the Lease Bonds. The language of the Comiplan fact, suggests that Safeco did seek any

37 Moreover, Mr. Sawyer testified atid that his prior testimony as to the “principal” status of CMC was based
upon his own error in understanding the transactional strucBeeGuardian/CadleRock & Tr., at 533-34.
“[JJudicial estoppel is inapppriate in cases of conduct amounting to najhimore than mistake or inadvertence.
... White v. Wyndham Vacation Ownership, Ji86d.7 F.3d 472, 476 (6th Cir. 2010).
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relief based upon the allegedifipal” status of CMC.

Bank One does not seriously claim that theridistourt’s award ofnjunctive relief in
the California Action was premised upon dimyding—or even any assertion by Safeco—of
CMC'’s “principal” status on the Lease Bonds.nB&@ne contends, rather, that Safeco should be
barred from denying that CMC undertook indemnayligations in favor of Safeco, which
encompassed the obligations guaranteed by Safeco in the Lease Bonds.

Bank One’s assertion that juthl estoppel bars Safecai denying that CMC was an
indemnitor on the Lease Bonds has some force.prAsgiously noted in section IlI.B.4. of this
Opinion, Safeco’s denial that CMC assumed siaclemnity obligations is difficult to accept.
Ultimately, however, even if the Court were fitod Safeco judicially estopped from denying
CMC's status as an indemnitor, that detestion does not affect ¢hCourt’s conclusions.

As explained in section 1l.B.4. of this Opom (as well as in sections 11.B.3.b. and
[1.C.3.b. of the Bench Trial Opinion), “evidencd indemnity obligations running from CMC
(and/or its principals) to Safeco, while relevant circumstantial evidence of Safeco’s intent, does
not compel a finding of original digee status on the part ofetGuardian Entities and/or Bank
One.” Seesection I11.B.4.,supra For the reasons set forth irathsection, the Court finds that
Safeco’s prior representations in the Californidiéit as to alleged indemnity obligations on the
part of CMC also provide no basis for a findingttBank One and/or the Guardian Entities were
intended original obligees.

With respect to the Proof of Claimiled by Safeco in the CMC/CSC bankruptcy
proceedings, a similar analysis épegp. Initially, Safecadoes not dispute that its Proof of Claim
was based, at least in part, on alleged obligatiandertaken by CMC in the GAls. Safeco’s

Proof of Claim also references, however, “treuftulent activities of CK2 in creating a ‘[Plonzi
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scheme’. . . .” Bank One Exh. 109. While thenkruptcy court’'s award to Safeco premised
upon its Proof of Claim is undisputed, Bank O proffered no evider as to the basfer the
court’'s awardj.e., whether the distribution to Safeeas based upon its claims of indemnity,
fraud, or some other grounds. In this mudgntext, the bankruptcgourt’s award cannot
support any invocation of the judiciastoppel doctrine against Safeco.

In any event, as notedbove, even if Safeco weredjaially estopped from denying
CMC'’s status as an indemnitor on the Leasmd®, the Court has already found in section
[11.B.4. of this Opinion, and in this section, thgtch a finding is an insufficient basis upon which
to confer obligee status upon Bank One. Accuglyi, for the reasons set forth herein, the Court
rejects Bank One’s assertion that any applicatibthe judicial estoppel doctrine bars Safeco
from asserting its defenses basg@on fraud in the inducement by CMC.

C. Summary and Impact of this Court’s Ruling

In its prior Bench Trial Opiion, this Court reached conslons identical to those set
forth in this Opinion: that (1) CMC was tlwetended original obligeen the Lease Bonds; and
(2) neither the Guardian Entities, nor any ingestank subsequently succeeding to the rights of
any Guardian Entity, have origihobligee status. Bank Onim these proceedings, bore the
heavy burden of persuading the Court, by clead convincing evidence, that the parties’
transactional intent in the Bank One transactidiffered from those transactions considered in
the Bench Trial Opinion. While the volume efidence proffered by Bank One far exceeds that
considered in the prior bench trial proceedir§@nk One’s actual proof of transactional intent
still falls short of its burden.

As explained throughout this @yon, the vast majority ofhe evidence and testimony

proffered by Bank One either is duplicative efidence considered by the Court in the prior
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proceedings, or is irrelevant to the questions pteseat this stage of the case. As the Court has
explained throughout its prior opinions and in t@ipinion, the sole issue presented in these

proceedings was the identity thfe_ intended original obligemn the Safeco Lease Bonds.

Bank One has introduced a great deal ofrtesty pertaining to (1) Safeco’s obligation
to underwrite the CMC lessees; (2) the “uniqueeiture of the LeasBond transactions, and
Safeco’s unfamiliarity with this type of structu¥e(3) Safeco’s lack of the expertise required to
service the leases; and (4) thegegved inconsistency of Safésd'claims process” with the
guarantees that Bank One believieldad received. While at least some of this evidence may be
relevant at later stages of these proceedingstiepkarly with respect to issues of reliance in
connection with Safeco’s fraud fé@ses—it is no more than tamgially relevant in analyzing
the issues presented here.

Based upon the evidence and testimony presented in these proceedings, the Court is
persuaded that the parties’ intent in the B&nke transactions was to create a transactional
structure involving (1) Lease Bonds designating Cd4Che original obligee; and (2) a series of
subsequent assignments, through which CMC assigednterests to the respective Guardian
Entities, and the Guardian Entities later asgigtse interests to Bank One. While Bank One
has argued that the purpolse naming CMC as obligee was gnio permit Saéco to avoid
violating the Appleton Rule, the Court finds ttransactional form itself far more significant
than the parties’ reasdar selecting that form.

That the parties may not have intended Cctually to make a claim on the Lease

3 While Bank One proffered a great deal of testimony perigito the “unique” nature dhe transaction structure,
as noted earlier, it is clear that virlyaeverything about these transactiomas unique. Although Safeco issued
Lease Bonds to guarantee the obligations of the lessees todliNd@rties understood that it did so in the context of
a lease pooling program, in wh investors would subsequently succeed ¢orifphts of CMC. All parties here also
acknowledged that there was Imiog “usual” about these transactionsgd arone of these parties had ever entered
into transactions of this type. In these undisputedly waiusrcumstances, testimonytaswhat “usually” occurs in
the issuance of simple lease bonds, or in connectitmsecuritizations, is onlgnarginally helpful.
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Bonds has no impact on the Court’s conclusions. Even if it is true that CMC’s position as
original obligee was not particulgrmeaningful, that circumstan@®es not change the fact that
the parties did place CMC in that position in the first instance. While Bank One has suggested
that it and/or the Guardian Etéis were misled by Safeco intocapting a transaction that they
did not understand, the plain faist that the investors in thedransactions kme that other,
alternative transaction structuréscluding insurance policies and/or letters of credit) were
available. Again, all parties had access to counsel to assist in evaluating the benefits and
drawbacks of each potential structure. Regardie#ise transaction structure selected, all parties
were entitled to assume that their rightsd aobligations would flow from their chosen
transactional form.

While the Court has found in this OpiniorathCMC has original obligee status in the
Bank One transactions—and that the GuardiartiEstand/or Bank One merely succeeded to the
rights of CMC—these findings do not resolve ttlaims between these parties, nor do they
preclude Bank One from pursuing its claims agafafeco for recovery on the Lease Bonds. As
the Court made clear in the Bench Trial Opinitihrg Court’s findings as to the “obligee issue,”
while significant, do not provid&afeco with broad-based defenses to its obligations under the
Lease Bonds.

The Court recognized previously, in the Lead Opinion (Doc. 1708), the extraordinarily
broad nature of the fraud waiver provisions. eT®ourt consistently hastated that those fraud

waivers operate to bar ditaud defenses by Safeco exc#mbse premised upon fraud in the

inducement by CM@s Safeco’s oblige&ee, e.gBench Trial Opinion, Doc. 2459, at 177. As
stated in the Bench Trial Opinion, the Court’s findings on the obligee issue mean only that, “to

the extent [Safeco has] a colorable defensenag@MC, that defense also may be asserted

128



against the Guardian Entitiesdatheir subsequent assignees..”. Bench Trial Opinion, Doc.
2459, at 178. The Court further reiterates its piiading that “only instances of demonstrated
fraud will support [Safeco’s] fraud in the inckment defense, and that proof of mere
mismanagement and operational incompetelmgeCMC cannot suffice. . . .” Bench Trial
Opinion, Doc. 2459, at 179.

The Court emphasizes that the narrow defense available to Safeco in this matter is limited
to conduct (1) constituting fraud dhe part of CMC, rather thaa lessee or some other party;
and (2) by CMC in its capacitgs obligee, and as part of tmelucement to Safeco to enter into
the Lease Bond transactions, rather than in i@y as servicer or subservicer of the lease
pools. As explained throughoutgtOpinion, the Court views CME&'role as servicer—which it
assumed following the execution of the SSAs—agndisfrom CMC'’s initial role as obligee.
As such, fraud by CMC in its servicer capacityeafSafeco already had issued its Lease Bonds
and CMC had assigned its obligee rights, wouldaowistitute fraud in the inducement, and thus
would not provide a defense to Safeco on Bank One’s claims.

The validity of Safeco’s fraud defensdmywever, is a matter for jury determination,
which must occur througa trial on the merits. As the Cauroted in the Bench Trial Opinion,
to prevail on its fraud defenses, Safeco willrbgquired to demonstrate all of the elements of
fraud under California law, including éhelement of jusfiable reliance.SeeBench Trial
Opinion, Doc. 2459, at 178-8%ee, e.g., South Tahoe Gas Co. v. Hofmann Land Impro\2%o.
Cal. App. 3d 750, 765 (1st Dist. 1972).

In reaching its conclusions hérethe Court has considerecetientirety of the evidence
and testimony proffered by the parties. To theeixthat the Court hasot addressed any issue

raised in these proceedings, swrhission results from the Couwstfinding that the parties have
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presented no new arguments or evice with respect to that issu€o the extent applicable, and
where not otherwise discussed, the Court incatesrby reference the findings and conclusions

set forth in the Bench Trial Opinion.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, the Coumtidithat Bank One has failed to satisfy its
burden of demonstrating, by clear and convina@nglence, that the Guardian Entities (and/or
Bank One) were intended to be the obligeeshenSafeco Lease Bonds. The Court determines,
rather, that CMC was the intended original obligeed that the Guardian Entities (and later,
Bank One) succeeded to the rights of CMC bifuei of various assignment transactions.

Accordingly, Bank One is not entitled to reformation of the Lease Bonds.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

s/ Kathleen M. O’'Malley

KATHLEEN McDONALD O’MALLEY
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Dated: August 16,2011
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